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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filg

d

Nov 02 2021 09:%8 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brov
Clerk of Supreme

MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, CASE NO.: 83165
Appellant,
Vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent,

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICAL DISTRICT COURT IN AND
FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE, THE HONORABLE KIMBERLY WANKER,
PRESIDING

APPELLANT’S APPENDIX ON APPEAL

VOLUME 1
David H. Neely III, Esq. Aaron Ford, Esq.
NV. Bar No. 3891 Nevada Attorney General
3520 E. Tropicana Ave., Suite D-1 100 North Carson Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89121 Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717

Attorney for Appellant
Chris Arabia, Esq.
Nye County District Attorney
P.O. Box 39
Pahrump, Nevada 89041
Attorneys for Respondent

Docket 83165 Document 2021-3156

n
Court
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Appellant, MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, by and through his attorney of
record, David H. Neely II1, Esq., hereby files the following as his Appendix on
Appeal Volume One, containing the documents deemed pertinent to the issues on
appeal.

Appellant reserves the right to file supplemental appendixes as required in
Opening, Answering or Reply Briefs.

I hereby certify that I have read this Appendix on Appeal Volume One and
to the best of my knowledge, information,}and belief, it is not frivolous or
interposed for any improper purpose such as to harass or to cause unnecessary
delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation. I further certify that this
Appendix complies with all applicable Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, in
particular NRAP 28(e), which requires every assertion in the Brief regarding
matters in the record be supported by a reference to the page and volume number
of this appendix where the matter is relied on is to be found. I understand that I
may be subject to sanctions in the event that the accompanying Brief is not in
conformity with the requirements of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure.

VERIFICATION
1. I hereby certify that this Appellant’s Appendix on Appeal Volume

One complies with the formatting requirements of NRAP 32(a)(6) because:
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This Appellant’s Appendix on Appeal Volume One has been prepared in a
proportionally spaced typeface using Microsoft Word 2016 in Times New Roman
14.

2. I further certify that the Appendix on Appeal Volume One complies

with the page limitation of NRAP 32(a)(7).

D)
SUBMITTED thisc?"*day of November, 2021,

G - v
DAVID H. NEELY III O\
NV. Bar No. 003891
3520 E. Tropicana Ave., Suite D-1

Las Vegas, Nevada 89121
Attorney for Appellant
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INDEX TO APPENDIX ON APPEAL VOLUME ONE
DATE DESCRIPTION PAGE
04/15/2013 Criminal Complaint 0001
04/15/2013 Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment in the 0005
Courtroom

04/25/2013 Affidavit and Application for Appointment of Counsel 0006

04/30/2013 Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment inthe 0008

Courtroom
05/08/2013 Preliminary Hearing Transcript 0009
05/08/2013 Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment inthe 0132

Courtroom
05/13/2013 Bindover Order 0133
5/16/2013 Information 0135
05/17/20130 Arraignment Hearing Transcript 0140
05/22/2013 Order for Secondary Setting of Jury Trial 0166
09/20/2013 Motion for O/R Releasing Hearing Transcript 0169
10/18/2013 Motion for Psych Hearing Transcript 0182
10/23/2013 Motions Hearing Transcript 0188
11/26/2013 Amended Information 0238
12/03/2013 Guilty Plea Agreement 0241

ALPHABETICAL INDEX TO APPENDIX ON APPEAL VOLUME ONE
DATE DESCRIPTION PAGE
04/25/2013 Affidavit and Application for Appointment of Counsel 0006

11/26/2013 Amended Information 0238
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DATE
05/17/20130
05/13/2013
04/15/2013
12/03/2013
5/16/2013
04/15/2013

04/30/2013

05/08/2013

09/20/2013
10/18/2013
10/23/2013
05/22/2013

05/08/2013

DESCRIPTION

Arraignment Hearing Transcript

Bindover Order

Criminal Complaint

Guilty Plea Agreement

Information

Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment in the
Courtroom

Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment in the

Courtroom

Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment in the
Courtroom

Motion for O/R Releasing Hearing Transcript
Motion for Psych Hearing Transcript
Motions Hearing Transcript

Order for Secondary Setting of Jury Trial

Preliminary Hearing Transcript

PAGE

0140
0133
0001
0241
0135
0005

0008

0132

0169
0182
0188
0166

0009
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an agent or employee of the above

attorney, and that on the &Y"‘ day of November, 2021, I served the above and

foregoing APPELLANT’S INDEX TO APPENDIX ON APPEAL VOLUME

ONE by depositing a copy in the United States mails, postage prepaid, addressed

to the f or parties at their last known addresses as indicated below:

Chris Arabia, Esq.

Nye County District Attorney
P. O. Box 39

Pahrump, NV 89041

Aaron Ford, Esq.

Nevada Attorney General

100 North Carson Street

Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717
Attorneys for Respondents

agent or employee of
DAVID H. NEELY, III, ESQ.

~N
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. ‘HHUHP U 1 ICE COURT

Case No. L5/ 5{:5 7 ' BY__ A MALONE
? n ;
Department A ‘gﬂéff 15 PH 3: 2]

LEA Gase No(g). 13NY-1005 RECEIVED & FILED

IN THE JUSTICE COURT OF PAHRUMP TOWNSHIP
GCOUNTY OF NYE, STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

V. CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

MICHAEL ALLEN MACK,
GEORGE QUIROGA and
ARTHUR ALBERT GATZKE,

Dgfendants. f

The undersigned, BRIAN T. KUNZI, District Attorney, County of Nye, State of

Nevada, by and through his deputy_'. Ross E. Armstrong, cumpi'ains and charges the

named defendants, MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, GEORGE QUIROGA, and

ARTHUR ALBERT GATZKE, with having committed the following offenses within

said County of Nye, State of Nevada:

COUNT |

SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A CATEGORY 'A'’
FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit: That ON OR
ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 8, 2013,
in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant
MICHAEL ALLEN MACK did willfully and unlawfully subject another
person, to wit: NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, to sexual
penetration, against the victim's will, or under conditions in which said
Defendant knew or should have known that the victim was mentally or
physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of her
conduct, by penetrating the victim's vagina;,

Docket 83165 Document 2021%%&0
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COUNT |

SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A CATEGORY "A'
FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit: That ON OR
ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 9, 2013,
in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant
MICHAEL ALLEN MACK did willfully and unlawfully subject another
person, to wit: NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY?”, to sexual
penetration, against the victim's will, or under conditions in which said
Defendant knew or should have known that the victim was mentally or

physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of her
conduct, by having the victim peiform fellatio;

COUNT il

PREVENTING OR DISSUADING VICTIM FROM REPORTING
CRIME, COMMENCING PROSECUTION OR CAUSING ARREST, in
violation of NRS 199.305, A CATEGORY 'D' FELONY, committed in
the following manner, to wit: That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN
SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township,
Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant MICHAEL ALLEN MACK did
willfully and unlawfully intimidate or threaten another person, prevent
or dissuade a victim of a crime or a person acting on behalf of a victim
or witness from reporting a crime or possible crime to a peace officer,
prosecuting attomey or from commencing a criminal prosecution or
from causing the arrest of a person in connection with a crime or
hindered or delayed any such victim, agent of witness in his effort to
carry out any of those actions, by threatening NCSO pseudonym
«“«COURTNEY” with negative action if she We

committed against her;

COUNT IV

UNLAWEUL CONTACT WITH PERSON WITH MENTAL ILLNESS,
in violation of NRS 207.260, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR, committed
in the following manner, to wit: That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN
SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 8, 2013, in Pahrump Township,
Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant MICHAEL ALLEN MACK did
willfully and unlawfully have contact with a person uyith mental illness,
to wit: NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, by physically and  sexually
abusing her and thus engaging in a course of conduct which would
calise a reasonable person with mental iliness of like men_ta': state to
fggl_ terrorized, frightened, intimidated, or pgi:_a%etd,dandhdal?a gzte;?
said person n(»éﬁfﬁnzed, frightened, intimidated or ¥ :

L
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COUNTV

ABUSE OF VULNERABLE PERSON, in violation of NRS 200.5099,
A GROSS MISDEMEANOR, committed in the following manner, to
wit: That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012
AND APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada,
said Defendant MICHAEL ALLLEN MACK, did willfully, maliciously and
intentionally strike NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, a vulnerable
person, wih 3 bal; s

COUNT VI

SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A CATEGORY "A’
FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit: That ON OR
ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 8, 2013,
in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant
GEORGE QUIROGA did willfully and untawfully subject another
person, to wit: NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, to sexual
penetration, against the victim's will, or under conditions in which said
Defendant knew or should have known that the victim was mentally or
physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of his
conduct, by penetrating her vagina with his penis and/or fingers;

COUNT Vi

UNLAWFUL CONTACT WITH PERSON WITH MENTAL ILLNESS,
in violation of NRS 207,260, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR, committed

in the following manner, to wit: That ON -OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN
SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township,
Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant GEORGE QUIROGA did
willfully and unlawfully have contact with a person with mental illness,
to wit; NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, by physically and sexually
abusing her and thus engaging in a course of conduct which would
cause a reasonable person with mental iliness of like mental siate to
feel terrarized, frightened, intimidated, or harassed, and did cause
said person to feel terrorized, frightened, intimidated or harassed;

COUNT VIll

ABUSE OF VULNERABLE PERSON, in violation of NRS 200.5099,
A GROSS MISDEMEANOR, committed in the following manner, to
wit: That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012
AND APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada,
said Defendant GEORGE QUIROGA did willfully, maliciously and
intentionally strike NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY", a vulnerable
person, with a belt;

0003
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COUNT IX

SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A CATEGORY 'A’
FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit. That ON OR
ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 9, 2013,
in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant

ARTHUR ALBERT GATZKE did willfully and unlawfully subject
another person, to wit: NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY", to sexual
penetration, against the victim's will, or under conditions in which said
Defendant knew or should have known that the victim was mentally or
physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of her
conduct, by penetrating her vagina with his penis; :

COUNT X

SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A CATEGORY "A’
FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit: That ON OR
ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 2, 2013,
in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant
ARTHUR ALBERT GATZKE did willfully and unlawfully subject
another person, to wit: NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, to sexual
penetration, against the victim's will, or under conditions in which said
Defendant knew or should have known that the victim was mentally or
physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of her
conduct, by having her perform fellatio on him;

All of which is contrary to the form, force and effect of the statutes in such

cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity ‘of the State of

Nevada. Said complainant makes this declaration under penalty of perjury.

e
DATED this /5 day of April, 2013.

BRIAN T. KUNZI
NYE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTDRNEY

By /%

ROSS E. ARMSTRONG
Deputy District AttSmey

( L SO HEY
Certificd copy
Certiting copy of (ke origingl -
dopument{s) on fle in :
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CASE NO.: ML, ' CanmeF_nss
Yo '
pEPT B ___ .
Iﬂ?':lﬁf’ﬁ 15 AM T 5h
IN THE .msrm& COURT OF PAHRUMP TD’NNSHIP RECEIVED & F LED
couuw EJF NYE, STATE OF HE\\"ABA |
THE STATE OF NEVADA, e | i
: ~ Plaintif, © . MEDIA REQUEST ALLOWING
| T Ea e e _E_LEGTRONIGEQ{IIPHENT
G _:: L R G, S m"rHEcouamoou
Mmhaernlack :
ArthurA!bert _'kq{-_
. | Jennznd’anmnq o nf _' K.EVT O B hefehy _
| mmstspamsmntu__wﬂe.ﬁ_ = L meproceedngaanthaahwa-anﬁuad
caaa.mthac::wlrmm Juﬂga P B el R pmslﬁng.oﬂmu 15 dalrbf !
AP"‘ . 20 13 aummwof m &

Ic.u'ﬁl"f thatl am famﬂm‘ wﬂh t!'le Suprema ert Ruhs .‘225-24& {Inclwwe} panamm tﬂ

N camaras and Eluctmnic Media Govamga m tha Courts. | alsa undarstand that this raquem must be

17 |

18

12

20

21

22
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25

submlttnd to the Cnurt at least mnw-four {24) haurs bﬁfore the pmceadmga commanca unlesa good‘ "
cause can be shown. :
ltis furthar undefstoud that any pnnling arrangements nncessstamu amnng th& imedia shall be

the sole rasponsibllity of tha media and ust be arranged pﬂcr to mwaga without calling upon the
Court to mediate any dlspuhaa;
DATED this _ 1T dayof __April 2013

250 Nopha Vista
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Case No: 13CR01437A ’ a

Department B PAHRUMF .iLs1ELE COURT
IN THE JUSTICE COURT OF PAHRUMP TOWNSHIP R
“OUNTY OF NYE, STATE OF NEVADA  8Y—tflancega —
THE STATE OF NEVADA, 2013APR 25 AM T:L3
Plaintiff
vs. KECEIVED & FILED
AFFIDAVIT AND &EPL‘ICATIDE FOR
APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL
MICHAEL A. MACK
Defendant,

MICHAEL A. MACK affirms under penalty uf perjury, deposes and says:

y That he/she Is indigent, charged with a crime in the Justice Court of Pahrump Township, to wit:
SEE ATTACHED HERETO

2. That he/she is without means of employing an atlorney.
B That he/she has no money with which to employ counsel, that he/she has no property, real or

personal, which could be sold or encumbered to provide funds for counsel; that he/she is
unable to borrow funds with which to employ counsel.

WHEREFORE, affiant requests the above-entitled Court to appoint counsel to represent him/her at
the expense of Nye County, State of Nevada.

Address Rbas S mrehsntécrod DL E
City/State/Zip _PAHRUMP, NEVADA
Phong # AT I RSO

&12 ?’ J

. _ &~ FRo—aeJo
Defendant Signature " )2 /4« m“éf

ORDER APPOINTING COUNSEL

The petitioner abdﬁe-named, having filed an application with the Court, requesting the appointment of an
attorney to represent him/her and having filed an affidavit that he/she is without means of employing an
attorney and having indicated the facts concerning his/her financial status and good cause appearing
therefore, ' :

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that THOMAS GIBSON, ESQ.. _ be appointed to represent the Defendant
subject {o the terms and conditions as set forth in “Procedure for Appointment of Attorney for Indigent
Defendant’, which rules are hereby incorporated by reference as if set forth in full, and such other rules and
regulations which the Court, from time to time may promulgate pursuant to NRS 171.188 to determine the
indigent status of the petitioner.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant appear in Court on _M._a.ﬂli.ﬁﬁ L300 Pm
IN DEPARTMENT B for h*_\_n o B LM&J‘L‘_-} Jreans mﬁ-—

DATED this 16th day of April, 2013

Gus 20ilivan, Jusji¢e of the Peace
Acting Magistraté for Pahrump Justice Court

120806
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CASENO: \RC C OV}
DEPT i 5

IN THE JUSTICE COQURT OF PAHRUMP TOWNSHIPL | i |WED & FILED
COUNTY OF NYE, STATE OF NEVADA

KPVT Ch ag

?nim -1388 Page 1

%
PAHRUME alstiCE COURT-

AlC ¢ B

BY F. DENISON

2013 APR 30 AM11: 58

THE STATE OF NEVADA, ; .
Plaintiff, MEDIA REQUEST ALLOWING
V. ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT
George. Quirsne IN THE COURTROOM
M\ ene ) Ml pefendany
Jenny Manning of KPVYT hereby
requests permission to __Video | the proceedings on the above-entitled

case, in the Courfroom, Judge 1—,5 (_‘,;,&,F: 2fSb N presiding, on the 8 i day of
20’3 atthe hourof _1: 3D

| certify that | am familiar with the Supreme Court Rules 229-248 (inclusive) paﬂaimrtg to

M AN

Cameras and Electronic Media Coverage in the Gnurts. | also undarstard that ih:s request must be

submitted to the Court at least twenty-four (24) hours hefore the proceedings commence uniess good

cause can be shown.

Itis further understood that any pooling arrangements necessitated among the media shall be

the sole responsibility of the media and must be arranged prior to coverage without calling upon the

Court to mediate any disputes.

DATED this 32 G __ day of

20 12

e
wf

:'," g ’.ﬂ{‘\" ¥ii %_i{u 1.
Cakaynn i ’*““c 'g
Al Dude, 1

Alﬁf.'/

250 Nopha Vista

_E%mp.mgm
Address/ ne Number

E. e"rg_lz-.l._ﬁ_‘* i.ri,rw
: s o tine mnpma‘u
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CASE Nd. ‘13 CR 01437 FH ED dy.

DEPT NO. B o W3R -1 w9 1

HECEIVED & FILED
1P TOWNSHIP

COUNTY OF NYE, STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff, TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

}
}
}

Vs, | ) PRELIMINARY HEARING

} i L

MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, )
GEORGE QUIRODGA and }
ARTHUR ALBERT GATZKE, )
: CH )
Defendants. }
- )

BEFORE KENT JASPERSON, JUSTICE OF THE PEACE
1520 EAST BASIN AVENUE, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89060
ON WEDNESDAY, MAY 8, 2013

AT Z:10 P.M.

APPEARANCES:
For the State: Ross Armstrong, Esqg.
Nye County Deputy District Attorney
For Defendant Mack: Thomas Gibson, Esq.
Defendant Quiroga: Harry R. Gensler, Esqg.

Defendant Gatzke: Jason L. Earnest, Esg. (Not Present)

Repcrted by: Deborah Ann Hines, CCR #4733, RPR

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA #9041 0009
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WITNESSES FOR THE STATE
TAMYRA ALEXANDER

Direct Examination By Mr. Armstrong

Cross~Examination By Mr. Gibson

Cross~Examination By Mr. Gensler
Redirect Examination By Mr. Armstrong

Recross-Examination By Mr. Gensler

SUSAN KALLAHER

Direct Examination By Mr. Armstrong
Cross-Examination By Mr. Gibson
Croas—Examinaticn By Mr. Gensler
RedirédtlExaminatidn By Mr: Armstrong
Recross—Exémination By Mr. Gensler

Recrgsstxéminétion By Mr. Gibson

PAGE

22
37
52

55

57
65
T2
78
79

81

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691,

RBR (775)727-8775

P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0010
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WITNESSES FOQR THE STATE

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ

Direct Examination By Mr. Armstrong

_ﬁafﬁ'nire Eﬁaminaticn ﬁy ng Gensler

Further Direct Examinatibh By-Mr;-hrmstxongh
Cross—Examination B? Mr. Gibson
Cfcserxaminaiioﬁ By Mr. Gensler

Redirect Examination BRy. Nr. Armstrong.

Recross-Examination Ey:Mr, Gensler

PAGE

82

85
85
T8
96

114

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775

P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041
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EXHIBTITS

ADMITTED

STATE'S EXHIBITS 5y OFFERED

(None)

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691,

P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 83041

RER (715 727=58175
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WEDNESDAY, MAY 8, 2013
oG T

THE COURT: Michael Mack, George Quiroga,
case number 13 CR ‘1437. 1Is the S£a£e ready to
proceed?

MR. AﬁMSTHONG: The S5tate i1s ready, your
Honor.

THE COURT: How many witnesses for the
State?

MR. AﬁMSTEONG: four potential witnééses,
your ancr.:

'THE COURT: All right. Any motions?

MR, GIBSO&: Exclusionary rule please.

MR..QENSLEREI Join; i Hbads.

THE COURT:  All right. The court would

invoke the exclusionary rule and request that anyone

.who is subpoenaed here to testify today to wait in

the outside hallway until you're called to testify
and not discuss your testimony with anycné else.
MR. ARMSTRONG: Your Honor, Jjust two guick

things for the State. One is that I know that there

. is media here. I'd ask that when the wvictim 1is

testifying, any cameras be below the bar to protect
her privacy.

And that in any media accounts she's

DERBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775}727-9773
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 83041 0013
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referred to as. the pseudonym "Courtney,"™ which is
what she's been assigned. She will say her true name
on the stand, but just to remind the media to please
use thé pseudonym "Courtney." |
THE CQURT:" All right.
Does the media understand?
THE MEDIA: " (Nods head.)
THE COURT: Stételmay call their first
witness. ' - I
‘MR. éRMSTRDNG: Tammy Alexander.
Thereupen%;7 -
| TAMYRA ALEXANDER
was called as a witness by the State, and having been
firét duly sworn, testified gs'follows:
| l”THE COURT: Mr. Hfmstreng; you may begin.
| DIRECT EXEMINﬁT;dN |

BY MR:. ARMSTRONG:

Q. Please séatg.and spell your name for the
record.

A, Tamyra Alexander.

Q. Can you spell that for me?

A, T-g=m=y-r-a,

g, And your last name, how do you spell your

last name?

A Alexander, A-l-e-x=-a-n—-d-e-r.

DERBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-97175
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 85041 0014
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0. How old are you?

A 45,

0. What is your birth date?

SR e

Q. And is it ckay if I call you Tammy?

R - ées, it is; :

Q. Tammy, do ﬁou understand the differenee

between the truth and a lie?
o, Yesa, T.do. "

0. If I were to say I was wearing a pink suit,

is that the truth or a 1ie?

‘A. That's a lie.
.Q. dkay. EAnd if I were to say that the judge

was wearing a black'xobe, is that the Erhth or a lie?

- 'Thatfgiﬁrue.

By - ?gulgroﬁiée today to say only fhe truth?

A. :Yés;$$i;. . |

Q. How far algng in school did you get?

A, To 'the eighth grade.

o, Do you know scomeone by the namelof Michael
Mack?

A, Yes, I do, and he's right here (indicating).

Q. Okay. How do you know him?

A. By my half brother.

& How long have you known him?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11681, RPR (17%)727=9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADR 89041 0015
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E. All my life.
Q. Has your brother Michael ever done anything
that you didn't like?

MR. GIBSON: Objection, be more specific.

'Is he a Cubs fan?’

MR. BARMSTRONG: I'm just trying to give her
an opportunity to tell her story. |
. THE ¢0URT5 Right.
MR. GIBSON: Weli, the gquestion is toeo
road. 1It's too broad. It also calls for a
na&rative. |
THE COURT: I'm ¢going toc overrule the
objection; I'1ll let him ask the quésticn and we'll
see what happenﬁr
BY MR. ARMSTRONG:
g, Tamﬁf, has your brsthef Michaél ever done

anything you did not like?

A TeEs.

Q. What was that?

A. What was that? Him putting his penis in my
pussy.

Q. Okay.

A, And in my mouth.

0. I want to talk about that in a little more

detail, okay?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11621, RPR (7753)727-3775
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 835041 0016
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A. Okay.
Q. Do you remembsr -- has he done that once or

more than once?

A. More than once.
iQ. Do you remember the first time?
A. Yes, ‘I do. Back ih El Paso, Te=xas when my

mother and father was alive.

Q. * Okay. And has it ever happened-here in

Pahrump?
A.  Yes, it has.
Q. I believe you said that you're 45 now%
A, Yes,_sir. |
Q.  And that your birthday is September 10th?
Al Yes, sif. -

‘Has ‘it happened since you turned 45?2 = -

Yes} it has.

Q
5 |
Q. Where were you whaﬁ this happened?
A In his bedrocm. .

Q And do you know what street that's on?

A No, I don't.

Q. Okay. But that's here 1n Pahrump?

A, ¥Yes, it is.

Q. Do you know if he lives with anyone else?

A. Na, he does not. Just with me.

Q. Did you have separate bedrooms then?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 88041 0017
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a. Yes, we did.

5.9 How would 1t start?

A. It would start by melnot saying anything to
anybody.

Q. Okéy.' And the times éhat he would, using

your words, stick_his penis in your pussy --

A, Yes.

Q. -- that wauid be in his bedrocm, what would
he bé wearing? |

L. He'd be wearing black shorts.

0y And by.shorts do you mean underwear or
running shorts cor some cther type of short?

A. Underwear shorts.

Q. - Would he"hava_anything on the top half of
his body?
A. Yes, he would.  He would have a white

1

T-shirt on.

Q. What would you be wearing?

A, I'd be wearing my pink and white nightgown
with the flowers on it.

Q. And how would it -- how would you both get

into his bedroém for that to happen?

A, He would call me in there.
O, What would happen next?
A, He would ask me to massage his shoulders and

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (018
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back fer him.

0. Okay. And would you?

A. Yes, I would.

Q. and after that happenéd, what would you do?
A. He would ask me to kneel over on the bed and

for me to suck it. _

Q. = Okay. And what do you mean by "it" when you
say "suck it"?

A, His penis.

Q. And would you do that after he told you tq?

A. jxes,'i would. |

G And I just want to be cleart, wbuld it go
inside your mouth or stay outside your mouth?

A. In my mouth. |

ﬁ. “And when he:wauld stick_his penis in your
mouth, what woﬁld hé do? |

A.. He wauld cum.l

Q. And by'"cum"'dc you mean something coming
out of his penis? -

A. Yes, his cum.

3 What would you do next?

A. Then I would leave his room and go to my
rOOMm.

Q. 2nd that sex, his penis in your mouth, has

that happened since you'wve been 45?2

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O., BOX 4546, PRHRUMP, NEVADR 83041 (019
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A Yaa, -

G. And how many times has 1t happened since you
wers 457

A, A lot of times.

Q.' "A lot" can mean different thingé to

different people.

B . Seqera;.

Q. ' several, okay. Moré than ten or less than
tany

A, Morezthén.ten.

Q. You{q;so.;aiﬂ'thatlhis penis would go info

YOour pussy?

Ras ves,. it would.

ﬁQ. ﬁould fhat_also'héppéﬁ_ig his'bédroom?

H; Yes. )

0. And where would you bé in the’bedroom when

that. wowld happens

A. In his bed.

Q. And how would you be positioned? Who was on
top of who? |

A. He weould be on top of me.

Q. And when it was inside your pussy, would it
just go in and stay there or move around or something
(b, =i

A, It would move arcund.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR ST M R
P.0. BOX 4546, PABRUMP, NEVADA 83041 0020
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A.

Ql

457

How would it move around?
When he would be moving on top of me.

And that has happened since you'wve turned

Yes, sir.

Would he say anything to you during this

That he lovad:me.
How would it end?

With a kiss and a hug goodnight and that

would be it.

Q.
A.
Q.

Ehat? ="

A
Q
A.
Q

Would you say anything to him?

.No.

Would you tellihim”to_stop or anything like

Yas, I would.
What words would you use?
I would tell him to stop and he wouldn't.

And how many times was it that he put his

penis into your pussy?

A.
Q.
A.

Q.

the body

A lot of times. More than ten.
Since you were 457
Yes.

2nd just to clarify, by pussy what part of

is that? Do you know the formal name for

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #1169%1, RPR (775)727-9775

P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0021
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that?

B Yeg, I do. Vagilna.

Q. Okay. And you know the difference betweeén
on top of and inside of? l

A, Yes, I do.

Q. Hﬁd which one was it with Michael?

A. Inside. | |

Q. Cther than thg penis in your vagina anﬂ the
penis in fbur mouth, w;ﬁ there any cther type Qf.

physical actiwvity you did not like?

A. Yes., He used ﬁgsbeatyma with:the béi;;

Q. Where would he beat you with a belt?

A. Either in my bedroom or in'his bedroom.

Q. Hould that be the house heré in Pahrump?

A. feﬁ.

Q ‘And has that happened since you.ﬁere 457

A. Yes,

Q. lHas that happened once or more than ﬁnce?

A More than once.

Q. Where on your body would he hit you with the
belt?

On my bare ass.

A
% What do you mean by "bare ass"?
A With no clothes on.

Q

Do you know what part of the belt he would

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.C. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (022
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hit you with?

A. Yes, I do. With either the strap or the
belt buckle.

Q. and in one session of him hitting you with

the belt, how many times would he hit you with that

EElL?
A Maybe.two or three.
0. Between the strap and the buckle, was there

one ‘that hurt more than the other?

A.q Yes.

Q. Whiéh:oﬁé ﬁas that?
A; The buckle.

M

What belt would he use?
A. My belt with the flowers on it.

0. ‘Would that happeﬁ the same tiﬁas that he

would have ~-“he would stick his penis in you or were

there.cthef times?

A. Times where he would stick the penis in me.

Q. and would that be before ﬁe would put his
penis inside you or after?

A, Before.

Q. Did Michael ever tell you about what to say
about these activities?

MR. GIBSON: Objection, leading.

THE COURT: Sustained.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RFR (TTayT27T=-8173
P.0. BOX 4546, PRHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0023
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BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

Q. Would you ever talk about --
a. No.
o. -—= this stuff?

With Michael or anyone else?
:'R. No.
Q. Is thefe a reason why?
MR. GIBSON: dbjectiﬂn, speculétion.
THE COURT: Overruled.
MR. GIBSON: ﬁnless without -- foundation.
BY MR. ARMSTRONG: |
Q. Is there a reason why -—
THE COURT: A réason why she wouldn't talk
about it, Ehat's wﬁat he's a%king,
BY MR. ARMSTRONG: '
Q. i is_tﬁefﬁ:a reason why you wouldn't talk

about it?

A. Yes, because Michael threatened me.
Q. How did he threaten you?
A. He told me -- told me if I ever told

anybody, anybody, that he'd beat me more with the

belt.
Q. Has he told you that since you turned 457
B, Yes, sir.
Q. Where was he when he told you that?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (024
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A. In my house.

Q. Was there anyone in particular he told you

not to tell?

A. Yes. Everybody hera_in Fahrump.

Q And how did Micﬁael m%ka yvou feel?

A Not good.

Q. What do yvou mean by'"not good“?

. Uncomfortabléf

Q Did you like being with Michael or something
ElBE?.:

A. Scared of.him.

Q. And I'fhiﬂk,yqu,al:eady pointed te him, but
can you tell us something that he's wearing today? .
A.. 'Yes,_r;ﬁaq, He's wearing an orange-and
Wﬁite fall outfits _ . |
ﬁR.'ARMS¢RDﬁﬁ: _Wili the record reflect the
in-court"idénfification 9% Mr. Mack?
THE COURT: The record will reflect the
in-court idenfification of Mr. Mack.

BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

Q. Do you know somecne by the name of George
Quiroga?

h. Yes, I do.

. How do you know him?

A. I've known him for ten years.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #116391, RPR (775)727-397175
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89C41 (025
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Q. And has there been'anything that s what do
you know him as? Do you have a name for him?

 31 ' George.

Q. George. .Is there anything that George did.

that you didn't like?

A, Yes.

Q 'What_waslﬁhét?

B George uSed to hit me with a belt too.

Q.  Okay. -Where would he hit Qéu with a belt?
A | On my bafe ass. |
0. Where would you be when he did this?

A In his bedrﬁﬁm, |

Q. Was . this the same:bélt that Michael used or
a different one?

A. _The éémg one.

Q.. What part of the belt wdqld_hé hit yqﬁ with?

A, The. black ﬁart.'-“

Q. '+ And how mény.times would he hit foﬁ with
that in one segsion.of?

A. Two or three.

Q. And do you'know —-—- 1 believe you said it was

in his bedroom; is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you know where his bedroom 183
A. Yes, I do.

DERBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (375)T2T-3T73
P.0. BOX 4546, PBAHRUMP, NEVADA B9U41l (026
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Where is it?

It's right around the corner from the front

Wwhich Front deor?

‘His front door. In his apartment.

- Is his apartment in Pahrump or somewhere

Here in Eahrump.

Ts it near.anythinglthat'ydu know of?
Yes, it.is., It's right near Evergreen.
Is Evargfﬂen a placé or a séréet?

It's a place where -- Evergreen is a nursing

Do you recall what apartment he lives in?
ves, I do. Tt's apartment five.

Other than hitting you with the belt, is

there anything else George would do that you didn't

like?
A.
Q.
a.

Q.

Yes, he stuck his penis in my pussy.
Okay. Where would he do that?
In his bedroom.

The same bedroom where he would beat you

with the belt?

A,

Q.

Yes.

And has he done that since you've turned 457

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775

P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (027
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E. Yes, sir.

Q. How many times has he done that?

A, More than once.

a. Would he put his penis anywhere else?

A.  Yes. In my mouth.

3 And would he put anything else in your pussy

or your mouth?

A. Yes. He put these instruments ﬁp my pussy.

Q. ;Can you describe what'one of'thase might
lock liké?

A. They was silver insﬁrﬁments like a doctor

would use.

Q. And did he.do that once or more than once?

A. maré than ofice.

ﬁ. And would that e in his same bedrcém:hear
Evergreen?

A. Yes.

Q.  Would you tell him anything ahen vhLS Weuld
happen?

A. I would tell him to stop and he wouldn't.

Q. Do you remember what exact words you used to

tell him to stop?
A, I'd say, Stop, stop, stop, and he would say
no.

C. And would the times he hit you with the

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, BAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (028
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belt, were those always the =zame times as him -
A, Tes.
MR. GEﬁSLER; same times as what?
BY.MR. ARMSTRONG:
Q.I.:f'm gorry. The belt would be the same times

as him sticking his --

A.  Yas.

'Q. ~-— penils . or tﬁe ingtruments —-

a. Yes. |
= - iﬁsLde vou?

B: - Yeas.

.Q:. would he putlany other part of his.bady

inside you?
‘A.  No.
g3 And how mény times woﬁld.he stick his penis

in your pussy oOr mouth?

A Mo#e_thah once.

Q. And how did.Gedrge make vyou feel?:

A, Uncomfortable.

0. You said that you were scared of Michaél.

Were you_also scared of Geaorge?

A, Tes.

£ And that man that did all those things to
you that vou know as George, i1s he in the courtroom

today?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (029
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A, Yes, =sir.
Q. Can you please point to him and say
sémething he's wearing?
_A. He's right here wearing a blue jackét and
blue feans and a dark blﬁé sﬁirt.

MR. ARMSTRONG: Dkéy. Would the record
reflacf the in-cgurt identification of George?

THE COURT: The record will reflect the
in~¢ourt-identificafiqn of .the other deféndant,
George-.

‘MR ARMSTRONG:" I'l1 pass the witness at
this time, your Honor.

THE COURT: Cross-examination, Mr. Gibson?

“MR. GIBSON: Yes.
CROSS—EXAMIEETION
éY MR. GIB3ON:
Q. Taﬁy:a, you went éhrough the eighth grade?
A, Yes, sir.

Q. Where?

A. In Englewood, New Jersey.

Q. Englewood, New Jersey?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And do you recall the address you lived at

at the time?

A, Yes, I do. 167 Ember Place.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-8775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0030




10
i 52k
12
13

14

15 .

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24

23

Q. And do you remember your Zip code?
A, No, I @Gn't.
S o Do ybu remember the phonelnumber you had
then? . I | |

MR. ARMSTRONG: Objection, your Honor,
ralevance. |

THE WITNESS: Wo.

TﬁE ﬁDUﬁT; Overruled.

BY MR. GIBSON:

Q. _Héw iong did you live in Englewood, New
Jersey? : | |

A, For_a long time.

Q. D& you have ény idea.howlmany years?

A, No, I don't.

Q. Do yoalhaye;any other brothers or sisters?
B. ol haVelfive.bethé?E.
'Q;_ Five brothers, okay. . And ==

'ﬂ.. One brother died.

Q. When did he die?
A, Long time ago.
L5 30 And s0 you had four living brethers at the

time you were in eighth grade?

A. I had them all living when I was in eighth
grade.
Q. Did anyone ever touch you —-

DEBBTE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
°.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (031
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- when you were in the eighth grade?
No.

How about when;you-ﬁere in high schecol?

No.

LT EE @ S D &) ]

Excuse me, not high school. High school

age, I'm 56rry.

A. No.

i Did you ever live in Texas?

E.I No. I went to go fisit my brother Michael
4n Bl Paso, Te%és but he tbuthed'mé'fhen. Mg mom and

dad were alive. And he told me not to say nothing.

Q. And that #as -- that was in Texas you said?_
A,  Yes. .In_El_Paag,

.'é. Hﬁd yaurlmoﬁher andjfather were alive then?
A Yes, sir; l . -

0. And what were'you-doing visiting your
brother in El Paso?

B He asked us to come out to see his new

apartment -- his nesw house:
Q. How old were you?
B. "I don't remember.
Q. I mean, do vou have an estimation of how old

you were? How long is it past the time you were in

the eighth grade?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #116921, RPR (773)727-8775
P.O. BOX 4546, PRHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0032




10

il
B
. 13
14
15

R

18
18
20
21
22
23
24

25

2%

A. Long time ago.

op Ckay. But your parents were --=

A, They were alive and we went down to see his
new place. And Michael asked me —- I mean, he told

me to come into his bedroom. My mom and dad were
alive. And Michéel'calied me .in there, because I was

sleeping on the couch, and he called me into his room

and heuwanted to have sex with mé} and I told him no.

Q. ‘You don't remember how old you were?

B o Wby T defyRE.

Q. . Dkay. Where were ybur parents?

k. Iﬁ a different bedroom sleeping. And he
told me not to -- he told me not to say nothing.

Q. Okay. _Nbﬁ:yas that the first time you ever

had sexual intercourse?

A;'. fés._

Q. | Did you e?ef get married?

A. -Yes, I've been ﬁarried foﬂr times.

O Ckay. How old were you the first time you

got married?

A. I was Z1.

0 And where did that marriage take place?
A In Las Vegas. Leng time ago.

& What was your husband’'s name?

A Johnny Madrid.

DEBBIE HINES, .CCR #473, CSR #11631, RPR (775)727-8775
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 835041 (033
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2. Johnny Madrid?

A, tes.

Q. How long were you married to Johnny Madrid?
A, Not wery long. Iﬁ-ﬁas a short marriage

because he hurt me. “

Q. | And how did he hurt you?

A. How?

Q. . ¥Yes.

A. Very simply; .He'th:ew me from the secdond

story apartmént all the way down a flight of stairs
and I divorced him.
s Was he eve;.prdsecuted for that?
A, Mo, he was nof.
MR. ARMSTRONG: Objection, your Honor,
reiéﬁance. We‘fe going way off.

. MR. GIBSON: Well, actﬁally,'Judge, we're
testing the ability wof this == this witness is
dlleged to have the mental state of a éhild. And the
acts and the things that are happening géas to show,
first of all, her ability to recall and her voracity,
because we're going to be looking into all these
things so it is important that we be able to explore
these areaé.

THE COURT: Well, they're way off of direct

examination by the State. And my understanding is

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0034
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cross—examination should be restricted to whatever
was done on direct examination.

MR. GIBSON: Except for the fact --

THE ‘COURT: . Not allowed ;é venture out into
unknown territorylfﬂr_exploiétory purposes.

ﬁR. dIESDN: Well, I'm exploring her ability

to == it's alleged again that she's mentally

challenged, and I want to find out how mentally

chal;engeﬂ by some of thélquestions asking'abqut her
backg:ouﬁﬂ'and past. éhe’s_béen married four times.
Perhaps shg‘s_ndtfas mentaily bh&ileﬂged'as Saﬁe
might like to Eeiiave.- l

MR. ﬁRMSTRQNG: Your Honor, as far as the
State dpes'agree with you thét'itfs'waﬁ'fﬁfloff the

direct examination. In addition, unless the defense

| plans to, you know, bring in something to impeach her

at this point, we're just.kiﬁd aof asking her
questions to test her.

I think given the limited nature of the
preliminary hearing, there are other questions that
can be asked te test her memory and her wvoracity, let
aleone she may not have any perscnal knowledge of how
he was progecuted or not for those. The State does.

THE COURT: Right.

MR, GIBSON: Is the court -- at this time

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727=9775
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then has the court determined that she's competent to
testify?

THE COURT: I would say that she's competent
to testify, but a child has a memory.

MR. GiBSON: Understood but.;.

THE COURT: ﬁnd I don't believe. that you're,
no harm intgnded, but I don't bel%eve you're of a '
medical background or degree tﬁ be able to say
wheéther or not her mental capacity is based on thé
gquesgtions you're asking her.

MR. QIBSON: But the gquesticns I ask her
would be posed or posited to a medigcal expert cor a
mental"expert later, and fhat'g why we're making a
record here so they cén lock at that,'because I'm émt
sure if we cén, unless it's by a court order, force
hér to go-be examined.

THE CdURT: I'm going £o sustaiﬁ.the
obhiection and ask you to confine your queshions more
to the 1line of the direct examination that was done
by the State.

BY ME. GIBSONM:.

o You don't remember how many times you had
sex with your brother; is that correct?

h. That's right.

Q. When I say "your brother," referring to the

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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defendant here to my left, Michael?

A,

Q.
A.
0.
A.

Uh-huh.

Is that a yes?

Yes.

'So you don't remember?

I do remember but he Lold me not to say

nothing. :

0.

Well, I'm telling you to say something. How

many was 1t? How many timesnexactly, to the best of

your ability?

©° P oo P

Q.

turned

H.

A 1¢t bf times back in EL Pasﬁ and here.

o yoﬁ don't héve a number for us? |

No, .I don't., ' |

And you dén't have a date when --

No, T ddnftﬁ

-~ these things happened?

Ox aﬁyldates?. .

No.

You did say that it happéned after you
45; 1is that fair to say? |

That's correct.

And that would have been, let's see, 9-10 of
your birth date?

89-10-67.

T'm sorry. I meant the last —-- when you

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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turned 45, that would have been 9-10 of '12?

A.

¢
A.
Q

Yes.
20127
Yes.

But even going back to your 45th birthday,

your can't say how many times to today, you can't say

how many times you've had sex with your brother?

A.
Q.
A.
Q.

it was

?

¥ O

Lo TR &

belt?
A.

Q.

¥ 0 P O

A lot of times.
You can't give me a number, can you?

No, I, can't..

: Matter df;faat, you don't even remember if

daytime or ﬁighttime?

Yes, I do Eememhér:that} It was niqhttime;
Every time? |

Yes; it w§é night?g

lﬂlﬁays.ét,Qighf?

Always at night.

And who elSe was present?

Nobody else.

Just you two?

Yes.

And he used your favorite little flower

Yeas,

To spank you with?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9773
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A, Yes.
Q. Now some people enjoy being spanked. Was
that part --

A. I didn't enjoy it at all.
Q. ‘Did he have any —-- your brother have any of

his own belts?:

A. Yea, he did;

Q. Eut he used your flower belt instead?
ﬁ.f Tes, éird

Q. And 6f course -- do you.have that flower

belt handy? Do you know wWhere ik is?
AL Yes, I do know where it is. 1It's at home.

Q. Okay. What does it look like?

A. It's leather and it has flowers all.ovéf iy =i

"Qf_ -Qkay. . And those flowers, are they leather
flowers?

i Yés, they are.,

Q. Did you wear that belt?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Whan?

4, When?

Q. Yes.

A. On my jeans.

Q. N¢, when. When did you wear the belt?
A

" When?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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Q.

A.
me Jeans.

Q.

Yes.

I wore it every time I went out in public on

Why would you wear a belt that was used to

submit to sex with? Didn't that -- let me rephfase

the question. Does not that belt remind you of bad

things?

A,

» o p o » O

Friday.
Q.
A.
together.
Q.
A.
Q.
A,
Q
A

. yes, it did.

And you wore it anyway?

Yeah. That's_the-only one I have.
What do you do duringlthe'ﬂay?
Where am I during the day? ﬁt work.
Where do Qou work?

I work at Progressive Cholces Monday through

What do you do there?

What @6 I do there? I pﬁt old cards

Do you have any coworkers?
Yes, 1 do.

What's your supervisor's name?
Michelle.

Mifhelle what?

I don't know her last name, I just know her

first name is Michelle.

DEBEIE HINES, CCR #d473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-97175
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Q. And she‘s your boss?
A. Yes, sir, she is.
0. Is she here today?
A. No, she's not. She's at a meeting today.
| Q. Any dthe; coworkéfs hére today?
&y No, sir. Susan is. :
o. Who's Peter?
A, Wha‘glPéterﬁ Eetér used to work with me;
. Eeter =-- where? |
A, Af Erogieséivé Choicges.
5 End is he in: court here'today?
-A. No, sir, he's not.
Q. And is.he your boyfriend now?
A.  No.
_Q. _Wheﬁ_did you start your;relationShip with
Peter? | |
A Long tiﬁé ago.
Q. -Haw long ago?
A, Last year.
Q. Before -- I mean, so when you were Llike

still 44 years old?

A. Yeah.

Q. and you and Peter, did you have & sexual
relationship with Peter?

A, No. No, we were just friends and always

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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have been and always going to be.

b What kind of ¢gifts, if any, did you ever

give Peter?

MR, ARMSTRONG: ©Objection, your Honor, I
don't krnow the relevance of that guestion. Again
we're going pretty far off.

BY MR. GIBSON: | .
Q: _Didlyou ever give Peter.a glft?

ﬂR. ARMSTRONG: I'm. geing to object, your
Honot. |

THE.COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. GIBSON: |
Q. For the record you said you testified that
you've been married_fogr'£imes?

A. Yes.

Q ﬁas ﬁe éédh time here in Nevada?
Al YTes. .

Q And was it each time in Las Vegas?
A Yes.

. You were never married here in PFahrump?

No.

Q
A
Q. Did you divorece every =--
A. Yes, I did.

Q

5 -- one of your four husbands?

A. Yes, 1 did.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR $11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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Q. And as far as you know the record —- well,
you got divorcéd in Clark County?

4, Yes.

i __And.dd:you still maintaih'relaticnships with

any of your four ex-husbands?

A, Nc.

-Qt Why not?

S A ‘Because T ﬁén‘t-

0. - Ba ény'of them hurt you besides the first
one?

Ih. Yés.

Q. Did they all hurt you?
A, Né, I had to get'-- I had to get an

annulment on my last ‘one because he married me --

married me uhdgrneath bigémqus.x I found out tﬂat he

was alreédy mar;igd tp:a'woman in Italy.
”_Q; So that was annullaﬁ but the others wﬁre

divorces?

n, (Nodzs head.)

Q. And he was your last husband?
A. Yes, sir, he was.

Q. What's his name?

A, ILeno Aguilar.

Can you spell that last name for me?

S

Mo, I cannot, the name. He was Italian.

DEBEIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RER (775)727-2775
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(Cell phone interruption.}
THE COURT: Can you turn that coff please.
BY MR. GIBSON:

Q. Did you have any sexual relationships with
anybody other than'the persoﬁ you say is your brother
in-thewaast year? |

| MR, ARMSTBONG; Objection, your Honmr; the
rape shield'pfotects her from that type oflqﬁéstion.
' THE COURT: - Sustained.

MR. GIBSON: Ith actually it's not rape

sﬁield_igsue. This again goes back to competency and

1f she's able to cémprehend what she's doing and with
whom. It's got to do with bringing up the fact that
she's having sexual relationships.
ITHE doURi: Sustained.
BY MR. GIBSOE:_ |
B © ﬁna §6-it‘s,y¢u: ﬁosition, yeur testimény
that vour broﬁher Miéhael wore bklack underwear or

black shorts when he wauid"have sex with you?

B, Yésw

Q. Every time?

A, Yes, oﬁ his gray ones.

Q. So black or gray only?

A, Yes,

Q. So it would be safe to say then if he wasn't

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11681, RPR (775}727-9775
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wearing his black underwear or his gray underwear,

then he wasn't having sex with you?

A,
Q.

.

.Q.

Right.

At all?

Eight.

MR. GIESON: I'11 pass the witness.
THE COURT: Mr. Gensler? |
MR..GENSLERi Thank you, your Honor.

 CROSS-EXAMINATICN

| BY MR. GENSLER:"

Tammy, the first time you told anybody

any of this was on April $&th?

A

Q.

know?

Yés,

: This'year?

ves.
About a month ago?

?ES.

Who did you tell?

1 ﬁold my workers at work.

Whe was that?

Michelle.

And what did you tell her happened?
T told her everything that happened.

Okay. And then what did she do; do you

about

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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A. Yes.

2 What did she do about that?

A. She got my stuff out of the houss.

&, She got youf stuff out of Michael's ﬁouse?
A. Yés.

Q. Where did you go?

A. I went to the house and got 1t @uﬁ. 1 went

to storage and put it all in a storage unit.

Q. And that's while you were working?
A. Yes,
Q. S0 sometime during the day while you were

working you told Michelle?

A. Yes.

Q. And then she_heiped you'éo get wour atuff?
A, HHEE. . .

Q,  Where wééhmﬁchéel?

3. He wasn't -- he_ﬁasn‘t at the home. He was

already in jail.

Q. He was already in jail before you told
anybody abeout what happened?

R. No. I told my girlfriend Ellen and Bruce

whalt happened.

Q. Okay. Who are Ellen and Bruce?
A. Friends of mine.
¢. When did you tell them?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (TT5)Y 72T=9T15
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¥

=R &

oo B0

Does that

'3

el

0.
A

I told them first.
Was that on April S%th?

Yes, 1t was.

Before you went to work?

Yeas.

~ So you told them in the morning, right?

No, I told them on April the 9th.

Ckay. 1Is that a workday?

)

5.

Looking aﬁ that calendar, that's a Tuesday.
-éound fiéht? | 2

Yes.

Wheﬁldid you téll them?

I told them that night.

fiqu"told them on the night of April 9th?

Yes.
And then what did they do?

They took me to their house and I spent the

night with them.:

Q.
A.
Q.
A.

home.

Okay. Where did you tell them?
In their car.
How did it come that you were in their car?

Because we were bringing back the mobile

So you were helping them?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CBR #11691, RER (775}727-9775
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A. Yes.
Q. Where was the mobile home that you were

bringing back?

. IFrom'Las Vegas.

0. Was that after work onlthat day?

A. Yes, 1t was.

Q. And so while vou were in the car, I'm just

‘trying to get it straight, while you were in the car,

you just started telling them these things?

A. Yes.

Q. . And then fhey_were -

CA. We were -- we were =-- we had -- we Were
taking it to Lakeside. And we hit a rock at Lakeside

and we called up Michael and told Michael that we hit

a rock and that we were trying to get the mobile home

of f the rock, the tire off the rock, the car off the

rock.
2. So you told them about these things thét
Michael did to you and then you called Michael to

come help you?:

A. No.
Q. Then tell me what happened.
A. Well, we were trying to get the car off the

rock and at the place, and we hit a rock and we

couldn't get the tire off of 1it.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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Q.

A

Okay.

And so it took us forever to get the tire

off of the rock.

oo 0

came and
|87
A.

Q.

And you couldn't'do i vy
We couldn't do it.

So you needed Michael's help; is ‘that right?

.No. We called in a wrecker and the wrecker

got us off the rock.

So you didn't call Michael?

. No, net at all.

Okay. When did you tell Bruce and Ellen

about these things that we're talking about today?

A
Q
A
Q
A
Q
A

Q.
you home,

A.

ooE D

i.told them that night,.

Hh;le-yqu-were in the car befcrﬁ ==

" Yes.

- &oulh?t the é@ﬁklof-afﬁer_the roﬁk?
Afté&.tpe rock.

Sce while you were waiting for the wrecker?
Yen.

Okay. .And then they just, instead of taking
they took you to their house?

Yes.

And then you spent that night there?

Yes, after I told them.

Okay.

DEBEIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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2

2R a0

[ o]

Q.

Kelly?

0.

like a

Q.

Then we went to the police station.
When did you do that? The same night or --
¥es, the same night.

They took you to the Qolice'station?
Yés. |

And then you met somebody there?
Yes.

Who did you meet there?

An officér..

Do you ¥xnow who 1t was?

No. A laﬁy officer.

Okay. Was it Kelly?

Yes.

Did you talk to anvbody before-yoﬁ talked to

Yes.

When you-go.to tﬁa polilce étaﬁion, there's
window there?

Yes.

¥You talked to somebody tThere?

Yas.

And you told them what was going on?

Yes.

And then they brought Officer Kelly to come

talk to you?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-8775
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A, Yes.
Q. and she took you back into a room somewhere
to talk?
' ﬁ. Right.
Q. 'In pfivate?
A Yes.
_ Q. I assume?
A, Yes.
0, And so you talked to her and ﬁbld her what

you téld”us today?
A, Yes.
Q. And did you talk to any other officers that
day? | ]
Al No. - Then she took me to Las Vegas to thé
hasﬁital for me to get tested. |

Did you talk to David that day?

Q

A. Yes.

Q That's Dawvid Boruchowitz, right?

A Yoo,

Q. Did you talk to any other officers?

A. No.

Q. Then Kelly took you to Vegas after you

talked to them?
A, Yes.

Q. And you were examined there?

DEEBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11631, RPR (775)727-9775
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B
Q
A
Q
A
Q

Yes. At Humana Sunrise.

Did you tell the pecople there.what happened?
Yes.

And then they tock some evidence, right?
Yes. |

Then you talked to some other pegple even

more after that about this, right?

nurses,

Hl
8
A,

Q.

Yes.
Who did vou talk to next?
Te the -hospital.

After the hospital. Did you talk to a nurse

Yes, I did.

Ckay. Did you talk to a doctcr?_';
Yes, I did.

More than one?

Yeﬁ.

How many? Two? Three? Four?
Bbout four.

Four doctors. A nurse and four -- how about

one or more?

More than one nurse,
More nurses than doctors?
Yes, more nurses than doctors.

Okay. And you told all of them what

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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happened,

A,

morning.

right?

Yes.

And then did you stay overnight?

Yes, over ét Ellen and Bruce's houég."
Not in the hospital?

No, I got backléraund 6:00 in the morning.
S0 ElLén énd Bruce brought you home?
No.

To their house?

Kelly d;ﬁ.

Oh, okay.

Kelly brought me home at 6:00 in the

To Elleﬁ'and.ﬁruce's though?

Yes.,

Not to your home?

l-NQ.

Did you then go to ﬁork that day?

Yes, I did. -. |

And that's when you talked to Micﬁelle?
Right.

and then she helped you go get your stuff?
Yes.

So that wasn't until the next day?

Day.
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Q.

and then did you talk to any other

investigators?

A.

Q.

Qe

No, not that I remember.

You didn't talk to Emily?

“No.

Okay. TWho told you to use the word "penis"?

Nobody.

Is that a word you normally use?

Yes.

That?a the ward y&u.use for a man's,..
E'knoﬁ. .

Gkay.. Whére did you learn that? iIn séhool
-- when you %ere_ércwing up?

In.school. |

Okayrl What happened on your birthday, your

last birthday?

A,
Q.
A.

o.

Wwell, on my last birthday, nothing much .
Do you remember it?
No, not really.

Well, the D.A.'s been asking you all this

stuff about things that happened since your last

birthday and you don't even really remember e iy o

A,

Q.

No, not really.

Okay. When people hurt you, you get mad,

don't you, at them?

DERBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #116%1, RER (7753727=~9775

P.0. BOX 4546, PBHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0054




10
11
1z

13

19

16

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

47

Q.
A,

Q.

Yeah.
And ycﬁ can hold a grudge, right?

Yeah,

Like wyour brother Bill?

Yeah.

What's happened with your brother Bill? You

haven't talked to him-in years, right?

A
Q.
A.

.Q'
A.
Q.

A.
Q.
A,
&
A.
Q.
A

Q.
hurt you,

A.

Q.

A,

Right.

_Beqauée he hurt you?
*eah.

One timé, right?ﬁ
IYeah, one time.

That+-was it?7?

“Yaah,

He's out? 'Hiﬁtory?

Yeah. -

No more contact?

 No.

Okay. BSame with your brother.Jerry?

Yeah.

Same thing, you don't mess around. If they
you don't go back for more?

Nope.

No, okay. Do you drive?

Mo,
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Q. Have you ever driven?

H. No.

Q. ¥You don't have a3 driver's license?

AL .NO.

2. You can't get cne?

A, No.!

Q. How did_you get to ‘George's?

A, Michael Mack or Gedrge's_frieuds come and
pick me ﬁp-‘

Q. How many times have you been to George's
house ;—:aparﬁﬁent? |

A, Twice.

Q. Two times. And the first time, how did you

get'there?

A.
i
A,

him.

0

&

o e 1D :Iﬂlf.‘.'

| Geo;ge'came and picked me up.

He drove?

His friend came and got me with him == with

Do you know his friend's name?

No, I don't.

Do you know when That was?
No, I don't.

Long time ago?

Yeah.

And the second time, how did you get there?

DEBBIE HIMNES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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A. Michael Mack took me.

:Q. Michael?

A. Yes, Michael.

Q.. And how did you get thera? I mean, ﬁo-you
know when that was? I'm sorry.

A No, I.don't..

IQ. Did you ever go out to the Nugget or

aﬁything with Geoxrge?

R R

Q.  Newver?,
A, No .
Q. Did you ever téll anybody that you were

golng to marry him?
A.: No.
l; . No? You never said that to anygody?
[.' ﬁ@?_ . .

Q
B
Q. ‘You never'félt that ;ay about him?
A No.

Q

So if somebody were to say that, they’'d be

B. Uh-huh.

.. Not just Gecrge, Lif George said that, if
anypody salid that?

A No.

0 They'd be lying?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.C. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0057
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A
Q.
your bel
A.
Q.

A

A.
=G
A.

Q.

Uh-huh.

And when you went to George's, you'd wear

BT

Y&y, 8ir.

'What belt are we talking about?

The black one with the flowers on it.
Is that tha.only belt you have?_
Yes,_sir. .

You only have ong?

Yeah.

Okay. .So it's not just your favorite one,

it's your only one?,

A,

Q.

‘Exactly.

You talked about =- the first time I've ever

heard -- I mean, yéuive talked;tovthe police so we've

seen paperwork. T mean, just so you know, they give

it to us

and we'wve seen it. And ydu talked t; other

people and we've seen'that, but the first time I ever

heard about you talking about George using silver

instruments was today.

ig

Q.

(Nods head.)
Where did that come from?

It's the truth. He did.
And can you describe them for me?

Yeah, they're like...

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #4773, CSR #11691, RPR (775i?27—9?75
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A,

You

say they were like the déctor would use?

'Yeah,'when'they -- yeah, when they stick

them up your vagina, yeah.

had?

want

© B O p O

Sc like when you go in for a medical exam?

And

Medical éxam, yveah.

they .put you up in the sﬁirrupa and that?

Yeah.

The

instruments the doctor uses is what he

Yes. He really does too.
Okay. So would he conduct an exam on you?
Yeah.

Is that what he was doing?

He would.

ﬁnd

which time was that?

Every time I would go over there he would

fm do that with me.

Q.

S0 the twe times?

Did

NO‘.

Did

No.

Did

No.

Yeah.

vou tell Kelly about that?
yvou tell Dawvid about that?

you tell Bruce and Ellen about that?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR %473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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Q. Did yod tell Michelle about that?
A No.
Q. Anybody I'm missing that you -- did you tell

the doctors in Vegas?

A.  No.
. Were“they doing an exam like that too?
A, Yes.
Q. And you didn't mention to them that --
A. No.
Q. -+~ George had doné that te youv?
A. Na.
Q. Okay. You see CGeorge here today, right?
A. _xes, I do.
Q. Wﬁen was the last time vou saw hih before
today? |
Al First time 1n a lecng time.
Q. Yea;é?
A. (Nods head. )
Q. Okay. Nothing further, your Honor.
THE COURT: Redirect by the State?
MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes, a few questions, your
Honor.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

0. Tammy, you just testified that you don't

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PRHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0060
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remember what you did on your 45th birthday, right?

A.  Huh-uh.

Q. But you remember -- do you remember turning
57

A, Yes.

Q. And you're able.to remember things happening

before it and after?
MR. GENSLER: .Objectipn,.léadinq,
MR, GIBSON: Also cospound.
"THE COURT: ‘Sustained.

BY ﬁR. RRMSTRD&G: .

Q. Are you able to remember things before,
after you -- .you can distinguish between when you
were 45 and when you were not, correct?

Ao Yéah.

Q.l fou Said thét you don't.remembef speakingl
with an Emily. Were you'éver interviewed by somecne
after. the pelice'iﬁ a setting'éther than at the

police station?

A. Yeah.
o. Do you remember what she looked like?
A. Noe, I deon't, not offhand.

Q. Why did you tell Ellen and Bruce?
A. Why? I felt comfortable around them.

Q. You just told the attorneys over here that

DEEBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0061




Lo

10
12
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23

25

it had been a couple of years since you'wve seen

George.
A. Yes.,
Q. You also said that you -- that he had done

these thiﬁgs to yoﬁ since you turned 457

AN Yes.

Q. You - turned 45 last ?ﬁér,.correcf?

A. Yes.

Q. | So has it bhéen years sinﬁe you've seen him

'or has it been since your 45th birthday? Which one

is correct? . Does that guestion make sense or do you
want me to..._. |

Aa. Do it agéin please.

'é. You testified dnﬁé_hére_that_it was -- it's,
been.yearé_aince.ysgfve géen Gééigéf

Al Ohehuh. ©o- |

Q.  But when'& asked, you said that /it had been
since you turned 45, which was last year. So which

one is correct?

A, Since 1 -- since years.
Q. Since you turned 45 or has it been. ..
A, Years,

MR. GENSLER: Asked and answered, your
Honor.

THE CQURT: Sustained.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, WEVADA 85041 0062




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
3T
18
19
20
21

22

24

23

55

BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

Q.

A.

Honor?

Do you know how many years it's --
No, I don't.

MR. ARMSTRONG: No further questions, your

MR. GIBSON: Nothing, your Honor.

MR. GENSLER: I have one follow-up.

THE COURT: All right.

RECROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. GENSLER:

Qf
_I‘Sq
o

wanted to

o ¥ o ®

for you?

L) o0

Who are you staying with now?

I'd rather not say.

Okay.  When you told Bruce and Ellen, you

go.stay with.them; didn't you?

'Yeéhi

Because you like them?

ﬁYeah.-'

You thought that would be a good asituation

Uh—huh.l

Right?

Yes.

So that's why you told them?
¥es.

And then that's why we're here today?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775}727-8715

P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 85041 0063
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A. Yes.

MR. GENSLER: OCkay. Thank you.

MR. ARMSTRONG: HNo further questions.

THE COURT: All right. This witness may be
excused theﬁ?

MR. ARMSTRONG: Yeah, subject to recall,
Your Honor-

THE COURT: Thank you. State's next
witness? |

MR. ARMSTRONG: The State's next witness is
Susan Kallaher.' Y

MR. GENSLER: Rcss, can you tell me what
rages thdse SrE?

MR. ARMSTRONG: It starts on page 28 of her
report. : |
Thereupon--

SUSAN KALLAHER
was called as a witness by the Staté, énd having been
first duly swo;n; testified as follows:

MR. GENSLER: Your Honor, before we start,
can I literally take 30 seconds to get a drink of
water? My throat is just killing me.

THE CQURT: All right. That's fine.

MR. GENSLER: Thank you, yocur Honor.

{Discussion off the record.)

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
©.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (0064
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'THE COURT: All right. Mr. Armstrong, you
may begin.
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

Q. Please state and spell yﬂur=ﬁame for the
record.ll

A. Susan.Kallaher, 8-u-s-a-n, K—a;i—l—a—h—e—r.

Q. How aré ycu-employed? |

A, I'm emplayed:by.the State of Nevada with the

Division of Mental Health and Environmental Services
as a service coordinator.

S, And how long have you been éhere?

A. Just a liﬁflg over three years.
Q. What type cf_éducation_do you have?
A. ° I have undergraduate and graduate degrees in

rehabilitation and counseling.

é;.l-Can you exﬁiéip te the cbuiflwhgt you do. at
work? | |

A, As & sBervice coofdinatar we do not prowvide
any direct services. We help to ensure that our

individuals receive the services that they should be
getting and reguested services. So we help them
access community resources.

Q. What type of individuals do you help?

A. Persons with developmental disabilities.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-97175
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (0065
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Q. Are you familiar with someone by the name of

Tamyra Alexander?

A, Yes.

Q. How dg you know her?

A. She's on my caselcad.

Q. How long have you known her?

B, Since January of 2010.

Q. And since January of 2010, how often do you

have contact with her?
Al A minimum of one time per month, one or more

times per month.

0. When was the last time you had ;ontact with
her?

:ﬂ. This morning.

Q. When_was-the last time you had contact with

her in a professicnal --

A, Prior?

Q. Yeah.

A. To this morning? That would have been last
week.

Q. and what did you do with her last week?

A, Well, I just talked with her about her

placement, where she was living, how things were
going. Her life has changed dramatically so she

hasn't been able to access community resources like

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775})727-97175
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 88041 0066
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she used to and participate in activities as she was.

0. As part of your work there are assessments
that are done to individuals to determine if they
ﬁualify?

A. Well, in order to receive services at Deseft
Regional Center, there is a standardized procedure
that is completed through an intake department. And

that is what they do is they're seen by a licensed

'psychalagist»_

As part of my position I do not combiete any
tééting'bﬁt I complete annual sobial aésessmehts to
see where they'ra at, what.gcals_they would like to
help e whét goals the? would like to achieve within
the next year.“

Q. . .And have there been assessments of

Miss Alexander's capacity, mental capacity?

A.  Yes.
2P And what type of assessments have been done?
AL Thoss assessments were IQ tests that were

completed for her eligibility for Desert Regional
Center.
2. And what is the IQ that you have to have to
be' eligible for?
MR. GIBSQON: Your Honor, I'm going te object

at this time. This witness 1s nct gualified to

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-8775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA BS04l 0067




10
Al |
12
13
14
15

16

T

18

1%

20

21

22

23

24

5

&0

answer. BShe's not been gualified as an expert in
this area. She stated before that she doesn't even

give the tests, she just writes put -- does

overviesws.,

And without having a registered, or, excuse

'mgf a licensed psychologist or psychiatrist that does

this specialty, then anything that she said would be
hearsay and she's not qualified to testify to.

MR. GENSLER: ' I'd join in the objection,

‘your Honor.

THﬁ”codRT: All right,

MR, ARﬁETRﬁNG: - ¥Your Honor, the'qﬁestion was
is there a rénée of IQ that makes someone eligible
fﬂr.tﬁe program. .I haven't asked her what
Miés'ﬁlexandef;g IO lévél is or anything like tﬁat.
I'm jﬁét asking hef-ifzshe knows in oraér_td get into
a prograﬁ what's the IQ levéllﬁﬁd“have to have.

| MR. GIBSON; Still it borders on expertise
that because wﬁe does she -- unless the prcpér
foundation is laid, this witness is not competent,
has not been made competent to testify that she has
knowledge and the ability tc make assessments or to
state what the protocol and procedures are.
THE COURT: All right. I'll sustain the

objection. If you can lay a little more foundation

DEBBTE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 83041 0068
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as to her knowledge and background in the proqram.
BY MR. ARMSTRONG: |

Q. Okay. What type of -- in addition to your
iormal aducatiﬁn,-what type of training de you have
for ydur posi;ipn?

B Well, training for my positiocn, I'm -- when

you apply for a job with the State, there are several

steps you gé to in order to qualify even for an
interview. . So you have to have years of experience
with perébns with dgvelopmental.disqbilitiES I
believe} |

Q. What did you do pricr to working for the
State? "

A, My ﬁi?e'yea¥s -— the.previouslfive years

before that I was going to school and I .was a

“stayrat—home mother. . Before that I wés.a'therépist

at a méntal haalth.-L for”a.mehtal Héalth fadility at
a facility in Georgia, prison facility.

ﬁ.; And I believe you testified that there
has --.that there are certain intake requirementas for

where you are now?

A. Yes.

Q. What are those requirements?

A, Itm ﬁct in the intake department; however,
the IQ -- the 69 or below cor a gualifying condition

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, C2R #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0069
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so, which would be like a seizure disorder, perhaps
autism, to gualify for services with Desert Regional
Center.

@. ~Okay. &o in-order for someocne to get on

your caselecad, they would have to meet one of those

criteria?
A, Yes.
0. and Miss Alexander_is on your caseloadf
R, . ‘fTes, she-is. | -
Q. And are you aware of the last time she was
tested?
| A. Yes. .
2. Bow long ago was that?
A, 1996. February of 1984,
Q. ‘And have there been any new tests of dﬁctors"

éppointmenﬁé since this'whoie'thing_sgarted with
the =~ :

A. No.

Q. -- criminal justice?

End based on your assessments of her, are
there certain things that she's capable of doing and
certain things she's not?

MR. GIBSON: I'm going to object, Judge. 1
don't believe she stated she did assessments. I

think she did work with other people's assessments.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #1169%1, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (070
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That's my undepstanding anyway.
MR. ARMSTRONG: I can rephrase, your Honokr.

THE COURT: All right.

'BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

Q. ‘Based on Yéﬂr interactipﬁs with Tammy,
expiaih whaf-kind ofiypur'typical_inté;action with
Tammy might be. I

. - Well;-I-alwafs_see-Tammy atlwork; .She works
in a shelter:ﬁorkshep here in town. ﬁnd we talk
about, yoﬁﬁkﬁow, what ' things is.she.ablé to do, what
she_naadsfsuppart with and help her to'aééeaé '
resources in order to be suppm:tiva.in what she wants
to achieve and be as indepandent_as possible.

6 :Whﬁp are some of those things,tﬂat ahe éan.
do.ﬁn her ow% to be inaeﬁendant? | | | |
l::a‘ ifﬂéii} Tammy fan bathe indapendently. She
can comp and.étylg her hai;,:efeﬁfé éaciﬁl'cont;cﬁs

with friends, those types of things.

i, What types ¢f things are she incapakle of
doing?
A, She cannot utilize banking facilities. She

understands that money issues to make a transaction
but she weculd not be able to ccocunt the change. 8So
she would not be able to cook independently on a

stove or do her laundry without supervision.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (7753)727-97175
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2. What are safety skills?
A, Tammy's very trusting in nature so she would
be -- she can meet somebody and then that afternoon

or within minutes be willing to go with them, She
would kno% to dial 911 in an emergency and-evacuate
the hcouse in a fire, but she may go -- then just geo
with somebody she's never met. Bhe's very
vulnerable. |

Q. And are you inveolved in any sort of -- are
there folks on your caéeload that are totally
independenﬁ without guardians or do they all hawve

guardians? Is that part of your job?

B, Somé people do have guardians, some people

do not.
Q- Do you know if Tammy has one?

ﬂ._:'She.dpes-ha?é a guardian.

Q. And do you know who her current guardian 187

A, Yes.

Q. Who is that?

A. Shirley Trumble.

Who was her guardian prier to that?

0.
A. Michael Mack.:
2 and if he's the guardian, then would you

interact with him as well?

R, Absolutely. I would see him a minimum of

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-3775
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 83041 0072
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one time per year at our annual meeting, which
happens during her birth month, September.

MR. BENSLER: 'I'm sorry?

THE:WITNESS: “Septeﬁbar._ Her birthday is in
September, so ét a minimim I saw him every September.
BY MR. ARMSTRONG: " .

Q; Was theré eﬁer-a point where the two of you

discussed getting Tammy some counseling?-'

A. . Yes.
R What was that based on?
A. A review of her filé in which I saw that she

had received previous counseling and the success that

was reported by her employer during that timeé, and

tﬂe trauma that she-haé 5ustained previously with her

previous marriages.

0. - And what did Mr;fﬂack fhink abaut-gettiﬁg"
Taﬁﬁy.somé caunéeling?] | '

A. He said that he didn't have the time or the
money to take her to counseling and that anybody can
just sit and talk with Tammy.

MR. BARMSTRONG: Pasé the witness, your Honor.
THE COURT: Mr. Gibson?
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. GIB3ON:

Q. Yes. Is it Kallaher?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 83041 (073
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A. %1 Taler.

Q. Kallaher, I'm sorry. Miss Kallaher, you
stated you were a rehab counselor; 1s that correct?

4. I have a degree in rehabilitation

counseling.

G Bngd is that a B.A.7?7 B.S.7?
- B, A B.S.
e B.5., akay. Lo ydu have any degrees above

bachéior_ievel?”

LTS Yag,

Q.  What do you have?

A. I have a master's degfee in counselor
education,

(il

oL Dkay; ‘That's '‘an M.8. or M.A.

A, M, s '

Q. Cﬁuﬁgelor education. - So what is.coupselor
educaticﬁ?

A. In counselor education TEvE B department

within thé university and the college of education,
and underneath in the school I was at, the counselor
of education program offered thrée programs:
Rehabilitation cournseling, mental health counseling
and school counseling.

Q. Okay; And as a counselor your jocb is to

basically then help the subject integrate into

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #116%1, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 59041 0074
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smciety?
A. That is not the position I have.
Q. What is:——
A, The pogition I have is that of a service

coordinator, and as a service coordinator we do not

.provide: direct services.

Q. ~ You don't provide any testing?

A, DesértERegional Center has an intake
program, the intake department that will test, 1f
needed, if somathiﬁg has -- for eligibility -
detérmina;ion inﬁo our program. So we do have

psychelogists on staff but..

Q.' Thaere was a -- the last time she was tested

was when?
A. In 1956, ‘In February of 1996.
. February'iﬁﬁ. .Whafé w;s thét doﬁe?
It was done in Las Vegas. :

Q
A.
Q.: Ey whom?
A.

I'm not sure of the psychologist's name, but

it was through Desert Regional Center for eligibility

determination for our program, which is a voluntary
program.
Q. What is the advantage of a person being in

your program versus a person who might be at a

certain level where they den't gualify, say their IQ

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11651, RPR (773}727-9775
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was too high or they were more intelligent?

B, Well, people that are in our program r&ﬁuire
support in:aiﬁast avery area ofllife.

-Q- Right.

A. So that;ad%antage is that #e arae helping
them to access résagrces and to ensure -- 1f we see a

need, that we would recommend that naed;;hqwever, it

is up to that individual or their guardian to

determine if they're going to take the suggestions
and recommendations.’

Q. Undexrstood. So whaﬁ fou de is you make
recommendations and suggeations to the Euﬁject?

A, Uhfhﬂh..

Q. -Ihnd based uﬁon vour -- yoﬁrﬂjob is to make
sure that, érbvided_théy quaiiiy; that the people get
the_gerviceslyou feei they need? |

A. Yes, and help themlﬁake them aware of
community -- available community resources that they
may not know about.

Q. And again is it kind of like, by analogy,
say it was like welfare or SSI, you may have a
situation where you don't gqualify for certain things
because you make tooc much money, you're too
intelligent, you're too educated, so on and so ferth;

would that be fair teo say?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (076
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2. I don't understand the guestion.
Q. In other words, i1f a person met a certain
criteria and they were —-- say théir IQ level was

higher than avéraqe or that they didn't have any

seizure disorders or whatnot, then they would not

gualify for your...

A, Our program.
Q. Yeah, your program., Thank you.
A, Right. You have to qualify through the:

intaﬁe_department,_whiéh.is overseen by the licensed
psjchologists.

£ And in corder to quallfy for your program and
derive the benefits from your p:ogfam, you have to
have qua}iﬁied through cerﬁainucriteria?

A. Yes, éfaﬁdafdized criteria4.yesﬁ

g. - And s yoﬁ don't make tﬁosejstandardizéd
cfiteria, say if you're over or'unde:-qualified, then

you can't help them?

A, If_tﬁey do not guallfy for services, we
don't provide them just voluntary -- there are people
whe ~-— right.

Q. So in other words what I'm saying is i1f a

person came into your office and the testing was if
they were intelligent, they were able tc hold a

decent job, so on and so forth, then you would tell

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVALDA 89041 0077
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them that they are overgualified or that you
goEEanT L ==

A. I'm not sure what the intake department
tells them. They determine the_aligibility and they
send out I suppose a letter. You would have to ask
the intake department.

Q. And one of the a;;s that fou look at to
qualify in this matter Qeuld be a seizure disorder?

A. T don't determine eligibility. So Tamyra -

I didnrt determine her eligibility to the program.

Q. Who does determine the ellglblllty°
A. The 1ntake department at Desert Reglonal

Center.

'Q. Okay. And where is that? Is that Desert

Regicnal Center
B. In Las Vegas.
Q. Who is in charge of that specific

department, i1f you know?

Fio IT'm not -— I'm not sure. I don't work at
that office. I receive the case after it is
deemed —-— if they're eligible for services it goes to

committee and they assign the cases.
2 23 Somebody else gives the testing for the
proper criteria, correct?

A. Yas.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (078
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e and those tests are done under controlled
s

A. fhere's a standardized process.

Q. And duripg that standardized process, are

you familiar with the protocol, how those tests are

done?

:R. _No.,

Q. ., And the cnly-thing you really know, I mean
for practical purpcsésr is you get the bottom line or
the tést results that_soméone glse adminisﬁeied?

A, Yes;: -

Q. And again how long have you been familiar

A. . ' S8ince, January of 2010. .
i '47'Tamyra?
:EQLD; And you éaw-h;r qn'a monthly basis

since then?

A, Yes. Minimum of. 6ne time or more a month.

Q. I'm sorry? |

A. One time or more per month.

Q. And is theres ever any i1ssues about her
being -~ any of her prior marriages, does that work
intoe the <=

A, No.

Q. -~ program?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-8775
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0079
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I.

Q.

No.

And do you know dces she' have any children;

do you know?

A

Q.

Not that T know of.

" And do you know how many times she's been

married in the past?

A.

four.

5 P

.

report.

BY MR.

Q.

= o - S &

Well, that's a guestion. I believe it was

two. Last September Mr, Mack told me it had been

Why did you belleve it was two?

Because I had read thit in a previous

MR. GIBSON: Pass the witness.
THE COURT: Mr. Gensler?
MR, GENSLER: Thank you, your Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

GENSLER:

Whg?e_did you get your B.3. f[rom?
Emporia State University: .
Emporia?

Emporia, E-m-p-o-r-i-a.

Is that in Georgia?

Tt's in Kansas.

Kansas. And your M.S5.7?

Same.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #116%91, RPR (775)727-9775
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i Same. In your position as the coordinator,
¥ P

do you prepare reports?

A. res.,
6 What kind of reports do you prepare?
A. Annual soclial assessments and individualized

service plans.

Q.. And what did you prepare in Misslﬁlexander's
case?
A. We had our annual meeting, we go over

progress that she has made during the past year,

review any physician appointments, medications, has

there been any ilrncrease or decrease in levels of

fuhcticoning.
| é. And iﬁat all"éoes into.a report?
A, Yes. ' |
Q. ﬁnd doeé that"—-'L.have'anfénnﬁél social
azsessment. Whaﬁ was the-other one?
ﬁ. The indiéiduaiized service plan.
Q. Okay.l The individualized -- T assume the

annual sccial assessment is annual?
A. Yes, they're both annually.

Q. In her birth month?

A. Yes.
Q. So two reports in the same month every year?
A. Yes.

DERBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR $11691, RPR (773)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (081
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& Did you do one this year?
A. I did one in September of 2012.
Q. Did you, okay. And that's the -- so that's

the last one?

B. Ve,

Q. For that report, prior ﬁo that report had
Tamyxra told you anything about any illegal sexual
conﬁact with anybody?

A, Mo,

51 | If she had, that woula bave been in your

report, right?

A, Yes.

0 of course.l That's important, right?

A. . Yes. |

o] Prior to april 9th af.this fear, had she

told you anything like that?

H.- No.

. ﬁnd fou have a duty to repoﬁt that 1f she
does?

A, Yes.

Q. In addition to putting it in a report?

A. Yes,.

Q. What i1g == I'm a little confused -- what 1is
actually -- what actually is Desert Regional Center?

Is that a part of a state agency?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 83041 (082
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A, Yes.
Q. Is that a hospital?
A, No. It is a part of a state agency.. It's

a Division of Mental Health and Environmental

Services.
Q. Okay. S0 1tlsg =
A. We areua state agency.
Q. The same agency that you're in?
A Yaes. . |
'Q.. The same overseéing:agépcy?
A Yes.
Q'. When ydﬁ prepare a report, you use some

abbreviaticns in there, right? Forxr Example, what's
PCI staff?l -

A, Progressive choic¢s+ Thafké_the workshop
whéré Témmy wofks-hére in town. “

Q. Rnd.whatjs s¢? Is that you?

| A. Yes, sekvice coordinétqr.

Q. 8¢ you do some thorough reports because you
only do them once a vear; you want all the
information in there, right?

A. I am able to report what is told to me.

Q. And was September of 2012 the first one you
did on Tammy?

A, No.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-97175
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0. You've done them every year since you've

been in on her case or since she's been on your

caseload?
Al Yes.
0. Gid vou, ‘i yours report, indicate that Tammy

has a..long history of sreating lies, faﬁficatigna and
star#ééﬁ

A. Yesu

Q. and these lies range from little white lies

to-allegations qf'abuéé?

A. Yas-.

G ArHd she-received tounseling in the past for
that?

A. Yaa.

Q. . Did she also inform PCI that she had breast

A.. Yes.

Q. And ﬁaawreceivinguchamuthérépy?

A Yes

(31 That ‘was a lie,-right?

A Yes.

Q. Yeu;date;mined_ﬁh@;Mngp”tg_pgﬂnru3+:correet?
A. Yag-.

Qi And you expressed concern —-- OY concern Wwas

expressed that these attention seeking lies were

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA B9041 (084
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becoming more: elaborate?

AL Yes.
Actually --
Q. That's'fine, I'don't have any guestion on

that.
Did you receive information that Tammy had

given Peter a wedding band?

A. - When I was at the meeting, yes.

Q. Hers they married?

A, No.

Q. Whéf wés_that about?--ﬁny idea?

. fhere is i the} weré involved in &

relatlonshlp Lhat had developad at work

Q. Dkay. Rnd 50, she gave him a weddlng }:;a.nv.:l‘ir

A. That's wnat I was tﬂld yes.

Q; Were you told about anj sexual contact
between them?

A, No.

Q. And ‘you discussed with Tammy her
storytelling, corregt?

A. Absolutely.

Q. and she also was making threats to other
clients?

A. Yas.

Q. And spreading rumors about other clients?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #116391, RPR (775} T2T~28775
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0085
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I, Yes.

Q. And that was upsetting the other clients?
A.  Yes. _

Q. And Tammy ‘was told to stop that?

A. Yes.

MR.. GENSLER: Thank you. Nothing furthgr..

THE COURT: Redirect b} the stateé

MR. ARMSTRONG: Court's indulgence, your
Honor. i .I .

THE CQURT: ALl right,

EEDIRECT-EKEMENﬁTION

BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

= I just want to make sure. We talked about

Tammy's stories. I just want to make sure. ~In your

report you wrote that sincé the breast cancer one,
you had the diScussion with her, thése decreased

significantliy?

AL Yes.
s and that was prior to the current

allegatioﬁs fhat argse in this case?

A, Yes.

Q. And in your experience with her, when it is
explained to her the importance of telling a truth,
which is a lie, what does she do?

B She will redirect and tell the truth.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (086
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Q. I just want to make sure I got this ccrrect.
Based on your interactions with her and hér
sligibility for your raquirements; she reguires some
sort of external support? She can't do it on her
own'? |

A. . Absolutely.

MR . hRHSTRdNG: No further guestions, your
Honor. .

THE CDURT: Hnythinq else, Mr. Gibsoa?-

MR. GIBSON: No, your Honor.

THE COURT; . Mr. Gensler?

MR.. GEHS;ER: T have=one-of two follgw-upé.l

 RECROSS-EXAMINATION

- BY MR. GENSLER:

. S0 whéﬁdyou catch her in.a:lie and you talk

to her abggt it;ntheﬁ she'telis the truth for a

while?
A, Right.  She tends to wax and wane.
Q. And then you'd catch her in another one,

talk to her about.it then she tells the truth for a

while? .
A. That's my experience.
g, Okay. Have you had any experience 1in

whether they're getting more significant, the level

of kying?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-8773
P.0O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADR 89041 0087
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A. No. TEws s

Q. We}l, you did this (indicating), ebb and
£low?

A. She tends to tell lies and then she
redirects them and she'll -- she is a little child.

Her mental capacity is that of a little child s¢ she

is redirected and'theﬁ she goes and then ShE'Willl

test the boundaries again.

A

E

> 0 ¥ 0 PO DO

BAnd it's being attention seeking?
Many times, yes.

and who's she staying with now?

8he is in an emergency respite placement.

Do goﬁ kriow Bruce and Ellen?

I'm sorry?. I |

Do you know B#ﬁce aﬁd Ellen?

I have met them once I beiieve;
But she's not staying with them?
No.

MR. GENSLER: ©Okay. Thank you.
Thank you, yocur Honor.

MR. GIBSONWN: I have a follow-up on

Mr. Gensler's guestioen, Judge.

THE CQURT: On Mr. Gensler's guestion?
MR. GIBSON: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #1169%1, RPR (7T5)T27=-87715

P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (088
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RECROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. GIBSONE

ﬁ. You stated. that. -= I.think your term was wax
and waning. for =- 1s that a:yesﬁﬁ T'm Sorry. Sheis
taking it all'doﬁn.

A. Yes.

0. And would you, if asked fo give an opinion
based upon your observaticns and your eﬁperience
through your jéh and your tfaining -

MR. BRMETRDNG: Objection, your Honor. He's
going to ask fdf an opinien. He's alfeaﬂy stated --

Mr. Gibson has stated she's not an expert, ahe can't

give an opinion.

Mﬂ; GIBSON: Well, she can give anlop;nion
on her;ékperiences. Police do it all the time.
They're not éﬁpe;ts. e

. THE COURT: Mr. Gibson, yogffe the one that
raised the gquestion that she couldn't testify to when
you wefe asking her about the IQ and whether or not
she was gualified to be 1n the program.

MR. GIBSON: Fair encugh.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. CIBSON: Save it for later.

THE CQURT: ‘Rnything else?

MR. ARMSTRONG: No further guestions, your

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (089
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Honot.
THE COURT: This witness may be-excused?
MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes.
THE COURT: Thank you.
MR. ARMSTRONG: Detective Boruchowitz.
Thereupon--

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ
was called as a witness by-ﬁhe State, and having been
first duly sworn, testified as follows:
THE COURT: M:.-afmStang.
| DIRECT-EXAMINATIGN

BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

Q. Please state and spell your name for the
record.

A.  David Boruchowitz, E-oﬁf-ﬁFc-h—o-w-i—t-z.

Q. ﬁhat is your current ﬁccupation?

A. I'm a detective with the Nye County

Sheriff's Office.

Q. How long have you been with the Nye County
Sheriff's 0ffice?

A. Bpproximately seven years.

Q. Have you ever been involved in an
investigation dealing with somecone named Tammy
Alexander?

A. I hava.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR 473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (090
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Q. As part of that investigation, was she given
a pseudonym?

A, :Sha Wwas.

Q. And what-is;that?

A. Courtnéy.

Q. How did your involvement in this case begin?
A. I was called tojthe.5§fice to assist

Sergeant Jackson on a report of a sexual assault.

Q. What is Sergeant Jackson's first name?
.H. Kelly.

5., :What'did you do when you ﬁrrived?
A. * I met with her initially and then

subaequeﬁtly met with Tammy.

Q. What was the purpose of you meeting with -
Tammg?

ﬁ.- To asﬁartain the details of the allegatibh;

Q. Wﬁen yoﬁ weré -- how many interviews have

you done #ith victims in your timezwith the sheriff's
office?
A. Hundreds.
Q. Was your -- was Tammy able To coﬁmunicate
with respect of a 45-year-old woman to communicate?
A, She did not communicate age appropriately.
Q. In what way?

A, During my interview with her, often the

DEBRIE HINES, CCR %473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (0091
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interview was more like that of interviewing a

toddler.

Q. Bagéed on your interview with Courtney, what

did you do next?

TRk AL went to the réSidence'of Miéhael Mack.
Q! Where was that residence?
A, pr'ﬁoth-Charlesgoh, ﬁon't_rememberfthe
numbers. | "
'  'Thatﬂs herélin Péhrump?.
A. Yés,'sif. _
Q;:..ﬁnd aboﬁg what time of ‘day did you

interview; do you recall?
E. + was in the early morning. Piobably just
after midnight I believe.

Q. Ad based.on'your'inte:?iaw with CQUrtneyf

“what questions did you ask him?

A, .Iﬁitially"--’
MR. GIBSON: Objection, foundation. We
don't have a date and place. |
THE CQURT: Sustained.
BY MR. ARMSTRONG:
Q. What date was this involvement on?
A, The 10th of April.
Q. and. did you -=-

MR. GENSLER: Your Henor, can I ask for

DEBRIE HINES, CCR #4473, CSR #11691, RBR (775)727-9775
P.0. BOX 4546, PRHRUMP, NEVADA 85041 0092
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clarification? Can I ask him a volr dire question
just to clarify this date?
THE COURT: How do you want to q}arify it?
He said it was iﬁ the early morning hours just after
midnight én thé 10th éf Aprll. How much.more clearer
can that be? |
MR. GENSLER: Well, I'm not sure if he's
talkgﬂg —-- the question was vague thaﬁ.- I'd object
to the gquestion.
THE COURT: OQOkay. Go ahead.
| VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION
BY MR. GEI'-]_SLER:
Q. Did feﬁ meet with Tammy on fhe 10th?
_ A, I'd'havg to double-check ﬁy repprt-”:I
believe I mgt.with hefncﬁ'the 9th.
Q. You met_wifh her on the 9th and you met with
Mack on thé iDth? S -
n. That's correct.
MR. GENSLER: Okay. Thank you.
FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. ARMSTRONG:
Qs And explain to the court how your
questioning of Mack progressed or started.
A. Initially I simply inquired as to where she

was and as to her physical and mental capability.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-3775
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Q. What did -- where did he say she was?
A, He didn't know. She had gone to a friend's

house for dinner and he said he hadn't heard from her

since.
Q. What did he say about her mental abilities?
A. Throughout the conversation he indicated I

think it was between three and'four.yqarS'old is what
he said she was mentally. . .
Q. Did you ever confront him with any tfpe of
physiﬁal abuse?
A, I-&id. I.Donfronted him with that.
Q; Explain to the court how that happeﬁed.
Whaf type of abuse?’ |
© B I C@nfionted him with both the allegafioﬁs
regarding beating Taﬁmy.ﬁith a belt éﬁd thE'sexual
ailégations that she made against him.
i And what wés hig initial response to the
sexual stuff?
A. Deniéﬁ it completely.
Q. And did that change throughout your

interview or did he maintain that position

throughout?
A. No, it changed throughout the intexrview.
Q. How did it change?
A. Initially it progressed to that they gave

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 82041 0094
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massages to each other. it then went to oral sex
between them and progressed then to rubbing his penis
on her vagina.

= TS The'ﬁral'sex, was that her performing ofal

sex an him or him performing oral sex on her or both?

A He said her pérforming pral sex on him.
G Hhére did he say.tﬁat would occur?
A. Tt was in the living area of the residence

‘as well as his bedroom.

0, And did -= what, if anything, did he say
about any“véginaiasexéﬂ
A. He said that did not ogcur. He went on

often that for whatever reason he was fixated on

"thSicalipenetratibn.h He said that that.did'not

oceur; however, he ‘said that he did do the penis
rubbing on the, vagina, penetrafing-theriips only of

the-vagina.:

Q. So he did confirm that_he-penetrated the
1ips? |

A, Just the lips, yes, sir.

Q. bid that oﬁcur in the same place, here in

Pahrump at the residence?
A. Yes, at the Mount Charleston residence.
Q. pid you confront him about telling her not

to tell anycne?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR {775)727-9775
p.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUME, NEVADA 89041 0095
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A, Yes, I did.
oA What was his response?
A. He said that he knew it was wrong and that

he..didn't: want o get in trcnble s0 he had told her
pqt-to;tglléanymﬂe.

2. Do you recall ii he said that there were
conseq@encés if she did?

A, I'm not Sare I understand the gquestion.

Q. Okay. Did he just tell her not to tell or
was there some sortfof threat along w;;h that?

A. She had disclosed that he had threatened
her: however, I don't recall him confirming that he
had. | l |

Q. What, if gnyﬁhing, diq"he say about beating
her with a belt? . -

A, He denied fhat.

Q. pid he give jou a timeframe for when the
sexual contact happened, the oral sex and the
penetrating her lips?

A. Yes, within the last couple of months when 1
was interviewing him.

Q. Did he give you an estimation of how many
times-it occurred?

A, Numerous times. I -don't recall the exact

afmount. I think we finally agreed it had been

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-5775
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dozens, to the best of my memory.

g Based on your investigation did you collect
anything physically ffom the residence, like clothing
or:anything like that?

A, “Yes,lwe-colleated sémelof his clothing from
the washing machine. |

Q..  What clothing was that?

A. . I believe it was a pair of gray underwear.
Q. "_Eowrlong did your intervigw last?

A. ,f.&on‘t :éééll.

0. Do wyou recall_it just a few minutes-tﬁat he

went-from denying it tg admitting or did it take an
extended period of time?

8 I would say the entire interview was

-approximatély 45 minutes from start to finish.

Q. And other than being her brother, did he

“confirm any Dthernty?e of legal relationship between

the two?

A. Yes, he told me he was her legal guardiam,
thét he had taken that over from her parents when
they were deceased.

o Rﬁd did he say there was a reason she needed
a guardian?

A. Yes, he said she was not capable of taking

care o0of herself.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #4473, CSR 411691, RPR (775)727-9775
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Q. Did he say anything about her being capable
of underStanding consequences or just that she
couldp t take care of herself?

AL I do believe that came up in the intervlew,

‘however, I don't recal; his gxact response.

s But that in his -- and herbelieved she was
about a three- br-four;year-qld.level?
A, ?es.
- MR. GIESDNE _Objec:ion, your-Honorl
Specuiation:ta yhaﬁ my client-béliévéd.
| MR . GEﬁSLER: I'ﬁ'object'alsb as fé
speculation but also hearsay as to Mr. Quiroga.

MR. ARMSTROWG' T would just say, your

- | Heror, Detertlve Bcruchow;tz prevlously testlfled

that Mack told blm that her mental canac1ty was ab&ut
three ox four years old

THE GOURT: Correct¢

Mﬁ. GiBSOH: Cﬁrrect, but he can‘t-say what
my client believed or didn't believe because how
would he know?

THE COURT: It was a statement that he made
during the interview., I don't think there was
anything that was said about Mr, Quiroga during the
interview. He didn't even talk about it.

MR. GENSLER: No, but Detective Boruchowitz

DEBBTE HINES, CCR #473, CSR $11691, RPR (775)727-9773
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is testifying about a statement that Mr. Mack made.

THE COURT: Correct.

MR. GENSLER: And an opinion that he haé,
which the statement is ;dmié;iblé againat Mr. Mack,
it's noﬁ admiséible agaipst ﬁr. Quircga.-

THE COURf:. torredt}

' 'MR. GENSLER: . And we've _also objected as to

his opinion, which may or may not be admissible

against Mr. Mack but dt"s certainly'not admissible
against Mr,IQuirbga. .
) _ THEZEOﬁRT:' G¢£rect.
MR. G@NéLER: Okay.
| THE COURT:l So the objection with :égard to

Mr. Quiroga would be Sustainéd. The one wi%h regar@s

to Mr. Mack .I'll overrule.

MR:'GENSLEﬁt Thaﬁk.ycu.

BY MR. ARMSTRONG: -

0. Did wvou ever-interview a Mr. Quiroga?

A, I did. | .

Q. When did you interview him?

A. That was later that evening, I believe Just

before 9:00 o'clock on the 10th of April.

Q. Where did you interview him?
A, At his residence.
Q. Do you recall where his residence 1s? 1In

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-3775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA £3041 0099
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general. I don't need a specific address or

anything.

A, Just down from Evergreen.

Q. -What'is Evergreen?

A. A nursing fécility here in Pahrump.
Q. Okay. And why did you gﬁ interview

Mr. Quircga?

A, The victim: contacted me affer she was aware
of the arrests ih th;s case and indicated,that
Mr. Quiroga had also raped her.

- Q. So 1t was af;ér that secoﬁdary contact with
the victim you interviewed Mr. Quiroga?

B That's correct.

Q. ' And did you confront him with the
alleéatians of a sexﬁal rélatidnship? |

R ¢+ I dig.

Q. And what was his réépbnse.ta that?

A. He initially indicafedlthat it ;aé just a
cuddling, kisgsing relationship; however, Qubsequently
he confirmed the sexual relationship.

Q. What type of sexual relationship did you
confirm?

k. He iﬂdicated that he had penetrated her
vagina with his fingers and that she had touched his

penis on more than one occasion.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0100
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Q. And was that touching with her mouth or her
hands or something else?

A. I'd have to look at my report to.refﬁesh my
memory. I apologize.

. And did Mr. Quiroga discuss with you

‘anything about her mental capacity?

A. Yes, he did.
Q. ' What did he say about her mental capacity?
A. . There was much conversation about it. He

indicated he was aware that Michael was her guardian

for reasons éf mental capacity. -He'aiso said that he
perceivead that she was much like a teenager mentally,
even referred tonfheir relationship as teenage l@ve.

Q. And did hgfgi§6'you a-timéﬁréme for when
they last had a sexual enccuntéf?

A,  Yes. ﬂe élsg'indicated thel;ast sévéral months.

Q. Hnaldid he séy how long .it had 1a5tad;nhgw
leng it had been going on? |

A, Yes,.he said it had been going on for guite
some time, back to when ﬂer parents wefe still alive.

Q. And the man you know as Mr. Mack who told
you about having oral sex and penetrating the lips of
Courtney's vagina, is he in the courtroom today?

A, Yes.

Q. What is he wearing?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PRHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (0101
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A, He's wearing the orange and white jail
jumpsuit.
MR. ARMSTRONG: Let the reccord reflect the
in-court identification of Mr. Mack.

THE CQURT: The record will reflect the

in-court identification of Mr. Mack.

BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

Q. And Mr. Quirega, same question, 1s he here
today? | |

A. Yes, _

i Okay. Can you point_ﬁo him and say

something hé's wearing?
A.I He's wearing a black shirt with a blue
Jacket over it. |
MR, ARMSTRONG: Would the court record
reflact ==
THE Cdﬂ T3 The.recbrd will reflect the
in-court identification of Mr. Quiroga as well.
MR. ARMSTRONG: Court's indulgence, your
Honor.
1'll pass the witness at this time.
THE COURT: Mr. Gibson?
CROSS-EXAMINATIOHN
BY MR. GIBSON:

g. Yes. Detaective, I believe in your direct

DERBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (773)727=-97175
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 83041 0102
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testimony you referred to Tamyra as at times having a
mentality of a toddler. I'm paraphrasing but 1s that
fair to say?

A, ' Yas, sir.

e Do toddlers o6ften use the word "pussy" in

' referring to the vagina?

A. I have had several victims of sexual assault
that did.
0. Okay. But she didn't refer to "pussy" to

_you, correct?

A. I don't recall. I'd have tc review that.

. And if it wasn't in your report, then odds
are it wquldn‘t -- you would not have -- that woxrd

would not have béen used?

fﬁ. It wguld.either-be in the report or the
trén%cript of the intérv%ew._' I |

Q..f'Right. I gﬁess-the absence thereof means
that she didn't say that word to yeou éver?

A, If it's not in the transcript, she did not
say that word to me, yes.

Q. Okay. What terminology did Tamyra use tO
describe male and femaie genitals?

A. I don't believe we geot into that. That was
the forensic interview is where that's covered.

Q. Did you ever locate a belt?

DEBEIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #1169%1, RPR (775)727-9775
D,0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 83041 (103
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No.
A fiowered belt?

I 4did not.

0 MR - S & C- =

or a belt of any kxind?

=

At the residence?
Rnywhére.

No.

-In this case.

No, I did not.

© PO PO

5 And .did Tamyra tell you tﬁat:she!was spanked
with,& belt at any time? |
B Yes.
d. .Did she describe the belt to-yﬁu?
3..";I-don't recall a @escrlption..
By Dkaft Did you Q?EI.lock fbr-it? .Did;yau
find it.relévant? l
A. Yéél_ We looked éf the_resideﬁce. I did not
find a belt.
1, B belt of any kind for her?
A, T didn't find a belt in her bedroom at all.
MR. GIBSCN: No further questions.
THE COQURT: Mr. Gensler?
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. GENSLER:

Q. Detective Boruchowilitz, in your profession

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11631, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 o104
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you reguiarly prepare reports, right?

B, I do.

L9 18 What's the purpose ol a report?

A, To document events.

Q. And it's impcrtant tb be accuﬁate, right?
A T L&,

Q. Sa you check and-douﬁla—check to make sure

they're acgurate?
l « A. Yes, sir.

Q. And in this qase_theré's gsome transcripts as
well becauée tﬂéra was soﬁe taﬁed interviews?

A, That's gcorrect.

Q. ﬁeré they prepared héfora you prepared your
report? | :
A, Mo, they were prepé:ed afterwards.
Q. 3 Sﬁ.yau.did npt rély on any transcripts in

the preparatiéh of ?ouf'report?

A, ‘No, I did not.

Q. But you relied on the interviews in
preparation of your report?

A, That's correct.

Q. What you heard you relied on but not what
was transcribed?

A, That's correct.

Q. Whenever Tammy talked to you about these

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775}727-2775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0105
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incidents, didn't she say, He put his penis in my
vagina?

. Like I testified, ; don't recall her
specific wording. That was the gist of what I took
away from the interview though.

Q. And we're talking about the specific words
though, and yéﬁ den't remember that. |

lh; No. 'I'd have look at the transcript to tell

you exactly what 1t was.

Q. Did you do that before you came to court
today? |

A, No, I reviewed my report.

Q. And did everything ih your rgpprt seeﬁ

accurate?

A, Yes. I didn't notice any inaccuracies.
Q. Have you ever reviewed the transcripts?
k. Yes. When they came back prior to sending

them to Mr. Armstrong, I browsed through them real
gquickly.

Q. Did you ever determine if they truly and
accurately represeﬁted what was on the tapes?

A. I saw nothing that was a flag that there was
inaccuracies.

Q. Okay. In your browsing you couldn't

determine t£hat?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR {775)727-9775
p.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0106
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A. © What's that?

Q. In ydur browsing of the transcript you
couldn't determine whether they truly and accurately
reflect what was sald? |

A. ' That's what I just said. I said I did not
notice any inaccuracies.

Q. I'm saying'in_brqwsing"that you didn't
notice any.inaccuracies?

By Tﬁat'slchrrect,'l did not.

Q. :¥ou didn't'stuﬁy them to determine whether
they'tfqu feflecféd-——

A. That's cofract, I did not study them.

0. Every interview that was conducted in this

casé was taped in some manner, either audio or video?

'R._ To the beét-cf my recollection I'EElievé}
they wg?alall recorded.

& P Evéty.intermiew you céﬂducted was taped?

A. T daﬁ't believe I recoraed my conversation
with the individuals that brought in the victim. I

don't believe that was recorded because I --

Q. I'm sorry.

A, That was in the front lobby. I don't
remember.

Q. And you didn't interview them, you just

talked to them?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-8775
P.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 (107
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» o P o » 0 P

0.

Just a conversation.

How many interviews did you have with Tammy?

Just one interview.

Oné that you had yourself?

fhat's correct.

How 'many did you have with Mr. Quiroga?

Just one as well.

~Okay. Those were both taped and both

transcribed?

A,

oD =

0 B oo PO

Q.

I believe so, ves.

Did you examine Tammy?
Physical examination?
Correctk .-

No, siz,

What was she wearing when you saw her?

- I have no clue,

You can't remember?

No, sirc.

Didn't take any pictures of her?
Na, sir.

But as far as vou knhow an examination of

was conducted?

A,

Q.

A.

Yes, sir.
In Las Vegas?

Yes, sir.

her

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9715
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yet?

A,

Q
A.
Q.

Have you got the results of that examination

I have not.
Did you get any preliminary results?
I have not.

Was she examined by anyone before she was

taken to Las Vegas?

A.

I don't believe so, no, sir,

D ‘S0 Sefgeant Jaékson didn't do an
examination? |

A. No, sir.

Q. .. When you interviewed Tammy, she told you

where the belt would be, right?

A,

g

I don't recall specificaliyﬁ

You ddn't;recail her saying it would be

laying on the bed in her room?

A,

f don}t récéll where she said it would be

specifically. I do believe she said it was in her

room but I don't recall at that peint,

Q.
FL

0.

She wasn't wearing it --
No, sir.
-~—- when you met with her?

You don't have a copy of the transcript with

you ¢f any of the interviews?

A,

Na, sir.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11651, RPR (775)727-9775

F.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0109
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Q. But it's your testimony today that on
Mr. Quiroga's interview and in that transcript he
said that he penetrated Tammy's vagina with his

fingers?

A. . I don't recall his exact'wording, if that
'was'hia_wqrding or not. i can look at the --

Q. Well, you testified you said that's what he
said? _ .

A. " Right., I dqﬁ't recall if that was his exact

wording or not.

Q. So you can't tesﬁify_here one way or tha
other whethef he said that he penetraﬁédlher.vagina?
| A. Yeé, I believe he said he penetrated with
his fingeré. I can.loqk at my report ahd refresh my
mémorf to.thé'éxtéﬁf'of that .

| Q;*”_Dkéy. " Do you have it?
A, . & do,: " |
MR.lGENSLER: Can he loock at his report to
refresh his recoliection, yéur Honor?
THE COURT: That's fine.
THE WITNESS: I'm ready when you are, sir.
BY MR. GENSLER:
Q. Ckay. <Can you refer me to a page?
A, Page five of my report.

MR. ARRMSTRONG: Page nine of discovery.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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- MR. GENSLER: Page nine of the discovery.
Thank you.
BY MR. GENSLER:

Q. _.ﬁkay.' Where are wa 1D§king?

A. | Halfﬁay down says he stated that he's
fingéred her at his apartﬁént on North Blagg Street
Hpt he did ndt-have sex with her-because he could not
gét an ;rection.

Q. Okay. - And by-"fingéred" you take that to be
penetrated?’

A. Yes, based on fhé intervieﬁ, dgain this is
not a direct.qucte-frOm nim, the transcript would

show the exact gquote, but based on what he did say to

mea, that was the reference.

Q. Do you see a differenée bg#weeq fingered;and
'penét;atéd? - T |

R; iNo, sir.

0. Did you see aldifferenée Eefween touched and
fingered?

A. Yes, =ir.

Q. Do you see a difference between touched and
penetrated?

AL There is a difference; however, they're

often the same.

. Ckay. But there is a difference?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR $#473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0111
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A. ‘Betwéen touched and penetrated?

0. Yeah. 1I'm just wondering if he said touched
in the interview why you would use fingered in your
repcft and penetrated on the stand?

A. I'm not sure. I'd have to look %t the
transCript.to see exactly wha£ he said to lead me to
believe that. |

Q. You don't have that here to look at?

A, I don't.

MR. ARMSTRONG: I have one, if you'd like
him to. | |
MR. GENSLER: .I'd like him to point cut to
me where he said that.
MR. ARMSTRONG: Sure.
" MR. GENSLER:' whefé Hf. Quiroga sa;a that.
MR. ARMSTRONG: May I approach, your Honor?
THE COURT: Yes. |
MR. ARMSTRONG: It's page 50.
BY MR. GENSLER:
Q. For the record you're reviewing a copy of

the transcript that Mr. Armstrong just gave you,

right?
A. I am.
Q. Does that appear to be a true and accurate

copy of the transcript that you've seen previously,

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RBR (775)727-9775
P.C. BOX 4546, PAHRUME, NEVADA 89041 (0112
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just by browsing it?
A. I believe this is a transcript of Mr. Mack.

mR,'ﬁﬂmsTRcNG: I'm sorry.
'Mﬁ- GENSLER: Good thing I asked.
MR. ARMSTRONG: Tff this oné. Page SD.
THE WITNESS: A1l right. |
MR..ARMSTHONGf Your pgge 50 on the upper

right-hand cotner.

THE WITNESS: . Right.

BY MR. GENSLER:

Q. For the record you're now réviawihg a
transéript that .is Mr. Quiroga's purportedly?
Y il Yem, air. |
Q. I* éppéarg to be a Frue-ahd accuraté copj of

the transcript_you-p:éviously're#ieﬁed?

A. To ﬁhe'bgst oflwhat I've seén_é@ far, yess
sir

Q. Dthef thaﬁ the bunch of Post-its it hasg on
iE7

A. Yes, sir.

a. And Mr. Armstrong referred you to a page,
right?

A. That's correct.

Q. What page did he refer you to?

A, He referred me to page 50.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
D.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0113
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Q. Is tﬁat t+he upper right-hand corner or the
lower right-hand corner?
ﬁ.. Upper right-hand corner, sir.
MR, ARMSTRO&G: Page ten also, Detective
Boruchowitz. |
THE WITNESS: That's what I was looking at.
MR. ARMSTRQNG: Page nine and ten.
TEE WITNESS: I'm ready when you are.
BY MR. GENSLER: | .

Q. Did you find it?

AL Yes. '
Q. Okay. Where can I look?
B Page nine on the bottom.

MR. RRMSTRONG: Page 143 of discovery.

BY MR. GENSLER:

. B 8o page nine of the ﬁransbript over to page
ten? .
A, Yes, sir.
Q. And so yvou tock -- this is a correct

recitation of these guestions and answers? BAnd
correct me if I'm wrong, but you topk this to say
that Mr. Quirecga said that he penetrated Tammy with
his fingers, this part I'm going to read? And
correct me if I get the wrong part. Starting at the

bottom of page nine it says, Okay -- this is you.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
p.0. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 839041 ~ 0114
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Okay, she's saying that you put your fingers in her
vagina. @&And then the answer is, Oh, yeah, I touched
her. Then your question was, Okay. And the answer
was, T touched her; yeah. And you took that mean he
placed his fingéré in her vagina?

A Yes. ' I tock saying "yes" to the’fact that
she said he put hisifingers in her vagina an
affirmative résponse.

'Q. éc yqﬁ tétally disregarded the "I touched
her".explanétiﬁn of-;t? |

IA; T did not disregard that. That 1is in direct
response o puttigg his fingers in har vagina.

Q.. And he sajs, 0h, yeah, I touched her?

A, That'é;cb;rect. n

g = 8 :Hnﬁ'fhat ﬁeans that he's.agreeing with what
you said?

A.  Ii don't know of neo way that you wouid take
that. '

& Okay. But that's the only part that you.can
point te?

A, The reference, page 50 that Mr. Armstrong
had me locok at, is a follow-up to that line of
guestioning.

Q. Well, yeah, it's a follow-up of you again

trying to get him to say that he put his fingers in

DERBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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her vagina but yet all he would acknéwledge was that
he touched her, correct? |

A. I wasn't trying to get him to say anything,
sir. |

Q. You weren't? You weren't trying to get him
to coﬁfess? _

A, Nb,-I wag simply trying to get the facts

from him as to what occurred.

0. ° 8o you don't do that, try to get people to
confess?
g That's what I said, I'm trying to get the

fécts ffém him, not trying to get him to say
something specific.
.Q{-'.But I'm asking you, yod don't try teo get
pecple to'émﬂfess?_ |
| A. Yeﬁ; I just éaid_that. E trf,ta get the
facts from pésplé, | | |
Q. Yes or no, dﬁ you.try to get pecople to

confess?

A Yes.

i Qkay. 1It's not that hard. And --
A. Hot often.

Q. In this case you were trying to get

Mr. Quiroga to confess, yes or no?

A, Yes. That's my Job.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11651, RFPR (775)727-97175
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Qkay. &nd in doing that you can lie, right?

A, I can.

Q. and yﬁu do?

A. I do.

Q. Regularly?

A. Quife often.

Q. Often, right?

M Yes, sirf

Q. But you can't lie in court?

A, That's_correqt.

Q. Okay.  We know that because you've taken_aﬁ

cath?

A. Yas, ﬁir.'
'Q."_Hnd so do you lie when you talk'to_victims?
A. ﬁ%t on % regulaf basis. I,don'f“know

specifiéally a case that I can say.

s In this case you told Tammy that you would
not lie to her, correct?

A, I don*t recill if I told her that.

Q. Do you want to look at that transcript?

A. 1 can i1f you want me to.

Q. You can't recall anything, you might as well
look at the transcripts.

Do you have a copy of that one or should 1

glive him mine?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR $11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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ME. ARMSTRONG: {(Complies. )
BY MR, GENSLER:
Q. And I can refer you to a page. Try 32,
MR. ARMSTRONG:  What page of discovery is
that?
MR. GENSLER: 39 towards the bottom.
THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, I did tell her that.

BY MR. GENSLER:

Q. Qkay. Is that a truth or a lie?

A, Itdén'ﬁ recall any specific lies that I told
her. | |

Q. So that was the truth?

A. To the best of my memory .
Q- Is it hard to remember whether you're

telling the truth or not?

AL No, sir.
0. Is it a truth or a lie?
A, I don't recall lying. I'd have to review

the entire transcript, sirc.

Q. How about in reports, when you prepare
reports, those have to be true too, right?

A, That's correct.

Q. So interviews you don't have to tell the
truth but reports and testimony you do have to tell

the truth?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-97175
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A, Yes, sir.
Q. And yéu have no trouble with that line?
| A. No, "sir. |
e} I asked you briefly == I askeg you a little

‘while ago, I'd like to go into it a little more.

Tammy went into Las Vegas for some medical testa?

A, Yes, sir.

@. And you said yvou don't have :any results back
yét?

A, I don't believe I've gotten them back, ng,
sir. o

Qs Do you have any kind of a timeframe that

you're looking at cor have you had any communication?
I know it's compound but;_-
) S | balieve ashe ﬁent to UMC,'and I haven't had

one there in a while but they're usually about thrée

to four months behind inlgefting the paperwork to us.

4 And she tol& you that she:had sex with
Mr., Quiroga the day before, right?

A. No, I dqn't believe she said she had sex
with Mr. Quirega the day before.

Q. Did you retrieve a calendar from her home?

A. 1'd have to look at my report. If I
retrieved it, I definitely photo'd it.

0. You definitely what?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0119
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A. Photographed it.

Q. S0 you saw a calendar?

A. Yes, sir.

c. And.she told you about that and it was

important, right?

A. Shé did tell me about that, yes, sir.

Q. You felt it was important, that's why you
locked foxr 1t?

A. It was impoﬁtant to look for it; yes, Sic.

Q. Do 'you know 1f it was 1mpcrtﬁnt to retrieve
it or not?

4. No. Once it was —--= once i viewed it, the

importance was not nearly as significant.

Q. What was it, a 2013 calendar?
A. Tt was.
Q. If you didn't retrieve it, what did you

photograph?
&; The calendar page.
Q. Every meonth or is it just all on one page?
A. The only page that had markings on it.

0. Do you know what month that was?

o

It was the current month.
. and that was April at that time?

Yes.

2 X O

And that was on April the 10th?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11631, RPR (775)727-8775
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. So¢ you didn't leook back at March? February?
January?

. Those gagés were:nof there,

0. They'd already been fipped OEE?

A,  Yes, sir.

Q. ¢ Have.yqu hgd any communication with anybody

at. the, for lack of a better term, the lab that
conducted the foreﬁsic exéﬁination'of Tammy?

'ﬁ. .Itzwas actualiylat the_University Medical
Center, and I'm aééuming yoﬁ“re ééking after the
exam?

Q. Right. After the exam was conducted, did
yoﬁ télk.to anjbody, eithﬁr.at UMC,'ngrseé, dpcto:s,
lah.tadﬁniﬁiahs where thé ;esdlt$ or_tﬁe é#idancg
wcu;dﬂhaVe'béén_sent to be anélyted?z g

A. I déﬁ't be;ieve I've had any ccﬁfact with
any of theﬁ sinqé then,.no, sir.

Q. As far aé you can reéall vou had no
discussions about those results?

A. No.

G And would UMC conduct the tests or the
analysis or would that be sent to a crime lab?

A. They do the physical examination, collect

any evidence and send it to the Las Vegas crime lab.

1
)

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #1169f; RPR (775)727-9775
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Q. So that's Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department forensics laboratory?
L. Yes, sir.

MR. GENSLER: - All right. Thank you.

-thhing further.

THE COURT: Any redirect by the State?
REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. ARMSTRONG:

0. Quick question for you, Detective

Boruchowitz. Do you recall asking Mr. Quiroga if he

‘knew if Courtne?_ﬁas capable of grgasming?

A. I did ask him that.
Q. And do you recall what his response was?
A. I recall he said several times that she

liked it, but I don't recall if -he specifically
answered that question.
Q. Okay. .Would if refresh your recollection to

look at the transcript?

A. It wou;d.

c. Go ahead and take a look at the bottom of
page 49.

A, I'mn ready when you are,.

B[ Okay. Do you recall if you -- if he -- what

he said in response to your guestion if she was

capable of crgasming?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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A. . He said vyes.

Q. And then you went into the guestioning about
the finger?

A. Yes, =ir.

ﬁ. ékay.: And what did he say about -- in
response to yvou asking him_about puttiné the finger
in 'her, what did he éay?

A. He said she veml s 1iked b

Q. I just want to clarify one thing. You had
one formal interview with Tammy; is that correct?

.'R- Yés,_sir. : I

- Q. ﬂnﬁ theﬂ.you had a phone conversatlion with
her later ébout Geprgﬁ?

A. Yes, sir.

-Q. - And _that phoﬁe converﬁatian is not --
there's nd”tﬁanscript of that or a racordingﬂof.thét?
e ﬁ.l Riéht. Thaﬁ was not an interview at all.
She called, I answered the phone, took the
information and made a referral.

ME. ARMSTRONG: HNec further questions, your
Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Anything else for
this witness?

MR. GENSLER: Yes.

¥You got anvthing?

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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MR. GIBSON: No, Judge. Thank you.
THE éOURT: All right.
RECROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. GENSLER:

Q. Where did you see Mr. Quircga say that he
put his finger in her and she really liked if?

A. The question was asked 1s what his response
was,land itfs on ﬁage 50. He said, You know it's
something she very -- you know, and she -- it's
sﬁmething-éhe enjoyed very much, He said, you know,
sﬂe nsed to tell me apoﬁt it,'okay.

Q. So Mr. Quiroga told you that she told you

abéut == that she told him about it?
A. About ;eally liking sex.
Q.  Right. That's what he told you?
A. Yes,'sir. That's What T just read.
Q. When Mr. Armstrong asked you the guestion,

he said he told you that whén he put his finger in
her she really liked it and you sald yes?
A. That wasn't his guesticn, sir.
MR. GENSLER: Can I get a readback on that?
(Record read by the reporter,)
BY MR. GENSLER:
. Isn't that what I just said?

A. Ne, sir.:

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
P.O. BOX 4546, PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041 0124
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113 Okay. How is what I said different than
that?
A. Mr. Armstrong asked me what his response was

after my statement about putting his finger inside of

her, aﬁd his response was, She reélly liked it. That

was my response to those questions.

Q. IOkay. and that's somahﬁw gifferent?
ﬁ. ¥é3, sir.
Q. Okay. When you went theré to talk to

Mr. Quiroga, your intention was to arrest him, right?

& No, sir.
Q. S0 you arraéted him based upon what?
A. Probable cause after hisg cdnfgssion relating

tp_the.crimei : o S

‘0. ?b after he_éaid he fouched[har,.th;t was
your probébié Géﬁse? |

A, ~rﬁfter that entire ipterviéﬁg.yas; Eiru

Q. That's'why you arrested him because he said
he touched her? ” -

A. That's not the only thing he said.

Q. What else did he say?

A, The reference to he touched her was an
affirmative response about putting his finger inside
of her wvagina.

Q. Okay. Anything else?

DEBEIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11631, RPR (775)727-9775
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A. Yes. He indicated that she == that he knew
that she was mentally handicapped, she was incapable

of understanding consequences of the sexual

relationship.
O. That's in there somewhere too I take it?
A. Yes, sir.

0.  Okay. .Anytning else?

A. I don't recall every detail of the rest of
his interview, but based on her pﬁane call and his
interview, that's what the probable cause was kased
on.

Q. Okay. VWell, the phone call was before yon

interviewed him?

A. + That's correct.

Q. Didn{t_happen_§uringithe interview?

A. That's éofréqt.

Q. éo pased upon the phone call, you were gqing

over there to arrest him? Didn't matter what he

said?
A, That's not true, sir.
0. So 1f he would have said nothing happened,

you wouldn't have arrested him?
A, That's correct.
MR, GENSLEER: I have teo remember that cne.

Ckay. Thank you.

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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MR. RRMSTRONG: Nothing further from the

State.
| THE COURT: ALl right. THIS WItHasS may He
excused? |
_THE-WIfHESSE Thank you, Judge.
THE COURT: Any other witnesses for the
State?

" MR. ARMSTRONG: No, yuuf Honor. We'll
forego our fourth witnéﬁsﬁ
THE COURT: State rests?
MR. ERMSTRONG; State rests.
THE COURT: Anything from defense?

MR.:GIBSON: Not from my client, Judge. Apd

T éxplained to him his right to take the stand;

présent'ev;dence énd 1k s gy choice:nﬂt to do so
today. Thank you;

THE COURT: All right.

MR. GENSLER: And as to MQ.'Quiroga we have
no evidence to present at this preliminary hearing
either. He does understand that, as Mr. Gibson just
indicated. And as I indicated we have nocthing to
present here at this stage,

THE COURT: All right. Anything in closing?

MR. ARMSTRONG: Your Honor, I would just

note that for the cases that involwe a wvulnerable

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (7735)727-9775
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person or mental illness that a vulnerable person is
someone who suffers from a condition of physical and

mental incapacitation because of a devélppmental

"brain damage or mental illness.

And a person with mental illness is defined
as a person who has any mental dysfunction legading to
iﬁpairﬁént -- impaired ability to maintain himself or
herself or to function effectively in his or her life
sifua;ion withogt-external su§port. Other than that
I‘il reéervé for -rebuttal:.

THE COURT: All right.

BR- GIBSON: I'm going to submit, your

Honor. Anything I do in the future is going te be

trial related.

THE COURT: All right.

_HR. éENSLERE YogrrHonof, I don't have a
whole.lot_to argue about ‘at this time; but I. would
like you to conslder, as you do in every case, the
credibility of the witnesses. And what's.
particularl? important here in our case is the
testimony of Miss Kallaher who has the longest

history, I guess other than Mr. Mack, is she has the

longest history with Miss Alexander.

Ana she talked quite a bit about issues with

telling the truth and getting people in trouble and

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-97175
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teiling stories and lies, waxing and waning, when you
confront her about it she's okay for a while but then
she falls right back inte that pattern.

You have very serious charges against
Mr. Quiroga hére that are totally uncorroborated.

211 you have is the tégtimqﬁy of Miss Alexander
which, as Miss. Kallaher basically indicated, can't be
trusted élways.

So on'that T yoﬁld submit as well. Rnd.by
submit T ﬁﬁ not mean that I agfee'that all the
charges againétfﬂr. Quircga'éhoﬁld result in a
bindover, I merely submit it to the couit's proper
detérminatiPﬁ.

"MR. ARMSTRONG: Youx Honor, just a.quick

:ebuttal to :hat is Miss Kallaher also testified that

'ﬁhgn the victim undérgtands the importance cfvtelling

the truth, as I questioned her when the victim first
took the Stand, she undérstands,that she needs to
tell the truth. And that since the last episode that
had -- those cccurrences have significantly
decreased. Sc.I'd just submit on fhat.

THE COURT: All right. Well, bhased on the
testimony that I heard here today and what was
presented to the court with regards to this case, I

feel that the State has met their burden of proof

DEBBIE HINES, CCR #473, CSR #11691, RPR (775)727-9775
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with regards to that.

In additioen to the testimony of
Miss Kallaher and what shé had to say, there was also
the testimony of the detective:and the transcriptsl
that he related to that we went back and forth for a
long time over what was said in the trahscripts.

So I feel the State has met their burden of
proof with regar&s-to this case and I'm going to
order that botﬂ deféndants ﬁre bound over to the
district coﬁft to answer_td'said charges there., It
would be under district éourt casé number.

THE CLERK: CR 7444 A, May 17th, 2013,

9:00 a.m.

TQE BATLIFFE: Maék'ié remanded, Judge?

fHE COURT: Mr, Mack is remanded, yes.

.Court's adjcﬁrned; |

(Théreupon the_proceedings

were concluded at 4:27 p.m.)

* * * * e
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CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF NEVADA )
S38:
COUNTY OF NYE )
I, Deborah Ann Hines, certifieﬁ court
reporter, do hergb? mertify_thap 1 took down in
shorthand (Sfenotﬁﬁe} all of thﬁ pfﬁceedings had in

the before—entitlgd matter at ‘the time and place

indicatad;.énd that thereafter said shorthand notes'

were transcribed into typewriting at and under my
direction and supervision and the forégoing
transcript constitutes a full, true and accurate

record of the procgedings had.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed

my hand this 30th day of July, 2013.

IQM o JLM

Deborah Ann Hines, CCR #473, RPER
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8y F. DENISON

CASE NO.: \3 Q,{L 0\457( Q 1IHAY -8 PM 3: 16
DEPT& RECEIVED & FILED

IN THE JUSTICE COURT OF PAHRUMP TOWNSHIP
COUNTY OF NYE, STATE OF NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, MEDIA REQUEST ALLOWING

ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT
NG Vel

IN THE CQURTROOM
Defendant/

‘th\‘k ‘\}(\n\h S&C %’i/‘l\.\t\-\ of "(\W \J\‘ ol hersby

requests permission to

_ g [ D the proceedings on the above-entitted

: - 5#-.
case, in the Courtroom, Judge “t58% WAL KT presiding, on the == day of
\\hﬁh, , 20 V’) at the hour of \3} s } :

i negﬁ‘y that | am familiar with the Supreme Court Ruias 229-248 {inclusive) pertaining to

Cameras and Electronic Media Coverage in tha Courts. | also understand that this request must be
submitted 1o the Court at least twenty-four (24) hours before the proceedings commence unless good
cause can be shown,

It is further understood that any peoling arrangements necessitated among the media shall be
the sole responsibility of the media and must be arranged prior to caverage without cailing upon the

Court to mediate any dispuies.

DATED this kj&"“" day of }N&L\Q( , 20 \7_}
\ " 5% B W 511

Media Representiative Address/iPhone Numw \ (3:\
: A\

{

RECEIVED MAY 07 2013 0132
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PJIC Case No. 13CR01437 A
PIC Dept: B
DC Case No. CR7444A

COUNTY OF NYE, STATE OF NEVADA
| EEEEE
THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintift,

8 : " BINDOVER ORDER
MICHAEL ALLEN MACK,

. Defendant, /

IT APPEARS to the c:aurt that public offenses, namely, CDUNT I: SEXUAL ASSAULT,
violation of NRS 2{'.'0.366, A CATEGORY ‘A’ FELONY; COUNT II;: SEXUAL ASSAULT,
ﬁnla’ﬁpn of NRS 201].365, A CATEG{}RY ‘A’ FELGEY; COUNT 11 PR_E?ENTING OR
DISSUADING VICTIM FRQM R_EPORT]_NG CRIME, COMMENCING ERGSECUT10N
OR CAUSING A,RRIEST, violation uf NRS 199.305, A CATEGORY ‘D’ FE’LbﬁrY; COUNT
IV: UNLAWFUL CONTACT WITH PERSON WITH MENTAL ILLNESS, violation of NRS
207.260, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR; COUNT V: ABUSE OF VULNERABLE PERSON,
violation of NRS 200.5099, A GROSS MSDEMIFANGR, have been committed and it further
appears to the court that the defendant, MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, has committed the same.

It IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the defendant, MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, be and is
hereby ordered bound over to the 5™ Judicial District Court, and there held to answer to said

charge(s).
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendant, MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, appear in the
District Courtroom of the Nye County Government Center, 1.52'{1 E Basin Avenue, Pahrump, Nevada,
for arraignment on said charge(s) on Friday, May 17, 2013 at 9:00 o’clock a.m.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED th&_lt the defendant hé admitted to bail in the sum of N/A.

DONE IN OPEN COURT this 8" day of May 2013.

Kent J. aspeyaf /

Justice of tHe Peade
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Case No. CR7444A

The undersigned affirms that
this document does not contain
the social security number of
any persorn.

IN THE FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE -
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,

R INFORMATION

MICHAEL ALLEN MACK,

GEORGE QUIROGA and
ARTHUR ALBERT GATZKE

Defendants. /

BRIAN T. KUNZI, District Attorney within and for the County of Nye, State of
Mevada, informs the Court that MICHAEL ALLEN MACK and GEORGE QUIROGA,
before the filing of this Information, did then and there, in Nye County, Nevada, commit
the following offenses, to wit:

COUNT |

SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A CATEGORY 'A’
FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit: That ON OR
ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 9, 2013, in
Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant MICHAEL
ALLEN MACK did willfully and unlawfully subject another person, to wit:
NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, to sexual penetration, against the
victim's will, or under conditions in which said Defendant knew or should
have known that the victim was mentally or physically incapable of
resisting or understanding the nature of her conduct, by penetrating the
victim's vagina;
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COUNT Ii

SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A CATEGORY 'A'’
FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit: That ON OR
ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 8, 2013, in
Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant MICHAEL
ALLEN MACK did willfully and uniawfully subject another person, to wit:
NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, to sexual penetration, against the
victim's will, or under conditions in which said Defendant knew or should
have known that the victim was mentally or physically incapable of
resisting or understanding the nature of her conduct, by having the victim
perform fellatio;

COUNT Il

PREVENTING OR DISSUADING VICTIM FROM REPORTING CRIME,
COMMENCING PROSECUTION OR CAUSING ARREST, in violation of
NRS 199.305, A CATEGORY 'D’' FELONY, committed in the following
manner, to wit: That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10,
2012 AND APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada,
said Defendant MICHAEL ALLEN MACK did willfully and unlawfully
intimidate or threaten another person, prevent or dissuade a victim of a
crime or a person acting on behalf of a victim or witness from reporting a
crime or possible crime to a peace officer, prosecuting attorney or from
commencing a criminal prosecution or from causing the arrest of a
person in connection with a crime or hindered or delayed any such
victim, agent or witness in his effort to carry out any of those actions, by
threatening NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY” with negative action if she
reported the crimes he committed against her;

COUNT IV

UNLAWFUL CONTACT WITH PERSON WITH MENTAL ILLNESS, in
violation of NRS 207.260, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR, committed in the
following manner, to wit: That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN
SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye
County, Nevada, said Defendant MICHAEL ALLEN MACK did wilifully
and unlawfully have contact with a person with mental illness, to wit:
NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY", by physically and sexually abusing
her and thus engaging in a course of conduct which would cause a
reasonable person with mental illness of like mentai state to feel
terrorized, frightened, intimidated, or harassed, and did cause said
person to feel terrorized, frightened, intimidated or harassed;
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COUNTV

ABUSE OF VULNERABLE PERSON, in violation of NRS 200.5099, A
GROSS MISDEMEANOR, committed in the following manner, to wit:
That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND
APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said
Defendant MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, did willfully, maliciously and
intentionally strike NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, a vulnerable
person, with a belt; : '

COUNT VI

SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A CATEGORY 'A’
FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit: That ON OR
ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 8, 2013, in
Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said Defendant GEORGE
QUIROGA did willfully and unlawfully subject another person, to wit:
NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, to sexual penetration, against the
victim's wili, or under conditions in which said Defendant knew or should
have known that the victim was mentally or physically incapable of
resisting or understanding the nature of his conduct, by penetrating her
vagina with his penis and/or fingers;

COUNT VIl

UNLAWFUL CONTACT WITH PERSON WITH MENTAL ILLNESS, in
violation of NRS 207.260, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR, committed in the
following manner, to wit: That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN
SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye
County, Nevada, said Defendant GEORGE QUIROGA did willfully and
unlawfully have contact with a person with mental illness, to wit: NCSO
pseudonym “COURTNEY”, by physically and sexually abusing her and
thus engaging in a course of conduct which would cause a reasonable
person with mental illness of like mental state to feel terrorized,
frightened, intimidated, or harassed, and did cause said person to feel
terrorized, frightened, intimidated or harassed;

COUNT VII!

ABUSE OF VULNERABLE PERSON, in violation of NRS 200.5099, A
GROSS MISDEMEANOR, commitied in the following manner, to wit:
That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND
APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said
Defendant GEORGE QUIROGA did willfully, maliciously and intentionally
strike NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, a vulnerable person, with a
belt:
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All of which is contrary to the form, force, and effect of the statutes in such
cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity for the State of Nevada.
Witnesses and their addresses known to the District Attorney of Nye County,
State of Nevada, at the time of the filing of this Information:
DEPUTY ROBIN BECHT
NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE - EMILY SMITH
PAHRUMP, NEVADA 621 8. BLAGG

PAHRUMP, NEVADA
DETECTIVE DAVID BORUCHOWITZ

NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE SUSAN KALLAHER

PAHRUMP, NEVADA 3100 W. SAHARA AVENUE, SUITE
. 204 =

SERGEANT KELLY JACKSON LAS VEGAS, NEVADA

NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

PAHRUMP, NEVADA JANE DOE

, ' c/o NYE COUNTY DISTRICT
DEPUTY JOHN KAKAVULIAS ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE PAHRUMP, NEVADA
PAHRUMP, NEVADA

DETECTIVE MICHAEL EISENLOFFEL

NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

PAHRUMP, NEVADA |
DATED this 13th day of May, 2013,

BRIAN T. KUNZI .
NYE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

By /‘ZW’?{

ROSS E. ARMSTRONG™
Deputy District Attormey

0138




NYE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

P.0. BOX 39

PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041

(775) 751-7080

10

: s 8
{| At the Nye County District Attorney’s Office

12

13

14
15 .

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL

|, Jessica Cannon, Executive Legal Secretary, Office of the Nye County District
Attorney, P.O. Box 39, Pahrump, Nevada 89041, do hereby certify that | have served
the following:

INFORMATION in

5™ JDC Case No(s). CR7444A

STATE v. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK and GEORGE QUIROGA
upon said Defendant(s) herein by hand delivering a true and correct copy thereof, on

5' (5-1% _ t-o the following:

THOMAS GIBSCN, ESQUIRE
At the Nye County District Attorney’s Dﬁnce

Pahrump. Nevada

HARRY GENSLER, ESQUIRE

Pahrump, Nevada
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CASE NO. CR 74447

DEPT NO. 1

COUNTY OF NYE, STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff, TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

)
)
)
)
ve. ) ARRATGNMENT HEARING
MICHAEI, ALLEN MACK, )
= : e :
Defendant . )
)
BEFORE THE HONORABLE KIMBERLY WANKER,
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
1520 EAST BASIN AVENUE, PAHRUMP, MNEVADA 83060
ON FRIDAY, MAY 17, 2013

AT 10:13 A.M.
LPPEARARNCES:
For the State: Ross Armstrong, Esd.
Nye County Deputy Pistrict Attorney

For the Defendant: Thomas Gibson, Esdq.

Reported By: Tracy A. Manning, CCR No. 785
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THE COURT: Good morning, Mr. Mack.

THE DEFENDANT: Morning.

THE COURT: This is the time and place set
for arraignment in Case No. CR 7444A, State of
Nevada versus Michael Allen Mack. The record will
reflect the présence of Mr. Mack, his attorney, Tom
Gibson, ahd ﬁe have Ross Armstfbng on behalf of the
Nye County District Attorney's office and all
officers of the court.

Before we begin, there's a disclosure that
I must make in this case as the District Court
judge.

As ydu'know,?l am extremely active in this
community. I belong to many different community
organizations and participate in numerous community
events and activities.

T'm acquainted with Mr. Mack through my
community activities. Both Mr. Mack and T are
members of Kiwanis., In fact, although I was
introduced to Kiwanis by Linda DeMeo, it was
Mr. Mack who signed as my spconsor for membership.

I've also participated with the Fifth

Judicial Adult Drug Court at the United States

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 S. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 85138
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Department of Agriculture Food Commeodity Giveaway
through New Hope Path of Hope Church. And Mxr. Mack,
it -- was the coordinator th&ﬁ would come to drug
court to-recruit folks to help at those€ events. And
I have reférred to Mr. Mack in my drug court as,
there's ﬁy friend, Mr. Mack. Coordinate with him to
participate in dfué Eourt. _ |

I have never, hﬁwever, had any association
with Mr. Mack oﬁtside of community crganiéatibns.
I've never had a social or any other personal
velationship with Mr. Mack. I have had -- I have
no -- I had no idea that Mr. Mack even had any
relatives living in Pahrump, never been out to
dinner with him, never dome anything in a personal
relaticnship. Only met and worked with him as part
of my involvement in the community. ) |

The reason I am making this discloéure is
as follows: As part of the Nevada Code of Judicial
Conduct, Canon 2: A judge shall perform the duties
of judicial office impartially, competently and
diligently.

And there is a rule, Rule 2.11. Rule 2.11
says: A judge should disclose on the record that
the judge believes the party or their lawyers might

reasonably consider relevant to a possible motion

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-508-3121
7835 5. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89138
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STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK
Transcript, on 06/M17/2013 Page 4

for disqualification, even if the judge believes
that there is no basls for disqualification.

Therefore, I'm providing a full
disclosure. And in accordance with Rule 2.11(c) of
the Nevada Revised Code of Judicial Conduct, I just
want folks to know of that relationship. I don't
want there to be any question about this.

I do want to say this, though. This has
been a discussion among the District Court judges
and with the Supreme Court judges, recently returned
from the Nevada District Judges' Association. Aﬁd
one of the subjects of discussion was when a judge
should or should not disqualify them, when they are
required to make disclosures, when they are not
required to disclose information and when théy are
required to disqualify themselves.

Now, pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute
1.230 subsection (1), a District Court judge cannot
act in an action or proceeding if he or she
entertains actual bias or prejudice for or against
one of the parties to the actilom.

A judge cannot act in an action cor
proceeding when implied bias exists as a result of
any of the following:

(1) the judge is a party to or interested

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 . RAINBOW BLYD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89738
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STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK
Transcript, on 05/17/2013 Page 5

in the action or proceeding;

(2) the judge is related to either party
by consanguinity or affinity within the third
degree;

3rd, the Jjudge has been én”éttafﬁe? or
counsel for either of the parties in the action or
proceeding; or

(4) the judge is related to an attorney
or counselor for either of the parties by
consanguinity or affinity withiﬁ the third degree.

Similarly, Rule 2.11 of Canon 2 of the
Nevada Revised Code of Judiciai-Conduct provides
that a judge shall disqualify himself or herself in
any proceeding in which the judge's impartiality
might reasonably be questioned, including, but not
limited to the following terms:

(1) The judge has a personal bias or
prejudice concerning a party or a party's lawyer, oxr
personal knowledge of the facts that are in dispute
in the proceesding.

(2) The judge knows that the judge, the
judge's spouse or domestic partner, or a person
within the third degree of relationship to either of
them, or the spouse or domestic partner of such

pexrson is:

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-508-3121
7835 5. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89139
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STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK

Transcript, on 05/17/2013 Page 6

(a) a party to the proceeding or an
offi¢cer, director, geﬁaral partner, managing member
or trustee of the party,

(b) acting as lawyer in the proceeding;

(c} a person who has more than a
diminimous interest that could be substantially
affected by the proceeding; or

(d) likely to be a material -witness in
thé pfoceeding.

The judge --

Third, the judge knows that he or she,
individually or as a f1duc1ary, or the judge's
spouse, domestic partner, parent or chlld, or any
member of the.judge.s family residing in the judge's
household has an econdmid inﬁerest'in the subject
matter in controversy, or in a party to the
proceedlng '

{4) (sic) The judge, while a judge or a
judicial econduct -- candidate has made a public
statement other than in a court proceeding, judicial
decision or opinion, that commits or appears to
commit the judge to reach a particular result or
rule in a particular way in the proceeding or
CONtroversy.

(5) (sic), the Jjudge:

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 S. RAINBCW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89138
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STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK .
Transcript, on 05/17/2013 Page 7

(a) served as a lawyer in the matter in
uontroversy or was associated with a lawyer who
participated substantially as a 1awyer in the matter
during such association;

(b) served in governmental employment and
in such capacity... or opinion concerning the merits
of the particular matter in controversy; ”

{cjl was a material witness concerning the
matiter; or

| (d) previously presided as a judge-over
the matter in another court.-

However, the explanation goes on to say:

A judge need not disgualify himself or herself
merely due to an acquaintance with the péities
appearing in the judge's court

In fact, that's a Nevada Supreme Court
decision in Ray Varain, 114 Nevada 1271, 1276, 969
Pacific 24, 305, 309, 1988.

fn fact, disquaiification must be based on
facts rather than mere speculation. That is from
the Nevada Supreme Court, People for the Ethical
Treatment of Animals versus Bobby Bersosini,
Limited, 111 Nevada 431, 437, 894 Pacific 24 337,
341, it's a 1995 Nevada Supreme Court decision.

Rumor, speculation, beliefs, conclusions, innuendo,

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 S, RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89139
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suspicion, opinion and other similar nonfactual
matters do not ordinarily satisfy the regquirement
for disqualification. Citation is Rippo, R-i-p-p-o0
versus State, 113 Nevada, 1239, 1248, 946 Pacific 24
1017, 1023, 1997 case. Quoting United States versus
Cooley, whidh ig a 10th Circuit Court of Appeals
case, 1 F 34, 895 -- I'm sorry, 985, 993. Again,
it's the 10th Circuit case from 1993 that the cert
wés denied to the U.S. Supreme Court at 515 U.S.
1104, 1995.

Now, a Jjudge has a great obligation not to
disqualify-himself or herself where there is no
occasgion to do so és he or she has to do so in the
presence of valid reasons." That's Miller versus
Eightﬁ Judicial District Court ex rel County of
Clark, 122 Nevada 1245, 1253, 148 Pacific 3d, 694,
699. It'sla 2006 Nevada Supreme:Ccurt declsion that
held that a judge has a general duty to sit, absent
a judicial canon, statute or rule requiring
disqualification. City of Las Vegas Downtown
Redevelopment Agency versus Elghth Judicial District
Court ex rel County of Clark, 116 Nevada 640, 643 5
Pacific 34 1059, 1061, 2000. Noting the general
rule that a judge has a duty to preside over cases

to their conclusion in the absence cf a statute,

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
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rule, ethical standard, or other compelling reason
te the contrary. A judge or justice is presumed not
to be biased; and the burden is on the party
asserting the challenge to establish gufficient
factual and legal grounds warranting
disqualification. City of Las Vegas Downtown
Redevelcpment Agency, 116 Nevada, 543, 5 Pacific 3d
at 1061. Also Rivera versus Rivera, it's 195
Pacific 3d, 328, 338. It is a 2008 Nevada Supreme
Court decision. " And Millen 122 Nevada at 1254, 1255
and 148 Pacific 3d at 701. Again, Nevada Suﬁreme
Court decision holding that disqualification
requires an extreme showing of bias.

| Obviously I coﬁsidered_whether or'nc: I
wés requiréd.té recuse myself in this case. And
based upon my review of the Nevada Revised Statutes,
the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct and -- I believe
that my responsibilities and the Nevada Supreme
Court decisions in this area, I beliewve that my
obligation is to make that disclosure.

If -- I will be happy to continue this in
accordance with Rule 2.11(c) if one of the parties
wants to file a motion to disqualify me as the judge
in this case, and then we'll follow through with the

appropriate statutory regquirements.

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 S. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 897139

0148




STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK
Transcript, on 05/17/2013 Page 10

B B

S I+ R 45 B & U

10
ik
12
13
14
15
L&
)
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

But cne of the things that was discussed
with the Supreme Court justices and among the
district court judges is egpecially in the rural
communities, that you are Qning1ta have association
with folks in the community. And that, in and of
itself, while full disclosure is required, or is
highly recommended, and I think in thils case the

rule reguires that, it is not -- it does not mean

that one has an automatic cbligation to recuse

themselves.

I will tell you that I -- I do not have
any personal bias or prejudice in this case. This
1s no different than any other case. I do know
Mr. Mack from the community, and I want to make that
as a full disclosure. | |

8o Counsel, would yéu like to proceeﬂ?
Would yvou like me to continue this arraignment for
two weeks and'give the parties the opportunity to
file a motion to recuse me as the District Court
judge? What would you like to do?

MR. ARMSTRONG: Your Honor, from the
State's perspective, we appreciate the disclosure,
it's good to know the exact facts of the
relationshlp. We were aware there was some

knowledge between you and Mr. Mack.

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
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We would reserve the right to file a
motion for recusal given those facts and doing some
research on our own. So if you'd like to continue
the arraignment to allow the State to do that,
that's fine. Also, if you'd like to just go forward
with the arraignment today and then give us an
opportunity in the next 30 days to file a motion if
we deem it --

THE COURT: Here's the deal --

MR, ARMSTRONG: -- necessary.

THE COURT: I'm not g_oir'lg to waste
everybody's time. I mean, if you want to file the
motion, I've locked at it, I don't beliewve that I --
I have a bias of prejudice or am reqguired. But
nonetheless, you can follow the procedure but i
just continue it. And then I'll allow that.

Mr. Gibson, what's your client's --

MR. GIBSON: Your Honor, Mr. Mack is
comfortable with this Court hearing the matter and
we will be making no motion for any type of change.

MR. ARMSTRONG: The State may, Your Honor,
now that we have the full facts, we would just like
some time to think about that. I'm not saying that
we are, but we'd like to reserve the right to --

THE COURT: You definitely have -- you

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 S. RAINBOW BLVD,, SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89138
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STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK
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know, you definitely'haﬁe that opportunity to do
that if you'd like to do that.

S0, Counsel, would you like to proceed
forward today or -- I think under rule 2.11(c), I
think I -- what I will do is, I think what I do is
fésérve two weeks. I think you should be able to --
I don't have a'calendar this Ffiday, the 24th, so
it -- we could place it back_on the follcﬁing
calendar. ﬁcuid that give you sufficient time to
decide whether ar_noﬁ -- because I'm going to trail
the other -- I'm going to have to continue the
Quircga case along with it.

MR. ARMSTRONG: Correct. We will be able
to make a decision in two'weeks Your Honor.

| MR. GIBSON: Your Honor, i pfefer that we

just go forward now, and i they want to file they
carl. Eut they haven't even -- they'zre not aven
committed yet. They;re just -- it's an "if". And
all this is just going to be wasting judicial and
attorneys' time bringing thls thing back if we don't
need to. So if they file it, fine; then we do come
back. But I'd just as soon go forward now.

THE COURT: Actually, if they file and do
it properly, the case then -- for the sole purpose

of deciding whether I'm biased or prejudiced, then

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-5089-3121
7835 8. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89139
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it goes to another judge who makes that
determination. . If they find there's no bias or
prejudice the case comes back. 50 -- but I‘m happy
to go.forward. ' Is that what you would like to do,
Mr. Armstrong?

MR. ARMSTRONG: I don't have a problem
going forward with the arraignment at this poiﬁt and
getting somethiﬁg. And then if we file someﬁhing in
the next couple weeks we will.

'~ THE COURT: All right. Then let's go
forward. We'll go ahead and-do the-arra;gﬁment. I
guarantee you, if you waive your right to a speedy
trial you*re looking at a full -- at-leaat a full
year before this case is going to get on with my
‘calendar. | | . . |

. MR. GIBSON: Do we know if it's not
speedy, I mean, if we ihvcke speedy trial when it's
going to be? Because I know 60 days, it's ﬁever 60
days.

THE COURT: -It's never -- 1f we can
accommodate the 60 days it just has to them -- the
Nevada statute is 60 days, of course. What we'Ire
concerned about is the constitutional right to a
speedy trial. But I -- it will depend on the number

of days. And I won't -- if you guys have an idea I

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-508-3121
7835 S. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89139
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can give vou an idea.

MR. GIBSON: We're talking -- looks like
about two weeks, roughly. |

THE COURT: We're looking at 2014, I can
tell you. I mean, I have stuff quadruply set until
July of 2014. But we-il_ Bl ol Bty Gerie. So we
need two weeks, approximately ten days for trial?

MR. GIBSON: Correct.

MR. ARMSTRONG: Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And we're going to have a
change of counsel as well. Because Mr. Armstrong is
leaving at the end of the month.

MR. ARMSTRONG: Correct.

THE COURT: We'll find out, see what we've
got avallable. It'g scary when you pull uﬁ_your_
calendar and it's already all orange. Because my
calendar colors for the days;' And my calendar at
2014 is -- actually my calendar is colored clear out
to May of 2014.

You realize that you probably gave
Ms. Clifford a heart attack in Tonopah when you said
that you needed ten days. I know she's looking.

We have a big district. The Fifth
Judicial District is the third largest judicial

district in the country. And just for the folks in

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
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the audience that don't know, we have courthouses in
Pahrump, Goldfield, Tdnopah and Hawthorne.

And I have cne scheduling secretary in
Toncpah, Gerie Clifford, that has happened to be
with the judicial department for over 20 years. Aand
ghe runs all of my calendaring for Nye, Mineral and
Esmeralda Counties. 8So we're on line with her |
through instant messaging, through video and audio.
eéuipment. So she sits in during all of the court
sessions that I have to gilve court dates. Because
if we tried to do it down here it just wouldﬁ'ﬁ
work. If every one of my courthouses tried to set
trial dates. So we have one person who handles my
entire calendar; And that iﬁ and of itself is gquite
a chore. |

THE CLERK: Booked until September of
2014. ; '

THE COURT: We can't do it before
September of 2014, according to Gerie.

Can she give us dates in 20147

THE CLERK: September 15 through 19 and
September 22 through 26, 2014.

THE COURT: September.

THE CLERK: 15 through 19.

THE COURT: Okay, that's a Monday through

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-508-3121
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Friday, September 15th to 19th, and then
September 22nd to 26th, that's the whole next

- following week. We can set it for trial then.

Now, if you don't waive your right to a
speedy trial, I'm going to have to vacate some of my
calendar -- I'll just have to vacate my calendar for
a period of two weeks somewhere.

MR. GIBSON: All right. A2And then my
question is, Judge, even if we do that, can you give
us a general idea when that might be? Because I can
go -- I'm gure Mr. Gengler feels the same way. We
need about four to six months to be totally prepared
to go, de?ending on the circumstances. But I wmean,
anything beyond that would be way beyond what we
need. '

THE COURT: I'l1l be honest with you. My
calendar looks like -- when I 1oﬁk at it from up
here it looks like a Christmas tree. I mean, it's
all 1it up. I don't know, would there be something
in December, maybe? December is the one month that
isn't -- doesn't lock as bad as the others. Because
if we're looking about six months, that would be
about right. If you need about six months to get

ready.

Just so you all know, I don't believe -- I
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know Judge Davis had -- if you ever talked to Rachel
in the clerk's office on December 24th at, like,
5:00, there's a jury here and they're hearing a case
and T won't do that.
* Out of respect for the parties and the

jurors we won't be sitting here on December 24th.

THE CLERK: Still waiting.

THE COURT: We're working on it. We're
seeing what we can wvacate. )

THE CLERK: She's wondering about the
northern trip, if that could be vacated?

THE COURT: It could be. Tell her I could
vacate my northern calendar.

THE CLERK: £ And that would give December 9
through 13 and 16 through 20.

THE CDURT: We could do December 9th
through the 13th and 16th through the 20th. I'11
vacate my northern rotation.

Ask Gerie if I can go up north on Tuesday,
December 3rd and Wednesday, December 4th.

THE CLERK: Gerie says we're double set
with trials.

THE COURT: Is there any time in December

I can go up north? I'm inclined to go ahead and set

the case in December. Let's get it done, rather

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 3. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89139

0156




STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK :
Transeript, on 05/17/2013 Page 18

LU0« « A o) tn = Lo by

ST I O et o ol = L o S I Gy U o
N OB o w ® NS s ! W N HE O

23
24

25

than wait until July of -- I'm sorry, rather than

waiting until September of 2014, I'm inclined to

juét have Gerie vaca?e my law in motions and I'll
figﬁre.out,_ycu know, some othey time to get up
north. Because those are just law in wmotions.

_ So we can do it, according to Gerie, the
9th through the 13th and the .16th through the 20th
of December; is thét right? _

‘THE CLERK: Yes. 9 through 13, 16 through
20. | _ |

THE COURT: Okay. Why don't wé-go ahead
and -- I'm assuming your cliént's going to plead not
gu;lty. We need to go¢ through ﬁhe arraignment --

MR. GIBSON: Yes, yes. Bt

| THE COURT: -- but I would -- let's do

that. TLet's get it set fof December. Now, here's
the :hing. _If we set it for December, I hate --
here's -- do we want to secondarily set it for
September? Here's the thing. If you come in
December and tell me you guys aren't ready, by then
we're going to be looking at 2015, I can already
tell you that.

MR. GIBSON: Probably won't be ready in
September. I feel the State --

THE COURT: September of 2015.

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-508-3121
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MR. ARMSTRONG: We prefer if we can secure
that September 2014 date as a secondary, that would
be great. 4

THE COURT: We're going to hear it here in

' December of this year, 2013. But if you're mnot
ready in December and you cqm&-in.in December and
tell me, we're going to get a -- I can -- I will
virtually guarantee youlwe're going to get a 2015
date. k .

So, do you want me to hold those dates

- right now for Séptember of 2014 in case there's a
problem? Hopefully we'll be ready to go.

' MR. GIBSON: Sure.
| THE.CDURT: But we're locking at what,
September 14th through the -- to the -- Wé're,
looking at September 15th through the 19th and the
22nd through the 26th; is that right? |

THE CLERK: Correct.

THE COURT: I'm going to have Gerié hold
those as secondary trial dates, just -- we're going
to block those out now, just in case. Because like
I said, otherwise you're going to be looking at 2015
if you guys aren't ready in December.

So let's go forward. This is the time and

place set for arraignment in CR 7444A, State of

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 8. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89139

0158



o

10
11
i
13
14
8
16

17

18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK
Transcript, on 05M17/2013 Page 20

Nevada versus Michael Allen Mack. The record will
reflect the presence of Mr. Mack, his attorney, Tom
Gibson.' We have Rosa Armstrong on behalf of the Nye
Cbunty District Attorney's office.

Are we prepared to go forward?

MR. GIBSON: Yes, Judge.

THE COURT: Mr. Mack, I would advise you
that the information in thie case reads State of
Nevada wversus Michael Allen Mack. Is that your true
name? " oo

| THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And Mr, Mack how old are you?

THE DEFEHDANT; 69,

THE COURT: Okay., And what is the exteﬁt
of your educatioﬁ? _ .

| THE DEFENDANT: Just basic education.

THE COURT: Do you have a high school
diploma?

THE DEFEMDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Do you read, write and
understand the English language?

THE ﬁEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And have you ever been treated
for a mental disocrder?

THE DEFENDANT: No.
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THE COURT: Do you have a copy of the
information in this case? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

MR. GIBSON: Your Honor, we would wailve
reading it in open court.

THE COURT: Okay. You've been provided a
true copy-of the information wherein you've been

charged in Count I of sexual assault, a violation of

- Nevada Revised Statute 200.366, a Category A felony;

Count II, sexual assault, it's a violation of Nevada
Revized Statute 200.366, a Category A felomy; Count

III, preventing or dissuading victim from repcxting

crime, permitting prosecution or causing arrest,

violation of Nevada:Revised-Statutg 189.305, a
Category D.felony; Count_I?, uﬁlawfﬁl contact with a
person with mental illness, $E v & violabion o
Neﬁada Revised Statute EGT.ZEG, it's a gross .
misdemeanor ; Count V, abuse of vulﬁerable person,
viclation of Nevada Revised Statute 200.5099, a
gross misdemeanor.

Now, Mr. Mack, do you understand the
nature of the charges set forth in the five counts
of the information?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Okay. And have you had a

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
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chance to discuss these charges with your attorney,
Mr. Gibson?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Hpnor.

THE COURT: A&nd as to the charges set
forth in the information, Count I, sexual assault,
how do vou -- a Category A felony; how do you plead?

THE DEFENDANT: Not guilty.

THE COURT: Count II, sexual assault, a
Category A felony; hbw do you plead?

THE DEFENDANT: Not guilty.

THE COURT: Count III, preventing or
digsuading victim from reporting crime, commencing
prosecution or causing arrest,lit's a Category D
felony; how do you plead?

THE DEFENDANT: Not guilty.

THE COURT: Count IV, unlawful contact
with person with mental illness, a gross
misdemeanor; how do vou plead?

THE DEFENDANT: Not guilty.

THE COURT: And Count V, abuse of
vulnerable person, a gross misdemeanor; how do you
plead?

THE DEFENDANT: Not guilty.

THE COURT: As to the counts -- and you're

entitled to a speedy trial within 60 days from the

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-508-3121.
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date of arraignment. Do you wish to invoke the
60-day right or to waive it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I'm going to invoke.

THE COURT: Fouire going ﬁo invoke it? Or
are you going to waive it? I'm going to set you as
a primary setting, just so you know, per our
discussions for December of 2013, for the days that
we've discussed.

' ME. GIBSON: Those dates are firm dates,
and I'm sure they are -- |

THE COURT: Yes, they are firm dates.

MR. GIBSON: -- then we'il waive.

THE COURT: Okay. Those are firm dates,
9th through the 13th, 16th through 20th. You will
be the first setting during those two-week peridds.
There will be nothing else that will -- which means
we're going to have a calendar call in this case on
Friday, November 8th. And what I'm going to do is,
I'm going to set the calendar call at 11:00 and hear
any pre-trial motions that we might have at that
time. But we'll set a trial order out when we come
here for the calendar call, and I'll advise you as
to when I want the jury instructions and how we're
going over those at that time. There's no need to

do it, you know, this far in advance. So we'll be
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ready to go then.

So I'll see everybody back here on Friday,
November 8th at 11:00.

Will that”wofk for everybbdy?

MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes.

MR. GIBSON: . Yes, dJudge.

THE COUﬁT: Do we need to address anything
else? |

MR. GIBSON: I know Mr. Gensler and I have
spoken about this. We will be'submitting motions to
the Cour; for extraordina:y fees for expert
witnesses and whatﬁqt.' But I don't know if that has
toc be calendared. It can usual;y be ex parte.

THE COURT: Usually you jﬁsﬁ'suhmit an ex
parté:mdtion. if I have quéations it will kick
back. Mf'offiée will get hold of you.

.:But I'm sure that you're going to have
some -- these are sericus allegations. They're two
Category A felonies. 2And so yes, you're going to
go -- I'm sure go above the statutory amount of
8500. I'm sure that you will. So just get those to
me and tell me what -- explain to me who vou're
locking for as an expert and the reason for it and
we'll get it.

MR. GIBSCN: Thank you.
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MR. ARMSTRONG: Your Honor, just to make
sure, thbae trial dates are for Mr. Quiroga as well.

THE COURT: They are. And ﬁe'll ¢all his
case next. ) _

Thank vyou, Mr. Mack.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you.

THE COURT: See you back in ﬁovemb&r.

'fPrcceedings concluded at 10:42 a.m.)
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REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF NET.?ADA)
) =5
COUNTY OF CLAREK)

I, Tracy A. Manning, a duly commissioned
Certified Court Reporter, Clark CQunty, State of
Nevada, do hereby certify:

That T reportéd the taking of the proceedings,
at the time and place aforesaid;

That I thereafter transcribed my said shorthand
notes into typewriting and that the typewritten
transeript of saild proceeding is a complete, true
and accurate record of statements provided by the
parties at said time to the best of my ability.

I further certify that I am not a relative,
employee, or independent contractor of counsel of
any of the parties involved in said action; nor a
person financially interested in the action; nor do
I have any other relationship with any of the
parties or with counsel of any of the parties
involved in the action that may reasonably cause my
impartiality to be questioned.

IN WITNESS WHERECF, I have heresunto set my hand
in the County of Clark, State of Nevada, this 22nd
day of May 2013.
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Tracy A. Mahning, CCR-785
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Case No. CR 7444A

Fi

Dept. |P
IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL
RN 31
THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY QF NYE
WNYE COUNTY CLERHW
BY DEPUTY
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
Y- ORDER FOR SECONDARY SETTING
OF JURY TRIAL

MICHAEL ALLEN MACK,

Defendant,

IT IS SO ORDERED that the above-captioned case is hereby set for trial before a jury in
Pahrump, Nevada, commencing at 9:00 o’clock a.m, on Monday the 15™ of September, 2014. Ten
(10) days have been set aside for the trial, The services of the District Court Reporter are required.
Stock Instructions will be provided by the Court, any special instructions are to be submitted to the
Court no later than two (2) days before trial is o begin.

IT 18 FURTHER ORDERED thai a calendar call is set for the 15™ day of August, 2014, at the
hour of 11:00 a.m. Counsel and the defendant must appear for the calendar call.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the jury draw is set on the 15™ day of August, 2014,
whereas the Nyve County Jury Commissioner will draw a regular pane! of 140 jurors at 4:30 p.m. in the
presence of all thase who wish to atiend.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any pre-trial motions are to be heard on the 15" day of
August 2014, at the hour of 11:00 a.m., with courtesy copies to the court by August 11, 2014, at the
hour of 4:00 p.m.

DATED this 2 _ day of May 2013.

o DISTRICT JUDGE

1
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IT IS SO ORDERED that the above-captioned case is hereby set for trial before a jury in
Pahrump, Nevada, commencing at 9:00 o’clock a.m. on Monday the 9" of December, 2013, Ten
(10) days have been set aside for the trial. The services of the District Court Reporter are required.
Stock Instructions will be provided by the Court, any special instructions are to be submitted to the
Court no later than two (2) days before trial is to begin.

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that a calendar call is set for the 17 day of November, 2013, at
the hour of 11:00 a.m. Counsel and the defendant must appear for the calendar call.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the jury draw is set on the 1* day of November, 2013,
whereas the Nye County Jury Commissioner will draw a regular panel of 140 jurors at 4:30 p.m. in the
presence of all those who wish to attend.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any pre-trial motions are to be heard on the 1 day of
November, 2013, at the hour 0f 11:00 a.m., with courtesy copies to the court by October 28, 2013, at
the hour of 4:00 p.m.

DATED this ﬁf»- day of May 2013.

4::#=i;§§§;:::;a=::'

&———DISTRICT JUDGE
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THE STATE oF NEVADA,

Plaintiff, TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDTNGS
Ve, MOTION For O/R RELEASE
MICHAEL ALLEN MACE,

)
J
)
)
)
)
)
Defendant . )
)

BEFORE THE HONORABLE KIMBERLY WANKER,
DISTRICT courRT gupgg
1520 EasT BASIN AVENUE, PAHRUMP, NEVADA @s0go
ON FRIDAY, SEPTEMBEER 20, 2013

AT 10:39 A.M,
APPEHRANCES:
For the State; Tim Treffinger, Esq,
Nye County Deputy District Attorney

For the Defendant . Thomas Gibson, Esg,

Reported By: Tracy a. Manning, CCR No. 78s
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STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK

Transcript, on 09/20/2013

Page 2

FRIDAY, SEPTEMBER 20, 2013
---000---

THE COURT: Our next case, thisg is

do I have your name bronounced correctly?
THE COURT: Treffinger, thank yvou,
Good morning, Mr. Mack.
THE DEFENDANT: Good morning.
o & hearing on a motion for an OR release,
the alternative g reduction in bail. 1 have
the motion and the Opposition.

anything you'd like to add or --

me that -- because the State's response was,

had -- eventually he was able to see his own

specialist that he -- was his prior doctor.

the

Michael Mack Case. C(Cage No. CR 7444, State of

Nevada versus Michael allen Mack. Mz, Treffinger --

MR. TREFFINGER:-: Treffinger, Your Honor,

THE COURT: This ig the time and Place set

or in

read

Mr. Gibscn, it's vour motion. TIs there

MR. GIBSON: Only that my client informed

gee,

they've got plenty of doctors that can see the

situations if it'g not routine, there are pbroblems.

And my client's situation is not routine. He hag --

And
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that doctor has prescribed further testing for him. ]
And that was over g month ago and ﬁhe_testing has
not -- I think -- Over a month ago?

THE DEFENDANT . ?eah,-it was on August 9th
1 went to my doctor, He had some additional blood
tests and also -- plus a blood ﬁorkup- And four
different tests ang also sofme in vitro ultrasound in
my left leg. Eecéuse I've dé#eloped‘as a new
condition_starting July as_my'left 1¢g is.swelling
up. 2And it's juét constaﬁtly inflamed and T éot

pain 24/7 in my left leg as T -- cdntinuously.

two othef doctors prior'to my inéarcergtion. In
fact, my déctor's appcintmeﬁt wéﬁ April the 9th, the
day that I got picked uﬁ. I”waé'sﬁﬁposed to see the
doctor that morning, my regular doctor,-and I never
kept my appointment of lagt ——.in April.

50 I got incarcerated and I was here in

April and May, doing pretty good. June I started

This had to do with the back injury, you know, in my

lower back,

_
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And so, you know, as I said, 1 finally
went to my doctor and -- ip August, and I'wve been
fighting -- I put a claim -- request in, to taﬁe me
to the Eospital; my doctor somewhere in July. I
Never got over to Urgent Care until sometime in late
July. BAnd then he only told me -- he only confirmed
I did have a'prublem aﬁd I had to see a'SPECialisth
And then from there T kept.fighting to do somethiné.
And with the system -- iﬁ the jail s?s;em. And they
fihally contacted my doctor, made an appointment,
and he took me to my doctor. And that wag on
August the Sth. 8o it toock me from from July to
August the éth Lo actually gét -= to actually get to
a doctor to_givé me some treatment. Everybody just
lccﬁing at m? or -- and doing nothing. | 'H )

THE COURT: What's the -- I didg't see in
the paperwork that'g filed, is there a recommended
course of treatment? Yoy mentioned they waﬁted to
do an ultrasound --

THE DEFENDANT - Right now -- right now I
need some basic blood workup done during my --
because they had -- last week -- blood work was done
in April of early this vear. and thoge tests done,

but then basically -- want te do an ultra- -- in

vitro ultrasound op my left leg to find out what 's
=ag
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happening with me. ang also to gee if they need to
do another nerve conductive study in my left leg.
I've been haviﬁg a problem in my left leg,
inflamﬁation and circulation énd things.

THE COURT: So if T understand it
correctly, first they want to'chsome blood work.

: THE DEFENDANT: Right.
+ THE COURT: And then'go from there what --
| THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, that's just --

that's just on that qut.' But I also -- I was also
recommended to go back to my doétcr, my specialist,
which ig William Smith, which isla neurosurgeon in
the -- Las Vegas who I went to in March. And he was
going to wait until he[gét my other tests in Apfil.
And my -- fqr'mylApri;.appointmentn JMy'othér
doctor; ﬁhich T never'Wéﬁ able to keép,
understand to go back -- he still wants me to go
back to the neurbsurgeon te get the evaluation of my
herniated disk, which is -- go I have -- I have
different igsues going on. _

And you know, they don't know -- they
don't want to do surgery just for the sake of doing
surgery. They want to find out hopefully, see if
they can do some other -- You know. And I've also

had epidural injections in my spine, three of thoge

]

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC 702-509-3121
76835 8, RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89139

0173



17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK

Transcript, on 09/20/2013 , Page 6

last year. oOr actually in the fall, the first of
the year. I had then done in November and January.

THE COURT: What -- is the issue that the

appointments aren't made? I mean, my experience is

that the jail is transporting. I mean, I get

requests, So T guess that's the question T have.

Are we not making -- where is the breakdown here? I
don’t understand why you can't be -- why these

are --
 The DEFENDANT: Becauge - -

THE COURT: -~ if this is necessary --

THE DEFENDANT: -- they keep telling me
it's understaffed. They don't -- they said-my
appointments are subject to availability,

THE COURT;: I'm sorry, subjéct ko --

THE DEFENDANT They're subject to
transport availability and such. And then also,
Mark Hafens (ph) tolgd me one time that -- T said,
well -- and he said T had -- one time earlier on he
said I had to be @pproved by Health and Human
Services. And T saig I have my own insurance
Coverage, I'm just asking to be taken to my doctor.
And then he sald, well -- he said, even so, he said
that you'll be -- Put you on the waiting list. nye
said, I have 50 beople on that liat -- 50 people

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509.31 21
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need to be taken. And he said it's not fair that
you get on the top of the list, he said, Jjust
be&ause you have health insurance. 2and T said,
well -- go I séid, when do you think you'll have the
50 people off the list? And he said TEYE ATl
subject to availability. Thét was his comment back
to me. That was back in July, "

| THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Treffinger.

MR. TREFFINGER: Your Honor, I understand
that he has health concerns and I'm not disputing
that. I do have some issues with the documents
attached to his motion as they have handwritten
commenté on them that I have no idea where those are
from.

The fagt of the matter is, he's
incarqerated.: Ee's not at liberty to go see his
doctor when he wants to. If they're putting him on
the list and there's availability problems, he's
going to be seen in due course.

And while I respect the fact that he has
medical problems, again, as T have down in motion,
these are heinous charges. We have the possibility
of this defendant looking at, if sentenced on thése
charges that he could -- he may die in prison. So

while I understand he has medical issues and we can

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC 702-509-3121
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try to work out getting him some kind of medical

©r a reduction in his bail,

MR. GIBSON: Judge, if T might, just
for --

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. GIBSON: Heinous charges. While
they're heinous charges against everybody else and
all three defendants are charged with basically the

same thing, although Mr. Mack has a couple other

two defendants with those same type of heinous
charges are out of custody. One of them got a
medical OR and was out, and the other, T think,

bailed out. But --

of the Detention Center and I think suffered severe
injuries and I think he's hospitalized. That's my
understanding. I don't know.

MR. TREFFINGER: I don't know directly,.
I've heard similar to what you've just said, Your
Honor,

THE COURT: I think one of them is under
dialysis treatment so that is the one that's out

because they have kidney dialysis treatment a fey

L

attention, I don't think that warrants an OR release

charges that the others are not. However, the other

THE COURT: He jumped off the second floor
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times a week. That'g my understanding, S0 we have__]
one that -- that's on dialysis treatment that is

out. And then T think the other one, my

understanding was that he suffered Sévere injuries

1
2
3
4
5 from jumping from the second-flocr.:ailing or
6 | something in the detention center.

7 MR. TREFFINGER: I believe that'g correct,
8 Your Honor.

] | MR. GIBSON: T wasn't Sure about that one,
10, | I know somebody was injured and I 2 from hurting

5 himself in the jail. But the other defendant is out
12 | on bail or OR., ang he hasn't fled the jurisdiction,

13 | So again, I come ful1l circle, That a person -- T

14 | mean, my client doesn't s~ hig doctmrs-aré=all hére_
15 locaily. He's got the medical'issues,"’anﬁlfof'him
le to go on the laﬁ would certainly be -- iflnot a

17 death sentence, a -- he would be 80 crippled up with
18 his medicél issues because hé couldn't-surface to go
19 to a doctor because they waulﬁ immediately identify
20 him and he'd pe back here only in worse

271 circumstances.

22 THE COURT: Qkay. Anything elsge?
23 MR. GIBSON: No, Judge.
24 THE COURT; Well, Nevada Reviged -- 1

25 think Nevada Reviged Statute 178.4853 subsection (7}

L _
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is controlling a hearing. It says the Court should
look at the nature of the offense for which the
defendant is charged, the apparent probablllty of
CGnVlEtan and the likely sentence.

' In this case we've got two charges of
Categoryl—~ two Category A felonies, one Category D
felény and two gross misdemeanors. Taklng those
factors into consideration, having read the entire
case file, inecluding the police report, the evidence
suggests that there may be a llkelihood of |
conviction.

I have loocked at the medical information
submitted. It's pretty much an explanatlon of
benefits. There's no 1ndlcatlon that 1mmed1ate
treatment isg required. S 1 w111 say this, though
It's always dlsconcartlng to me to hear -what
Mr. Mack has said today. That the jail isn't
providing the treatment.

And so when I -- what I am going ﬁo do, I
think, is I'm going to deny the motion for an OR
release or -- and I am not going to reduce the
amount of bail. But I am going to order that --
that he be given the necessary -- the treatment
that's required. I mean, it seems crazy. If he

needs -- I understand that he's incarcerated. But T
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also think that -- it sounds like Mr. Mack, if he's
requiring these appointments, then they need to in
due course get that done.

. THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. My doctors, when I
saw him on the 9th told me to have the test and come
back in 30 days. Well, that was -- that would be
the 9th of Séptembér. I haven't even had the test
done yet. so'how.can I gb back to my doctors for

the next evaluation for what type of treatment I

need?
THE COURT: Right.
~ THE DEFENDAﬁT: Chicken; egg scenario
going on, and they wﬁﬁ‘t take me -- they Saf they

don't have thelstéff-to take me to my doctor.

THE COUR?: Tﬁey'te going to -- I mean,
the requireﬁent -~ I think theyifa'going'to_bé b
have a lot of different issues if they aren't
transporting the folks who need treatment.

So I'm going to tell -- I'm going to order
that Mr. Mack be permitted to attend his
appointments. They need to get Mr. Mack.

But I -- Mr. Mack, I don't feel that
pursuant to the statutes I can release you on an OR
or I'm not going to reduce your bail, but I am

concerned about the treatment that you're getting
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and I'm going to ask the jail to revisit that.
And -- that issue because it sounds like from what

you're telling me today that you have some

to be taken care of.
So ig there anything else we need to
addresg?
MR. GIBSON: No, Judge.
MR. TREFFINGER: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Thank YVOu.

(Proceedings concluded at 10:51 a.m.)

appointments that -- you have some matters that need
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FRIDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2013
---000---

THE COURT: I'm.glad you guys are up on
this. This case is going to take more than the five
to ten minutes set on a criminal law and motion.
Because this is really twofold. One is a motion to
sever the trials, which I just got. In fact, I just
got the state's response. 2And I think that waé
becauge the motion was filed in August by
Mr. Gensler, but then we had a change of -- Ross had
left, Ross Armstrong had left and getting new
counsel to take his place, so I just got that.

But what I'd like to do is give the
partiés ample opportunity to argue in that case. So
what I was thinking if counsel are available, I'd
like to hear that by itself on Wednesday.

Counsel available on the 231d?

MR. GIBSON: Judge, I did not bring my
calendar with me. I assume I will be able to do it
then.

THE COURT: Otherwise, I can do it -- let
me see; is that right? I could do it the 23rd or
the 30th, your choice.

MR. GENSLER: I didn't hear that.

THE COURT: I have two dates available.
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That way I can set ocut and I'll give everybody the
opportunity to argue, we'll discuss the issues,
either on the 23rd or the 30th.

| MR. GIBSON: I'm good with either date,
Judge. Just let the Court know that we don't want
to upset the Justice Cogrt,_though, and calendar
anything and interfere with --

THE COURT: That;s why -- do ?ou guys have
your calendars with you?

ER. GENSLER: I have -- the 23rd I'm here
all day, and I have Justice Court at 9:00 and 1:30.
That would be a fine date, other than those
commitments. |

THE COURT: Okay. What about you,

Mr. Gibson? Do you know?

MR. GIéSGH: I would say that either day
is fine. TI'll make it fit.

THE COURT: Is it Mr. --

MR. TREFFINGER: Treffinger, Your Honor.
I'm available either day.

THE COURT: Okay. How about -- what's a
good time so I don't interfere with your Justice
Court appearances?

MR. GENSLER: Morning or afternoon?

THE COURT: 1It's up to you guys.
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MR. GENSLER: Morning maybe 10:30, 11:00;
afternocon, 2:30, 3:00.

MR. GIBSON: I would agree with that.

THE COURT: Would you guys rather wait
until the afterncon or do you want to do it at
11:007

MR. GENSLER: I'd rather do it in the
morning. '

MR. GIBSON: i would prefer the morning,
Judge. You never can tell what's going on over
there.

THE COURT: All right. So let's set it
few minutes and we can go through the issues.

it, Tracy?

THE REPCORTER: Yes,

THE COURT: Excellent. All right, we've
got the court reporter. That's the most important
person for -- but I do want to -- I want to address
these issues.

Because -- and the other thing is, please
bring your calendar that day because if I do sever
the trials we'll need to pick a new trial date.

MR. GENSLER: Yes, Your Honor.

for 11:00. And that I can give you more than just a

' We do need a court reporter., Can you make
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And Your Honor, for the record, my client
is present in the courtroom.

MR. GIBSCN: &nd my client, I assume, is
present in custody, but they didn't bring him out.
But if we're going to move it to next Wednesday --

THE COURT: Just mcﬁing it to next
Wednesday. I don't know if it's necessary to bring
him out. I just want to give everybody the ample
opportunity to present their positions here. And I
don't think five or ten minutes -- and this -~ thege
really are questions that are of magnitude that
affect the trial in this case. So I think giving it
the appropriate amount of time is proper.

MR. GIBSON: Thank you, Judge.

MR. TREFFINGER: Thank you, Your Honor.

(Proceedings concluded at 9:57 a.m.)
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WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 23, 2013
0O - -

THE COURT: Wé are here on Case No. CR
7444A. State of Nevada versus Michael Mack and
George Quiroga. This ig the time and place set for
a hearing on a couple of motions filed by
Mr. Quiroga's attqrnay, Harry Gensler. 1It's a
motion for psychological or medical evaluation and a
motion to sever the defendants for separate trials.

We have a joinder in the motion for a
psyaholcgiéal, medical examination filed by
Mr. Michaell—— Mack.-~ on behalf of Mr. Michael Mack
by his attoérney, Tom Gibson.

And T'd like to address the motion for
psychological, medical evaluation first. The
staﬁdard for determining whether or not it is --
legal standard for determining whether or not a
psychological evaluation is proper is set forth in
Koerschner, K-o-e-r-g-c-h-n-e-r, versus State, 116
Nevada 1111, 13th Pacific 3d, 451, it's a 2000
Nevada Supreme Court decision.

And it is whether the State has culled or
obtained some benefit from a psychological or
psychiatric expert; two, whether the evidence of the

crime is supported by little or no corroboration
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beyond the testimony of the victim; and three,
whether a reasonable basis exists to believe that
the mental or emotional state of the victim may have
affected his or her veracity. And that was also --
the test was reaffirmed in Abbott versus State, 122
Nevada 715, 1238 Pacific 3d 462, it's a 2005 Nevada
Supreme Court decision.

50 we know what the standard is. It's
Mr., Gensler and Mr. Gibson's motion. So I will --
in light of that Standard I will allow you to argue.

MR. GENSLER: Thank you, Your Honor.

The standard you indicated is what I cited
in my brief. And it basically relates to child
witnesses.

THE COURT: Exactly.

MR. GENSLER: 2and in this case, the State,
at least in some part, is proceeding on the basis
that this child, this Peérson, adult person, has a
diminished Capacity. And you see throughout the

transcript and the reports childlike and unable to

make decisions and things of that nature. Aand
that's why we filed this motion.
When the State is in a -- in a theory
r where they're basing it on thig diminished Capacity,

L_? would think they'd have to employ an expert.
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Mr. Treffinger in his Opposition indicated that they
have ndt employed an expert at thig time. And
pberhaps they did not intend to do so. At least that
was my reading between the liﬁes of it.

And if they're not going to do that, then
that would eliminate that theory. And if it
eliminates that theory, perhaps it would eliminate
that motion as well.

But the cases also say that whether or not
the State employs an SXpert as a factor to consider,
it's not the scle -- it's not a threshold. They
employ an expert. Okay, now we go to the next one.
They didn't employ an expert, that takes care of it
all. |

S0 we have the situation, particularly'in

Mr. Quiroga'as situation, where you have thig

child -- childlike witness who the testimony hag
indicated at the pPreliminary hearing from the

berson, Ms. Kailaher -~ I don't know if she's a

Person that knows her best, but certainly a person

who's dealt with her most, as far as we could tell

| Oon a professional basis that indicated that she has

been caught in lies a lot of times and it kind of --
I think her words were it waxes and wanes. If they

catch her in a 1ie they address it and then she'g

|
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okay for a little while. And then she makes these
other outrageous statements and then they address it
and then she's ckay for a while.

S0 I certainly think with that kind of
testimony, an expert would be necegsgary for
Mr. Quiroga's standpoint.

Also Kallaher testified -- I believe she
testified, or it was in a document or something in
the preliminary hearing that the last time that
Miss -- let's call her Courtney had been evaluated
for an IQ or psychological type examination was in
1996. And all of their treatment, if you will, all
of their plan was Eased upon that as being the
latest eval of her. And then, of course, they're
dealing with her, you know, adjusts her plan and her
treatment certainly. But the last formal
examination was in 1996,

S0 Mr. Quiroga's benefit, it would be very
difficult for him to mount a case to fight any of
those allegations without any type of evaluation
that was more current. and an independent persomn.
So it's fairly simple from our end that that's their
theory and we have O -- we have to address their
theory. and the only way I feel we can do that is
by the employment of an expert.
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THE COURT: Thank vyou, Mr. CGensler.

Mr. Gibson, do you have anything you'd
like to add? o

MR. GIBSON: I agree with Mr, Gensler's
statements to the Court. And the ome thing, though,
that T -- was very curious to me during the
preliminary haafing is, it came out:that:she had --
the aileged victim had been married and divorced
three or four times. _

THE COURT: Four times, according to the
transcript. |

-MR. GIBSON: And that to me flies in the
face with a diminished capacity. Not,thatla person
can't be diminished being married thrée or four
timésr Sometimes being married once would show a
lack of common sense.

However, the thing I'm trying to show the
Court is that the fact that she's been married and
divorced shows that she's got some -- at least some
level of sophistication. Otherwise, either someone
wouldn't have married her or she wouldn't have been

married four times. And if she was -- we don't know

all the facts regarding the marriage and divorces.

But those are certainly factors that a jury wouid

need to consider. And showing her mental capacity,
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And so that -- that flies in the face of the -- of
the fact that she's -- if ghe has a diminished
capacity or she's, you know, childlike, then why is
she getting mariied and who's -- who's allowing
this, these marriages to progress or proceed. So
that's just the only additional factor that I wanted
to bring forth for the Court, that that was one of
my main concerns.

And then, as a matter of fact, we intend
to have an 1nvestlgat0r find these ex-husbands, find
the -- speak with them and get their statements and
perhaps eﬁen subpoena them to the trial, if
necessary. | " |

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Treffinger.

MR, TREFFINGER- Your Honor, the State'
position is that they need to demonstrate a
compelling need for this expert we're not planning
on using an e;pert at this time. I c¢ame on to the
case a little later. My predecessor, Ross Armstrong

had been dealing with the case, along with Kirk

Vitto. I discussed the situation with them, and we

still have no plans on using an expert in this case.
The victim is -- hag been granted -- I'm

SOorry, the wvictim is 3 ward of a guardian, and the

Court has already found that she has diminished

B
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—

capacity. I'm not Sure what further we need to show
on that. Mr, Mack waé her guardian and that
guardianship has been in place for an extended
pericd of time. aAnd it's because she has diminisheq
capacity. And:those findings were found in that
guardianship order.

! ﬁer veracity., I understand there's been
issues with her lying about breast cancer and things
like that. We went -- that was gone through in the

'preliminary hearing. But 1 don't gee any other
accusations being made against other people where
we've been ﬁﬁp in the-sahe situation of, isg this
person making these accusations, and later them
being found falgse. 8o T'don't gee an isgue with the
victim'a“veracity here. 8he testified at a
préliminary hearing. ghe was interviewed by law
énfdréement. éhe was interviewed by a forensic
interviewer. a1l those times the stories were --

with a few miner details, Pretly much consistent.

S0 I think her veracity is there.

And we have corroborating evidence. There
is partial or full confessions by several of the
defendantg upon sexual activity with this Person. I

think that that's Consistent with what sha'g told

Us. And with those three things being met, I don't [

—_——
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—
think they demonstrate a compelling need for an

expert in this case. And we aren't using one. We
may be forced to employ one if they are granted an
expert to confront the expert's testimﬁny, but at
this time we have no plans on using an expert,
| THE COURT: Thank you. Any --
MR. GIESON: Judgé, just briefly.

Counsel said that we have partial or full

to culpability if the -- if the trier of fact were
to £ind that she had the reguisite capacity to
consent to sexual activity, At least it would
minimize, if not negate entirely, culpabllity en
part of the co-defendant and my client,

And in addition to that, Judge, is that
the -- counsel's talked about the -- a Court found
in a prior quardianship that she had diminished
capacity. But as you're aware, that not all judges
are created equal and not all Jjudges actually go
through the -- an entire litany. They'll Just take
counsel's or the moving party's word that 4 perscn

1s -- 18 -- requires a guardian.

a doctor's opinion or professional opinion, It's

confessions. But those confessions would not amcunt

And there's not usually a -- or not always

just the family members come -- get together and say

]
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we want a guardianship and it's done. And there --
quite often it's -- you know, there isn't a finding
of fact beyond what's just stated by one or two of

the people moving for guardianship.

S0 the State just can't assume that --
that that one order is effective or appropriate to
find ~-- make a finding that the -- that there was
diminished capacity and should have been -- it
gshould be done by an expert and that's what we're
asking for.

THE COURT: Okay.

Mr. Gensler, do you have anything you'd
like to addr?

MR. GENSLER: Just briefly, following on
that -- that theme. You have the guardianship that
Mr. Treffinger referred to. And as you know, it's
often a family member coming in and saying, well,
this person needs help.

THE COURT: Well, I'm going to stop you

both right there. There's a Nevada Revised Statute.

And before I ever grant an adult guardianship, it
requires a finding -- there must be a medical
ocpinion attached. So the Court is not supposed to,
in the course of granting guardianship, without --

in fact, they have to make a determination as to

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC 702-509-3121
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whether or not the ward should actually attend the
guardianship hearing or whether they're of such
diminished capacity that they would not be able to
understand the guardian'»* there are requirements
that the ward be specifically advised by the Nevada
Revised Statutes of the hearing, that they have the
right to separate counsel at the hearing. There's a
complete section of the Nevada Revised Statutes on
guardianships. And I can tell you, there are a
number of statutes.

Every time I grant a guardianship I go
back and lock at those statutes. And the hoops that
somebody must jump through before they become a
guardian. And they either become a guardian of the
person, a guardian of the estate, or a guardian of
the person and the estate.

So there -- the judges are supposed to,
pursuant to the Nevada Revised Statutes, Jump
through certain hoops. They just don't
automatically see a petition for guardianship and a
family member or other stand up and say I want to be
8o-and-so's guardian and grant the guardianship.

That's not how it works Pursuant to the Newvada

-Reviged Statute.

MR. GENSLER: Given that, I'm not sure

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-
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when they were amended and how they were amended or
whatever, but this guardianship has evidently been
going on.for a long time. Because it was Mr. Mack
that obtained the guardianship, I believe it was
after the parents died.

DEFENDANT MACK: No, by my mother when she
was ali?e, Your Honor. My mofher wasg -- my mother
was alive.

.~ MR. GIBSON: What year?

' DEFENDANT MACK: Going back -- has to be
going back -- oh, well, check the date of the
document. But it had to be about year 2000.

' MR. GIBSON: Which judge?

- DEFENDANT MACK: It was -- I think it was
a man. I think it”mighp have been Jﬁdge Lane or
something. '

MR. GIBSON: Hcﬁually --

DEFENDANT MACK: My --

MR. GIBSON: -- help us to go back and
look at those regcords, to --

THE COURT: I don't think it's really

relevant here, on this particular motion. I mean, I
do know that recently Judge Lane affirmed the
guardianship. Actually, he appointed the public

guardian, Shirley Trummel, after Mr. Mack was

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC- 702-509-3121
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him from marrying hig fiance,

all disinherited, And I gpoke with him at length,

12

13 asked him a11 -- the litany of questiong andg -~ to
14 detérmine whether or net he was competent And

15 | he -- thé mén,was sharp' :And T asked him how he

i6 felt aboﬁt the bresident and he Went on and opn about
17 how llicompetent the Dresident ig S0 -- and giving
18 EXamples, go when T approached the attorney on the

20 that wag completely Competent, ha was kind of begide
21 himself and said, well, the family Ltold me ang 1 was

22 relying on, ¥ou know, thig letter frop a doctor,

23 And s0 that - that is 3 Crue example of what
24 happened in this distriet.
25 THE COURT, Well, we have two things here,

7835 S. RAINSOW BLVD, ) TE 425, LAS VEGAS v 89139 0200
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I think we need to overlock. And T did read the _]
entire preliminary hearing Cranscript, Although

Mr. Gensler, You did a nice SHImATY of it. But I
did read the entire transcript before T came in.

Look, we have testimony_from a witqess
that hﬁs her Master's in.—- I can't remember'what
her degree -- 7 remember it was from Emporia State,
both her Bachelor's of Science and her Master's of
Science. She séys that this person was tested by an
agency of.thé State of Nevada,-found to have
diminished capacity.

Youfve offered nothing, other than, you
know, some speculation that a guardian is not
rEquiréd,” I -- Itm'nbt going into that area, okay?
There's been g finding énd she's received services
since at least 1996 ©r: 80 from the State. So
Ubviously there's some belief. éhe was evaluatéd
Ehen and Ehere was a belief that ghe was of
diminished capacity.

And I have to telj ¥ou, when we were
talking about whether folks areé -- can marry or not.

It's like a minor can't marry unless they have the

Consent of the Parents. go T would assume thar -- i)

|

mean, without looking at the -- at the specific

marriage statute, that there's pProbably a provigion

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLe 7, 02-509-3121
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2

3 when somebody ig underage
4 don't -- they aren't considered to have the Capacity
5 EO marry. go 1 just think that, yoy know, we neegq

6 Lo put thig into the -- in the context , |

7 Ts there anything you want to add? ang

8 then I think I'm ¥eady to rule on this issye.

L MR. GENSLER. Well, on the Koergchner
10 | pointsg that are citeq in that cage. You have the

i the State employing an expert, which they'ra

14 | protection. Evidence of the Crime is little or no

ccrruboration beyond the testimony of the victinm.

THE COQURT. I disagree with vou on that.
There are two -. there Areé -- both -- and I loocked

at what wasg in the court file, But both the

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, (1 ¢ 702-509-3121
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|

MR. GENSLER: I would respectfully
disagree with that, Your Honor, as to Mr. Quiroga.
When the victim testified, she said that he raped
her. And that he used medical instruments upon her.
She indicated that he did not digitally penetrate
her. The declaration of arrest, I believe, is done
by Detective Boruchowitz, who took some latitudes
with what Mr, Quiroga told him after he had just
gotten out of dialysis.

When Detective Boruchowitz interviewed
Mr. Quiroga, he kept trying to get him to say that
he fingered her. And the one point where he kind of
got that was, he said 80, you -- something to the
effect of, go you fingered her. And he said, yeah,
I touched her. And then Detective quuchowité took
that and went with it. And in his declarations
indicated that the defendant admitted fingering her.

And then when he testified at the
preliminary hearing, he said that the defendant
admitted that he penetrated her. 8o he took a
little bit of liberties with what the defendant was
trying to tell him.

Throughout the interview Mr. Quiroga later
on disputes that every time Detective Boruchowitg

brought it up. 8o that's the corroboration.
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THE COURT: Well, I haven't geen the
interview. The interviews were video and audio
recorded. It's my understanding that nobody
provided those for my review. But T will tell you
this. This ig her testimony at the preliminary
hearing beginning on page 19: Other than hitting
you with a belt, is there anything élse George would

do to you that you didn't like?

Answer: He stuck his peﬁis in my pussy.

Question: Okay. Where would he do that?

Answer: In his bedroom.

Question: The game bedroom where he beat
you with the belt?

| Answer: Yesg.

Question: Has he done that since you
turned 45°?

Answer: Yes, sgir.

Question: How many times has he done
that?

Answer: More than once.

Question: Would he put his penis anywhere
else?

Answer: Yes, in my mouth.

Question: And would he put anything else

in your pussy or your mouth?

_

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
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Answer: Yes. He put these instruments up
my Ppussy.

Question: Can you describe what one of
those might look like?

Answer: They were gilver instruments,
looked like a -- like a doctor would use.

Question: And did he do that more than
once -- do that once or more than once? |

Answer: More than once.

And then it goes on to say: Would you
tell him anything when this would happen?

Answer: I would tell him to stop and he
wouldn't.

Question: .Did you -- do you remember what
exact words ybu used to tell him to stop?

Answer: 1I'd say stop, stop, stop and he

,would say no.

And then, I look at Detective
Boruchowitz's -- and I -- and I have to tell you,
your cross-examination of Detective Boruchowitz was
a bit confusing in the preliminary -- in the -- at
the preliminary hearing. Although Boruchowitz says
in the declaration arrest for Mr. Quiroga: I
conducted an interview of Mr. Quiroga. During that

interview, Quiroga admitted that he had been having

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-506-3121
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a sexual relationship with Courtney. He stated that
he had fingered her at his apartment on North Black
Stréet but he did not have sex with her because he
cannot get an erection. He stated it has been
cngoinglfor ﬁver tenlyaars and has hapbened
regularly. Most reéently aéproximately threg months
ago. L | )

So I can tell you that somethlng went on.
It may not be the -- but somethlng of an 1mproper
character went on. Whether, you know, he had.actual
sex with her; whether he had oral sex with her,
whether he stuck an instrument up there, I don't
know. But what I.dé know is there's some
corroboratlon where he 1ndlcated that he had done
somethlng that was inappropriate, okay?

So I do think that there -- that the
second -- thét whéfhér.théfe is little or no --
whether evidence of the crime 1ig supported by little
Or no corroboration beyond the testimony of the
victim.

And with regard to Mr. Mack, Mr. Mack's
declaration of arrest is very similar in the sense
that Detective Boruchowitz indicated to the
following. Subsequently in the interview he stated

that he often would give Courtney massages and he

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, Li.C 702-509-3121
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would give -- and she would give him massages as
well. He stated that often these massages'would
turn into géniﬁal touching. He stated that he would
rub her végina and that there were times when she
had touched his penis. He stated that there were
sevgrallocqésions.where she had been rubbing his
penis and he had ejaculated. He additionally stated
that Courtney had given him blow jobs and that he
had ejaculated in her mouth. He étatéd that
additioﬁal_ly he rubbed his penis inside of the
vagina lips of Courtney. =

' Sco I think that there's sufficient
corroborating evidence to suggest that -- the State
1nd1cates that they're not calling a psychologlcal
or psychlatric expert Whether there g evidence of
the crime 15 supported by little or no corroboratlon
beyond the testlmony of the victim, I think there is
testimony or evidence. If nothing alse, I'm
assuming that Detective Boruchowitz took the atand
during the preliminary hearing and he'll take the
stand during trial and say what he was informed when
he -- when he interviewed the witnesses. And then
whether a reasonable basis exists to believe that
the mental or emotiocnal state of the victim may have

affected her veracity.
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It's true that the -- there was testimony
at the preliminary hearing by an individual by the
name of Susan Kallaher. She's the one who has the
Master's degree. She's the one who had worked with
the particular victim in this case. And she said
that while the viectim had -- had not been truthful,
claimed that she had -- she had been treated for
breast cancer and different things. At no point in
the testimﬁﬁy did she ever indicate that she had
ever lied about anything sexual in nature.

And I'think that thé statute requires that
there be a compelling reason. &And I don't think
that you've demonstrated the factor set forth in
Koerschner;-that thérg'sla_com9311ing reagon to
subjecﬁ he: ﬁo.a'ps?éhqlogical'evaluaticn and I'm
going'tc_deﬁ§ thét rgQuast. |

qu let's move on to the second issue, and
that is whether or not -- and this is strictly
Mz. Quiroga}s'mation, and that is the motion to
sever the trial. And let's look first at what the
standard is on the motion to sever trial.

The first statute that falls into play is
Nevada Revised Statute 173.115, joinder of offenszes.
Two or more offenses may being charged in.the same

indictment or information in a separate count for
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each offense. If the offenses charged, whether
felonies or misdemeanors or both are one, based on
the same act or transaction; or two, based on two or
more acts or transactions connected together ox
constituting parts of a common scheme or plan.

And then, assuming that those tests are
met, the next statute that comes into play is Nevada
Reviged Statute 174.165. Subsection (1) says, if it
appears that a defendant or the State of Nevada is
prejudiced by a joinder of offenses, or of
defendants in an indictment or information, or by
joinder for trial together, the Court may order an
election or separate trials cof counts, graht a
severance of defendants, or provide whatever other
rellef juatice reguires. |

subsection (2) says, in ruling on a motion
by a defendant for-severance, the Court may order
the District Attorney to deliver to the Court for
inspection in chambers any statements or confessions
made by the defendants which the State intends to
introduce in evidence at the trial.

Now, there is a Nevada Supreme Court
decision that talks about the relationship of these
two statutes. And it says, thus, even 1lf joinder is

permissible under Nevada Revised Statute 173.115,
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the trial Court should sever the offenses if the
joinder is unfairly prejudicial; i.e., required by
justice. Although joinder of the charges agalnst
multiple defendants was proper under Nevada Revised
Statute 173.135, Court considered whether joinder
prejudiced defendants and required severance under
NRS 174.165, it was citing to the Drew case,

Nevada -- or Federal, U.S. versus Drew, final
decision. And it goes on to quote Drew as saying,
even though joinder is permissible under Rule 8(a),
which is similar to these statutes, if the defendant
makes a timely motion under Rule 14 and shows
prejudice, the Court should either order an election
by the government or grant separate trials. And
that's from the Middleton versus State case, Nevada
Supreme Court decision, 114-Nevada 1089, 968 Pacific
2d, 296, 1998 Supreme Court decision.

So the point of that is, it appears to me
that the standard is, first of all, we look under
Nevada Revised Statute 173.115 to see if the
standard for joinder has been met. &and even if it
has been met. Then we still have to look at
174.165.

So Mr. Gemnsler, I've read your pleading,

it's your motion. Let's discuse first whether the
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requirements of Nevada Revised Statute 173.115 have
been satisfied. |

MR. GENSLER: I actually thought you
summarized my argument very wéll. Those are the
statutes I cited, and then I followed it with my
argument. You have thej173.115, which authorizes
joinder under the following circumstances, whether
it's based upon the same act or transaction. These
were all -- élthﬁugh they're accusing the same types
of conduct, they're not the same act or-transactign;
totally different. Two people, twe different times,
there were multiple different times, however you
want te lock at it, that were not the same act or
transaction.

And then so that takes you to the second
one based upon two or more acts or transactions
connected together or constituting part of a common
plan or scheme. The only thing I could find in the
discovery or in the preliminary hearing transcript
or any of the materials or conversations or anything
of that nature was that Courtney was alleging that
Mr. Mack at one point drove Mr. Quiroga over to her
place.

THE COURT: &She drove Courtney over to

Mr. Quiroga's place.
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MR. GENSLER: Right, I'm sorry. I'm
sorry. It was flipped. And that's -- there's
another aliééation that they both used a belrt.

| THE COURT: The same belt, the flowery
belt. .

MR. GENSLER;: | Her only belt.

THE COURT: Right. .

,MR'. GENSLER: = Right. And so that kind of
takes us to the'other'iESue that you already ruled
on. You know, iS'shé just:USiﬁg the -- and
sométhing we can deal with when the time comes. But
is she kind of taking one transaction and shifting
it o anﬁther and implyiﬁg_that to Mr. Quiroga when
that was something that may have been occurring with
Mr. Mack? We don't.knoﬁ that. But that's certainly
something thét is prejﬂdicial if that is the case.

But oth&r;than that I didn't see énything
in there that -- ;Eat there was any kind of a plan
or scheme or that Mr. Mack was pimping her out or
that they were conspiring or anything of that
nature. So you have two -- two Separate events or
two separate sets of events. One set of events
allegedly involving Mr. Mack, one set of events
allegedly involving Mr. Quiroga. But although the

descriptions of them are similar, there's nothing to
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indicate that they were done in conjunction or part
of a commeon plan or anything of that nature.
THE COﬁRT: Okay.
MR..GEHSLER: That's my simple”vérsion.
THE COURT: Mr. Treffinger.
MRf:TREFFINGER; I don't have much to add
to this, Your Hoﬁcr. You can probably tell by my
response to hlS mctlon that I'm pretty much

submitting this matter to you with some additional

considerations that you don't want addressed at this

particular time.

He summed it up perfectly, I think. There

is some -- there is some suggestion here of a common

sqheme or plan because the same belt was used, the

same acts arelalleged, and because he, Mr. Mack that

ig, deliverediallégedly the'fictim to Mr. Qulroga
for one of these events that have the exact same
detalls laid out by the victim.

I -- I'm against severance in this case.
I think the judicial economy definitely would be
hindered by these cases being severed.

THE COURT: Do we get to the judicial
economy issue? Do we -- do -- SO your argument, if
I read your brief, you're saying it's based on the

game act or transaction. That's the --
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MR. TREFFINGER: Common scheme or plan,
yes, Your Honor.

THE CQURT: Common scheme or plan. And
that's the sole basis for your belief that these
cases should be combined.

MR. TREFFINGER: At that point of the
argument, that‘s correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Because would you agree
with me thét_wé'dcn'ﬁ get to the argumentg about
judicial edonomf,'et cetera, if -- if I find that
the requirementéuéf Nevada Revised Statute 173.115
have not been satisfied?

MR. TREFFINGER: I do definitely agree,
Your anor. |

THE COURT: 6 Okay, all right. Anything

else? |

MR. GENSLER: On that statute?

THE COURT: On --

MR. GENSLER: Do you want me to move on to
the other --

THE COURT: Let's just talk about 173.

Because I think 1f we address 173.115, we'll address

that first and then I'll address the second statute.

MR. GENSLER: Nothing to add, other than

if we do get to the judicial economy, they're -- all
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the case law -- not all the case law, but a lot of
the case law says that judicial economy alone is not
sufficient. That if there's prejudice it doesn't
matter how inconvenient it is. And if we get to
there -- that I would submit that.

THE COURT: Well, I think first we have to
loock at what is -- you know, for me, when I sat down
and looked at this, and I will tell you; you cited a
number of cases, Mr.ldenslar, and I read every
single one of them.

So thig -- Weaver versus State I thought
was very instructive on what is meant, what d&o they
mean by common plan or scheme? What do they mean by
Lwo or more acts connected together?

And what that case says, and I thought
this was pretty interesting. It goes on to say --
the case.goeé on to say, determining'whether a
common scheme or plan existed in this or any case
requires fact-specific analysis. And such analysis
depends on the meaning of the pertinent statutory
language, scheme or plan.

According to Black's Law Dictionary, a
scheme is a design or plan formed to accomplish some
purpose. A system. A plan ig a method of design or

action, procedure or arrangement for accomplishment
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of a particular act or object; method of putting
into effect and intention or proposal. We conclude
that these definitions pertain to scheme or plan as
used in Nevada Revised Statute 173.115, subsection
(2) .

Thus, purposeful design is central to a
scheme or plan. Though this does not mean that
every scheme or plan must exhibit rigid consistency
or coﬁerency. We recognize that a person who forms
or follows a scheme or plan may have to contend with
contingéncies; and therefore, a scheme or plan can
in practice reflect some fleﬁibility in variation
but still fall within an overall intended deéién,

Nevertheless, we cqntlude thét in this
case, the facts fail to show that Weber hadla sihgle
scheme or plan that encompaséed his ongoing sexual
misconduct because we had violence on April 4th and
against violence on April 14th in that particular
case.

Then the Court goes on to discuss the
question about what does connected together mean?
And it says, however, the question remains, were the
three groups of acts necessarily connected together
under NRS 173.115, subsection (2)? We have not

addressed the connected together language in the
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statute, and it is a term that calls for a more
precise definition.

We hold that for two ﬁharged crimes to be
connected together under Nevada Revised Statute
173.115, subsection (2), a Court must determine that
evidence of either crime would be admissible in a
separate trial.regarding the other crime. We have
recognized this cross-admissibility as a basis for
joinder of charges in some of our prior decisions.
We now expressly employ it to define connected
together under Nevada Revised Statute 173.115,
subsection (2).

We conclude that the groups of crimes
charged and proven in this case are connected
togethe; because evidgncé of each group would have
been relevant and admissible at separate trials of

the other crimes.

So the guestion would be, is if Mr. -- in
Mr. Mack's trial, would evidence -- if that case was
tried by itself, would -- would Mr. Quircga's acts

be admissible as a separate part of that. That's
how I read this case.

And flip side in Mr. Quiroga's case.
Would Mr. Mack's alleged actions be admissible in

that case? I think that's how you're to view this.
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If I understand what the Nevada Supreme Court wag
saying in Weber V State, and that's 121 Nevada 554
119 Pacific 3d 107. It's a 2005 Nevada Supreme
Court daéisicn.

~ 8SoI think that's the -- that's the issue
that we loock at first. ~Is there a common scheme or
plan?

” Now, ﬁhere is a Nevada Supreme Court
decision. 1It's a-Hitchell vefsus State. It's a
1989 Nevada Supreme Court decision. It's 105 Nevada
735, 782 Pac 24 134ﬁ. Anﬁ in that case, this was --
it was prosecution for gfand larceny and sexual
assaulﬁ of oﬁe victim,_énd it was joined with the
prosecution Qf sexual éssault and murder of another

victim.

found that!those = tﬁqt the -- that thesge charges
were improperly combined in the same trial. And
what the Court sgaid in that case was that there --
first it addressed the issue of whether or not they
were a common scheme or plan. And the Court said
that based on the -- it says NRS 173.115 permits
joinder of criminal counte only if the counts are
based on the same transaction or constitute part of

& common scheme or plan.

And in that case, the Nevada Supreme Court
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- Being 45 days apart, these separate
incidents cannot be considered part of the same
transaction. Nor can taking two different women
dancing and later attempting intercourse be
considered part of a common plan just because the
women are taken;to -- in part to the same bar. And
they cited -a Nevada Supreme Court decision.

: If however, ev1dence of one charge would
be cross- admlaslble in evidence at a separate trial
in another charge, then both chargea may be tried
together and that need not be severed

In this case, the Court found the charges
were not cross-admissible and ordered that. trying
them_tcgethér was improper.

| And I have to lock at -- the only argument
that we have for the commorn scheme or plan from the
State.ls that the -- a belt was used. The acts
aren't the same. .Shé's -~ necegsarily arguing that
they were the same type of acts. But in her
testimony, the victim's testimony at the preliminary
hearing was the incidents with Mr. Mack had occurred
over -- over years. First incident occurred when
the parents were alive in El Paso, Texas.

The victim testified at the preliminary

hearing that there were two acts that occurred at
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Mr. Quiroga's. One of the acts she gaid that
Mr. Mack had driven her to. I don'‘t know how she
got there the second time because there's not any
testimony. The record is devoid of that.

Eut & locked at the issue, and I -- I'll
hear argument.frﬁm you. If you -- from both counsel

here.. If you think that these -- that if these

cages were tried separately the evidence would come

in of the other -- of the 6the: éllegéd perpetraﬁor.
~ MR. GENSLER: The only evidence that I

would see would co@é in would be that possgibly
Mr. Mack drove Courtney to Mr. Quiroga's.

THE COURT: That would be part of
Mr. Quiroga's. How did you get there? I was driven
by my gu;rdian.-': | _

MR.”GENELER; Right. I don't see how any
of thehathgriallggations -- the allegations against
Mr. Mack, I dcn‘t.see how any of that would be
admissible agaiﬁst Mr. Quiroga.

THE COURT: Mr, Treffinger?

MR. TREFFINGER: I'm inclined to agree,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: That's exactly what the Court
believes as well. That there isn't a -- I can't see

8 common scheme or plan. And I -- I've -- or that
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these separate acts would somehow come in in these
other cases.

In fact, I will tell you that I pulled up
the Nevada rule of evidence on other -- NRS 48.045,
subsection (2) and looked at the cases on common
scheme or plan. And -- and to just give a flavor,
what do they mean by common scheme or plan? How has
the Court ruled in previous cases?

And quite frankly, I have difficulty
finding -- I'll be honest with you, when i locked at
the transcript; based upon the evidence that's in
the court file, and that's what I have to rely on,
the prelimlinary hearing transcripts, the statements
that are in the affidavits for arrest. I don't -- I
don't have the interviews. But based upon what I
have, I have difficulty believing that the
requirements of Nevada Revised Statute 173.135
are -- or .115 are met. That where two or more
offenses may be charged in the same indictment or
information in a separate count breach offense. If
the offense is charged, whether felonies or
misdemeanors or both are based on the same act or
transaction, or based on two or more acts or
transactions connected together.

I think we agree they're -- they're not
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connected together. Do they constitute parts of a
common scheme or plan? I think they're pretty

tangential to do that. To say that they're part of

& common scheme or plan.

And I'm inclined to agree with the
defense, that the trial should be severed in this
case. I really am. T don't think we eﬁer get to
whether or not it'sg prejudicial under NRS 174.165
and we go into the issues of judicial economy
because we can't -- if T read the cage authority
correctly, and the case that T cited, I believe it'sg
the Middleton caée from 1998 from the Nevada Supreme
Court, it's after that we determine the jainder_
is -- joiﬁder has been met under 1?3.115,_ Then we
look té'whether Or not they shoﬁid still be joingd
under 174.165. Whether or not-there's prejudicial
joinder. |

S0 I do believe that Mr. Gensler ig
correct and I believe these trials should be
severed. So I'm going -- I'm going to order that
the trials be gevered in this case.

Now, with that order, let's talk about --
we have this case set on my calendar for trial
for -- let me take a look. It's in December. T

just want to be sure I've got the dates correct.
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MS. BEGIN: December 9, Your Honor.

THE COURT: It starts -- letis gee, I'm in
January now. December 9th through December 20th.
We've set the trial for those two weeks.

My question is, is the Mack trial going to
take two weeks? Can we Lry both of these cases, my
question is, during this period? First try one case
and then try the other case. Because I would --
I've got two weeks blocked out and I'd just as scon
try both cases if I could, cne trial after the
other. _

MR. GIBSON: Your Honor, we have submitted

an ex parte motion for extraordinary fees. So when

you get --

THE COURT: I'wve already signed the order
for that. _

MR. GIBSON: Good. But that sald, we have
not had -- sent our investigator yet out on --

THE COURT: You need to get on to that.

MR. GIBSON: I understand. That's -- but
I wanted to wait and see how thisg motion to -- for

psychological evaluation was going to come out.
That would have obviated, if it was granted,
eéxtending the trial date.

THE COURT: I just want to point something
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out, and I séid this in law and motion. And I'm
tired of counsel manipulaﬁing my calendar around.
And we have continuance after continuance. Because
it's not only my calendar that it affects, it
affects fhe clerk's office. Because we don't have
separate clerks here at the District'Court. S50 they
plan out when fhay've got to have clerks in the
courtroom away héndling this thing -- things. And
¢0nstaﬁt1y people ﬁust make a decision that, we set
a trial date buﬁ we‘ré_not going. And my attitude
ig, we're gqing but fbf the death-of counsel or the
judge. &And for the judge, it's easy. They can
bring a senior judge iﬁ.

But absent compelling circumstances, you

these first two weeks in December. So, you know, we
can't wait uﬁtil November 1st to start -- ﬁell, we
cén if-YOu want, but you're going to work as hard as
you can to get these cases ready to go to trial.

But I expect them to be ready. And when I block out
that much time on my calendar for that, to free up
that time means it is such wasted time here for the
court. And I -- I expect these cases are going.

I'm going to tell you that right now.

If you haven't gotten your investigator, I

know ——_we;ve known back in May I set this trial for
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signéd the order just as soon as it came in. T
needed some clarification because you asked for an
order -- it laoked like you were asking for an
expert -- bf'for-an,investigator. ' You asked for an
expert, but in reading it, it was for Henry
Investigations. I had my staff call your office to
clarify’that and then I signed .the order. So we're
ready to go. I mean, Court's ready. I expect you
gﬁ?s_to_he ready to go.- '

| ﬁR. GiESDN: I will be ready, Judge.

THE éOURT: Qkay. iljust want to point
that out. This may be your only case between now
and December 9th, but I ﬁaﬂt the case to go., Absent
ektfaordinary ci;cumsﬁances these'cases should be
réédy to go. "And I baliéve that -- we did not
invoke tﬁe -~ did we.invoké the 60-day? I can't
remewbér-oﬁ this case. If T lodk at the minutes
I'11 know. |

MR . GENQLER: Mr. Quirocga waived because
he's out of custody.

THE COURT: Right. But I think -- I don't
think Mr. Mack did. Let me look.

MR. GIBSON: My recollection is that T
would have probably, since he was in custody, not

walved.
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THE COURT: That's my -- that's my
recollection. But you know what? I want to be
sure. You know, I can look at the transcript.

MR GIBSDN Although Judge, if we're
going on the Sth Or between the 9th and 20th I
don't think it matters anyway.  Looks like that*s a
firm date for the Court.

- ' ‘THE COURT: I'm not sufe I have the
transcrlpt I'th got fhe ﬁfeliﬁinary'ﬁearing
transcript and I have a transcrlpt from May 17th,
but that was when I gave the parties time to dec1de
whether or not they wanted to recuse me as a
District Court Judge. I don't have the minutes.

Can ybu pull the minutes up for me, please, Rachel?
Oh ves, I do HEre we go. The defendant3-— it
says the defendant walved his right to a speady
trlal

MR. GIBSON: Okay.

THE COURT: But I want to be sure that
that's on Mack. .

THE CLERK: That one was the only one we
heard that day.

THE COURT: Okay. So he would have waived
his right. But I would like to go, because I've got

two weeks blocked out on my calendar. So if --
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we're going to be ready to go. I mean, like I said,
the investigator is going to have to get busy.

MR. GENSLER: The guestion you asked was
how many days.

THE COﬁRT; How many days are you going to

need?

MR. GIBSON: T don't know how long the
State's gcinglto take.

THE COURT: Mr. Treffinger, how 1ongldo
you think your case is going to take? I think we
better plan a day for selection of the jury and I'11
tell you why. . These kind of Cases, you'll get all
kinds of people who do not want to serve. They've
either been assaulted and never reported it or
whatever. But I guarantee you that it's going to
take zall daylto choose the jury. There's no doubt
in my wmind about that. we start at 9:00, hopefully
by 5:00 we'll have the jury seated.

MR. TREFFINGER: Your Honor, I can't see
either of these cases going beyond a day for jury
selection, four days for trial. So I think that
your scheme of one per week works out just fine.

Additionally, that helps with the victim.
One of my arguments had we gotten to it is she is

somewhere else. They need to bring her here and
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kind of disrupt her routine. And she does have
these mental illnesses. So doing it those two weeks
in a row lets us knock thege cut without causing toc
much more disruption to her life.

THE COURT: Do you --

MR. GIBSON: Your Honor, if he says it's
going to go four days and I expect that that's
accurate, I can't see the defense going over -- I-
mean, on thé.safé side two days. But probably, if
we started sharp at 9:00 or thereabouts and didn't
have unnecessary breaks, I think I can get it done
in one day. The defense, anyway .

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. GIBSON: All I ask is that -- and it
may sound a little selfish, but if we could go on
the second week and Mr. Gensler go first, only
because I could use the extra time and I don't think
Mr. Gensler has the same issues that I have with the
investigators,

THE COURT: I -- Mr. Gensler?

MR. GENSLER: I got my investigator in
May. 8o --

THE COURT: Are you ready to go?

MR. GENSLER: Yeah.

THE COURT: So would you be willing to go
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the week of the -- of the Sth through the 13th?

MR. GENSLER: I would. But T have a bunch
of things ascheduled that week where I really have
nothing scheduled the foliawing week. So I'd be
better off the second week as well. Whatever the
Court decides is fine.

THE COURT: One of you is going one week
and one of you ig going the other week. It decesn't
make any difference to me who goes when. It's just
that somebody's going to have to step up and take
the first week. vou know, they're just going to
have to. 8o either You guys decide among yourself
or the Court will decide for you.

MR . GENSLER:..It sounds like we both want
the second week so we'll leave it up to your
discretion. |

THE COURT: T have to tell you, I'm
inclined to try the Mack case first because I think
that there's going to be -- that that is -- there
are more allegations in that case and in the event
that it bleeds over, T'm going to start Quiroga
right after the Mack case. And the reason for that
is, I have free December 23rd and 24th. And vyou
guys don't want to hear this. But I will go -- T

want to get these two cases done and then I'm going

—
I
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—
Lo start another trial on January 2nd, a murder

trial, up in Tonopah for two weeks. That's why I'm
80 pushing -- I don't 1like to have a jury come in
and then hear all this evidence and then come back
LWwo or three weeks later or four or five days later.

I want the caseg to be tried and done.

Do you think you can be ready on the 9th?

MR. GIBSCON: Yes.

THE COURT: The flip gide of that ig I can
put Mr. Gensler on --.I gan put ¥You on the leth, but
wWe may go the 23rd and the 24th. Because I'm going
to -- we're going to g0 until this case is done,

MR. GENSLER: 1I'll take the 16th.

THE COURT: So it's up to you, Mr. Gibson.
You're the one who said you needed additional time.
But know that T wiil g0 23rd and 24th if we have to.

| MR. GIBSON: 1 would prefer the second
half.

MR. GENSLER: I'm actually clear the 23rd
and 24th. I hate to say that as well, but --

THE COURT: wWell, you know what we could
do? We could -- T guess -- I don't --

Mr. Treffinger, gince they don't know what -- they
don't know, which cage do you prefer to try first?

MR. TREFFINGER: Honestly, Your Honor, T
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don't really have a preference. In fact, with these
cases being separated, there's another attorney
going to handle the case that's set for the Sth and
then I'm going to take the second week. So I really
don't have a preference, either.

THE CDURT:_ What about the other attorney?
Did they have a-preference?

MR. TREFFINGER: I don't think he has a
preference. I would perscnally rather try the Mack
case myself if I can, which would make it better for
me to hévé it.the second week. But again, I'11
leave it up to the discretion of the Court.

THE COURT: Mr. Gensler, what do you have
that you need to move? | '

| MR, GENSLER: ‘Tt's 4 busch of Justies
Court that I Havef' 12 cases there and a couple with
Judge Lane, DCFS:cases.

| THE COURT: lWell, this is what I'm

inclined to do. Because like I said, if this case
doesn't finish on the 20th, we're back on the 23rd.
I1'11l cancel drug court on the 23rd or -- or take a
break and handle drug court in the other courtroom
and come back. But I intend to go the 23rd and the
24th. And if need be I'll come back the 27th. I

mean -- so you need to be aware of that. Because I
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want to get this -- 26th -- 1is the 26th a holiday?

MS, BEGIN: No. |

THE COURT: We have the 26th and 27th free
on my calendé:f too. We're going to.get these cases
done. Sg if anybcdy has a problem, because I know
that that's traditionally -- I don't like to have
cases the week of Christmas, just in fairness to
jurors and in falrness to attorneys. A lot of
people travel, tHEyfgd out of towﬁ, it's Christmas.
So I try to be respectful of that. But sometimes we
have '@:b . ) l :

And Rachel, you're kind of used to gitting
here with Jﬁége Dévis; aren't you, late.on
ChristmaszEﬁe?' But I really try not to do that.

So dtvg - if Mr. Gibson, and you're not
opposed to being here the 23rd and the 24th and
possibly the 26th and 27th, I'll give you the second
weelk . '

MR. GIBSON: That's fine, Judge. I'm used
Lo going without vacations.

THE COURT: All right. And I will place
Mr. Gensler the 9th through the 13th.

MR. GENSLER: ‘Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay, thank you.

MR. GENSLER: And I had in my calendar two

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
7835 5. RAINBOW BLVD., SUITE 4-25, LAS VEGAS, NV 89139

0232



STATE vs. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK and GEORGE QUIROGA
Transcript, on 10/23/2013 Page 46

e T o N+ # L N * ) TN ¥ ; ST S 0% R ¥ QR o

e o B I T S = S
oo W N e

16

17

18
19
20
2%
22
23
24
25

calendar call dates, actually November 1st and
November 8th. They'll both -- theyfll both be
vacated. We don't need to come back since we've
already done this.

THE COURT: Do we have any pre-trial
motions? We d@n't have any pref;rial'mctions?
Because I'll want to hear those heforehand.

MR. GENSLER: If I file any I'll set them

for whatever date you tell me to.

THE COURT: -Dkéy. =10 you're telling me --.

you guys are declaring*reaﬁy, both sides are
declaring ready on -- .

MR. GENSLER: Yes.

THE COURT:' -- on the Quiroga case and
likewise on the Mack case;. is Ehat right?

MR. TREFFIN@ER{ That's cdrrecttlYQur
Honor. s | |

MR. GENSLER: Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. Gibson?

MR. GIBSON: Yes. I'm sorry, dJudge.

THE COGRT: So then what we'll do is, if
any pretrial motions come in I will set them for
hearing. And I have to be honest with you. I kind
of like to set the motions -- I have to tell you,

all those cases took me a long time to read,

INTEGRITY COURT REPORTING, LLC  702-509-3121
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Mr. Gensler. 1It's bad enough trying -- I took --
first I had to pull them up and then I had to read
them and then I had to digest them.

So when I have motions like that I do like
Lo -- that's why I like to have you on a separate
day. Because it gives me the opportunity to spend
some tiﬁe, not only making sure that T'm fully
prepared when I come in the courtroom, but so
that -- you know, if thiz were on a law in motion
calendar, pecple would be jumping up and dowﬁ and
walking in and out of the courtroom and that's wvery
distracting. So I like to have the -- enough time.

So what we'll probably do. is, if there are
any prthrial motions, we'll set them on a day that
is not a law in motion day, ckay? |

MR. GENSLER: Okay. And if T file any
1'1l check with the court and get a date --

THE COURT: Get a date from us and we'll
gaet it aget.

Anything else we need to address?

MR. GIBSON: Just, Judge, a follow up on
that. If I -- motions in limine would be heard on
just the day of trial, anyway, right?

THE COURT: No. I hear them before trial,

MR. GIBSON: Okay.

—
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THE COURT: I -- you know what? T don't [
like this, you have to Prepare for things that may
or may not go forward. So if we decide them ahead
of time you know exactly what you're preparing for,
So if you have some motions in limine, get them -- T
should file a deadline -- I should get a deadline,
then, for the moticns, I think. And so what I'm
going to do is, if you have any motions, I want them
filed no later than the 15th.

MR. GIBSON: The 16th?

THE COURT: I show that -- Friday,

November 15th,

MR. GENSLER: Okay. Thank vou.

THE COURT: That would give everybody the
time to respond and I ecan get it set for hearing.
5:00 on the 15th is the deadline for any pPre-trial
motions. |

MR. GENSLER: So I can tell Mr. Mack he
doesn't need to be here on the 1st or 8th. If we
get a new date I'll let him know what it ig.

THE COURT: Right. Anything else?

THE CLERK: Are we vacating the secondary
set for September of next year?

THE COURT: I think T have something set

behind it. ves. S0 that means the Villa case, if
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anybody is counsel for the Villa case, will be going
on --

THE CLERK: September 1l4th of next year.

THE COURT: September 14th of next year.
1'm going to vacate the secondary setting.

MR. GENSLER: Okay. Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you, very much.

MS. BEGIN: Your Honor, draw the juries on
November 1sgt?

THE COURT: November 1lst we will draw the
jury. How many jurors are we going --

MS. BEGIN: I believe we had 120 for --
well, we had 120 for --

THE CQURT: Probably 120 for each trial.

Anything else? ,

MR. GENSLER: No, Your chbr.

THE COURT: Great. Thank you, very much.

(Proceedings concluded at 12:09 p.m.)
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REPORTER 'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF NEVADA)
: ) &Bs
COUNTY OF CLARK)

I, Tracy A. Manning, a duly commissioned
Certified Court Reporter, Clark County, State of
Nevada, do hereby certify;

That I reported the taking of the proceedings,
at the time and place aforesaid; =

That I thereafter transcribed my said shorthand
noteg into typewriting and that the typewritten
transcript of said Proceeding ig a complete, true
and accurate record of statements provided by the
partlies at gaid time to the best of my ability.

I further certify that T am not ‘a relative,
employee, or independent contractor of counsel of
any of the parties involved in said action; ner a
person financially interested in the action; nor do
I have any other relationship with any of the
parties or with counsel of any of the parties
involved in the actien that may reascnably cause my
impartiality to be questioned,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto get my hand
in the County of Clark, State of Mevada, this 17th
day of November 2013,

TZE,,»K I‘*’xc}m«\{--

Tracy A. Mhnning, CO®J 785
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Case No. CR7444A

The undersigned affirms that
this document does not contain
the social security number of SE 3 AT G g acbinens

IN THE FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE |
THE STATE OF NEVADA, |
Plaintiff, |
ve. . . AMENDED INFORMATION
MICHAEL ALLEN MACK,

Defenggnt. /

BRIAN T. KUNZI, District Attorney within and for the County of Nye, State of
Nevada;l informs mé_'court that MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, before the filing of this
Aman;:lecl !nfgrmaiiuh, did then and there, in Nye County, Nevada, commit the
foilowjng_ offense, io wit;

ATTEMPTED SEXUAL ASSAULT, in violation of NRS 200.366, A
CATEGORY 'B' FELONY, committed in the following manner, to wit:
That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND
APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada, said
Defendant MICHAEL ALLEN MACK did wilifully and unlawfully attempt
to subject another person, o wit: NCSO pseudonym “COURTNEY”, to
sexual penetration, against the victim's will, or under conditions in which
said Defendant knew or should have known that the victim was mentally
or physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of her
conduct, by attempting to penetrate the victim's vagina;

111!

1t

1

254

0238




NYE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

P.0. BOX 39
PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89041

(775) 751-70BO

%)

L

10

11

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23.

24

- R - TN B RS N

All of which is contrary to the form, force, and effect of the statutes in such
cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity for the State of Nevada.
Witnesses and their addresses known to the District Attorney of Nye County,

State of Nevada, at the time of the filing of this Amended Information:

SERGEANT KELLY JACKSON EMILY SMITH

NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE - 621 8. BLAGG

FAHRUMP, NEVADA FAHRUMP, NEVADA
DEPUTY ROBIN BECHT JANE DOE

NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S DFF]GE c/o NYE COUNTY DISTRICT
PAHRUMF‘ NEVADA ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

PAHRUMP, NEVADA
DETECTIVE DAVID BORUCHOWITZ '

NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE SUSAN KALLAHER

PAHRUMP, NEVADA 3100 W. SAHARA AVENUE, SUITE
- 204 '

DEPUTY JOHN KAKAVULIAS LAS VEGAS, NEVADA

NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE
PAHRUMP, NEVADA

DETECTIVE MICHAEL EISENLOFFEL
NYE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE
PAHRUMP, NEVADA

DATED this 26th day of November, 2013.

BRIAN T. KUNZI
NYE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

BF% T

TIMOTHY R. TREFFINGER
Deputy District Attorney
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Kelly Hood, Executive Legal Secretary, Office of the Nye Cnunt;.f District
Attorney, P. O. Box 39, Pahrump, Nevada 89041, do hereby certify that | have served
the following: _

AMENDED INFORMATION in

5™ JDC Case No(s). CR7444A

' STATE v. MICHAEL ALLEN MACK

upon said Défan-:ian_t herein by delivering a true and correct copy thereof, on
November 26, 2013 to the foﬁowing:
Thomas Gibson, Esquire

at the Nye County District Attorney’s office
in Pahrump, Nevada
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Case No. CR7444A

The undersigned affirms that
this document does not contain
the social security number of
any person.

IN THE FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT coum OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Eiair\tiﬁ,

vs. ' | GUILTY PLEA AGREEMENT

MICHAEL ALLEN MACK,
Defendant. /

COMES NOW THE STATE OF NE‘;!ADA ("Plaintiff"), by and through BRIAN T.
KUNZ!, Nye County District Attomey, by TIMOTHY R. TREFFINGER, Deputy Attorney
General, and MICHAEL ALLEN MACK {"Deféndant“.)iland file this Guilty Plea
Agréemant iﬁ the abwe_—eﬁtiﬁed case. .

I, MICHAEL ALLEN MACK, hereby agree to plead guilty pursuant to North
Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160 (1970) (hereinafter referred to as Alford),
to. ATTEMPTED SEXUAL ASSAULT, a category B felony, in violation of NRS
200.3668, NRS 193.330 as more fully alleged in Count One clf thé charging document
attached hereto as Exhibit 1. My decision to plead guilty is based upon the plea
agreement in this case, which is as follows:

: In exchange for my plea of guilty, pursuant to Alford, all other charges

arising out of this incident will be dismissed.

1 ¥
MAM
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.0 At the time of sentencing, both parties, retain the right to argue for any
lawful sentence. "

CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA

[ understand that by pleading guilty pursuant to Alford, | authorize the court, for
purposes of this case, to treat me as if | had admitted the facts that support all the
elements of the offense to which | now plead as set forth in Exhibit 1.

I understand that as a cdnsequenc:e of my plea of gui'lty to ATTEMFTED
S_EJ{UAL ASSAULT, a category B felony, | may be imprisoned for a péricd of not more
than twenﬂ (2Q) years and not less than two (2) years; | understand that the law
requires me to pay an administrative assessment fee of $25. | also ﬁnderstand that
the law requires me to provide a biological specimen to be used for an. analysis to
determine genetic markers and to pay the associated fee of $150.

| I understand that | am eligible for probation for the offense to which | am

p!ea'ding guilty, and | understand that, except as'athenwiselpr'u;ridad by statute, thé_

decision to grant or deny probation is in the sole discretion of the sentf.anc_'#hg judge. |

| understand tHat if more than one sentence of imprisonment is imposed and |

am eligible to serve the sentences concurrently, the sentencing judge has the
discretion to order the sentences served concurrently or consecutively.

| understand that information regarding charges not filed, dismissed charges or
charges to be dismissed pursuant to this agreement may be considered by the judge
at sentencing.

| have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyone. |
know that my sentence will be determined by the Court within the limits prescribed by

statute. | understand that if my attorney or the State of Nevada or both recommend

’ MAM %
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_naturalization. .

any specific lpunishment to the cour, fha court is not obligated to accept the
recommendation.

| understand that the Division of Parole and Probation of the Department of
Public Safety may prepare a written report for the sentencing judge beforé sentencing.
This report will include matters relevant to the issue of sentencing, including my
criminal history. I understand that this report may c’“cnl.a]n hearsay information
regardinQ my backgr_uund and criminal history. M'y attorney and I wil gach have the
opportunity to comment on the information contained in the réport, if any, at the time of
sentencing. | |

f understand that, as a consequence of my plea of guilty, if | am not a citizen of
the United Statas,.l will, in aﬁdi‘tio.n to other consequences provided by law, be

removed, deported and/or excluded from entry into the United States or denied

WAIVER OF RIGHTS

'By entering my piea; of guilty, | understand that | haﬁe waived the following
rights and privilege;s:

1. The constitutional privilege against self-incrimination, including the right
to refuse to testify at trial, in which event the State would not be allowed to comment to
the jury about my refusal to testify.

2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impa-rtial jury,
free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial to the defense, at which trial | would be
entitled to the assistance of an attomey, either appointed or retained. At trial, the

State would bear the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each element of

each offense charged, in this case:
3 ,g/
MAM
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i. That ON OR ABOUT OR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 AND
APRIL 9, 2013, in Pahrump Township, Nye County, Nevada:
ii. The Defendant: MICHAE_L ALLEN MACK, did willfully and unlawfully;
iifi. Iattempl to subject another f:-erson, to wit: NCSO pseudonym
“COURTNEY”, to s_éxﬁal peﬁ_etratiﬂn;
iv. against the victim's will;
v. or under conditions in which said Defendant kna*.:!u or should
have known that the victim was mgﬁﬁily or physically incapable of
resisting or understanding the nature of her cpnduc:t;
vi. by attempting to penetrating the victim’s vagina;
3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses

who would testify against me.

4, The constitutional right to éubpoena witnesses to testify on my behalf.
5. The constitutional right to testify in my own defense. _
6. . The right to appeal the conviction, with the assistance of an attorney,

either appointed or retained, unless the appeal is based upon reasonable

constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that chai'llange the legality of the
proceedings and except as otherwise provided by subsection 3 of NRS 174.035. %
CONSEQUENCES OF SEX OFFENSE ,@g/ y

| agree to plead guilty to a sex offense, and will be considered a Tier I}
offender. As a result, | understand that | AM subject to sex-offender registration
requirements as provided for in NRS 179D.450, and that | AM also subject to the

lifetime supervision requirements of NRS 176.0931.

. 'Y
MAM
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| understand that as a result of my guilty plea, | will be required fo register with
local law enforcement in the city or county in which | reside or where | am present for
more than forty-eight hours, and that failure to comply with the registration |
mqﬁirement is a sepaiaté category “D" felony. | understand | may also be subject to
community notification provisions designed to reach members of the public who are |
likely to encounter me.

. VOLUNTARINESS OF PLEA

I have discussed the elements of all the original charges against me with my
attorney and | understand the nature of these charges.

| understand that the State would ha@s to prove each element of each charge
against- me at trial.

| have discussed with my attorney any possible defenses and circumstances
that might be in my favor.

All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights aﬁd waiver of rlg_hté have
been thoroughly explained to me by my attori'ley.

| believe that pleading Quilty and accepting this plea bargain is in my besf '
interest and that a trial would be contrary to my best interest.

| am signing this agreement voluntarily after consultation with my attorney and
am not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promises of leniency,
except for those set forth in this agreement.

| am not now under the influence of intoxicating liguor, a controlled substance
or other drug(s) that would in any manner impair my ability to comprehend or

understand this agreement or the proceedings surrounding my entry of this plea.

j l""f’ )
5 {
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My attorney has answered to my satisfaction all of my guestions regarding this

Guilty Plea Agreement and its consequences, and | am satisfied with the services

provided by my attorney.
Dated this 5 of Deceamase2013.

MICHAEL ALLEN MACK
Defendant

Agreed to on this Qday of Q@e.\ .1235— 2013.

HY R, TREFFINGER, E5Q.

| Deputy Attomey General

: Q{
MAM
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CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

I, the undersigned, as the attorney for the defendant named herein and as an
officer of the court hereby certify that: :

1. ..I have fully explained to the defendant the allegations contained in the
charge(s) to which the guilty plea(s) is/are being entered.

2. | have advised the defendant of the penalties for each charge and the
restitution that the defendant may bé otdered to pa?.

i All pleas of guilty offered by the defendant pursuant to this agreement

{| are consistent with all the facts known to me and are made with my advice to the

defendant and are in the best interest of the defendant.
4, To the best of my knowledge and belief, the defendant:
’ .{a} Is competent and understands the charge{s) and the
consequences of pleading guilty as provided in this agreement,
(b)  Executed this agreem'ent and will enter gll guilty pleas pursuant
hereto voluntarily; and ._ |
'{c} Was not under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled

substance or other drug at the time of the execution of this ag re_smen't‘

DATED this __ S day of [)scemddt, 2013,

THOMAS-GIBSON, ESQ.

T M
MAM
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